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EXPLANATORY NOTE

On March 14, 2024 (the “Closing Date”), Brand Engagement Network Inc., a Delaware corporation, f/k/a DHC Acquisition Corp (“BEN,” the
“Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”), consummated the previously announced business combination pursuant to that certain Business Combination
Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of September 7, 2023 (the “Business Combination Agreement”), by and among the Company, BEN
Merger Subsidiary Corp., a Delaware corporation (“Merger Sub”), Brand Engagement Network Inc., a Wyoming corporation (“Legacy BEN”) and DHC
Sponsor, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Sponsor”), following approval thereof at a special meeting of the Company’s stockholders held
on March 5, 2024 (the “Special Meeting”) and the migration and domestication as a Delaware corporation in accordance with Section 388 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended, and the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands (the “Domestication”). In connection with
the Domestication, the registrant changed its name from DHC Acquisition Corp to Brand Engagement Network Inc. on March 13, 2024.

Pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, a business combination between the Company and Legacy BEN was effected through
the merger of Merger Sub with and into Legacy BEN, with Legacy BEN as the surviving company in the business combination, and after giving effect
to such merger, continuing as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger” and, together with the other transactions contemplated by the
Business Combination Agreement, the “Business Combination”).

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to “DHC” are to the Company prior to the Business Combination.

The Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”), is now listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) under
the symbol “BNAI”, and warrants to purchase Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share are listed on Nasdaq under the symbol “BNAIW”.
The audited financial statement included herein, as well as the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
section relate to DHC prior to the consummation of the Business Combination and the name change, other than where expressly provided therein. The
remaining sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, other than where expressly provided therein, relate to the post-Business Combination company.
Prior to the Business Combination, DHC neither engaged in any operations nor generated any revenue. Until the Business Combination, based on
DHC’s business activities, DHC was a “shell company” as defined under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).

The audited consolidated financial statements of Legacy BEN and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the close of the Business Combination for the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, which is considered the Company’s accounting predecessor, are included in the Form 8-K that is anticipated
to be filed with the SEC on or about the date hereof.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

This annual report on Form 10-K (this “Report”), including, without limitation, statements under “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”). These forward-
looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the words “believes,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,”
“intends,” “plans,” “may,” “will,” “potential,” “projects,” “predicts,” “continue,” or “should,” or, in each case, their negative or other variations or
comparable terminology.

The forward-looking statements contained in this Report are based on our current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and
their potential effects on us. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that we have anticipated. These forward-
looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other assumptions that may cause actual results or
performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but
are not limited to, the following risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other factors:
 

 •  the failure to realize the anticipated benefits of the Business Combination;
 

 •  our ability to maintain the list of our securities on Nasdaq;
 

 •  the attraction and retention of qualified directors, officers, employees and key personnel;
 

 •  our need for additional capital and whether additional financing will be available on favorable terms, or at all;
 

 •  the lack of a market for our Common Stock and the volatility of the market price and trading price for our Common Stock and Public
Warrants;

 

 •  our limited operating history;
 

 •  the length of our sales cycle and the time and expense associated with it;
 

 •  our ability to grow our customer base;
 

 •  our dependency upon third-party service providers for certain technologies;
 

 •  competition from other companies offering artificial intelligence products that have greater resources, technology, relationships and/or
expertise;

 

 •  our ability to compete effectively in a highly competitive market;
 

 •  our ability to protect and enhance our corporate reputation and brand;
 

 •  our ability to hire, retain, train and motivate qualified personnel and senior management and our ability to deploy our personnel and
resources to meet customer demand;

 

 •  our ability to grow through acquisitions and successfully integrate any such acquisitions;
 

 •  the impact from future regulatory, judicial, and legislative changes in our industry;
 

 •  increases in costs, disruption of supply or shortage of materials, which could harm our business;
 

 •  our ability to successfully maintain, protect, enforce and grow our intellectual property rights;
 

 •  our future financial performance ,including the ability of future revenues to meet projected annual bookings;
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 •  our ability to forecast and maintain an adequate rate of revenue growth and appropriately plan our expenses;
 

 •  our ability to generate sufficient revenue from each of our revenue streams; or
 

 •  the other risks and uncertainties discussed in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Report.

The forward-looking statements contained in this Report are based on our current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and
their potential effects on us. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that we have anticipated. These forward-
looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other assumptions that may cause actual results or
performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but
are not limited to, those factors described under the section of this Report entitled “Risk Factors.”

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of our assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in
material respects from those projected in these forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.
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PART I

ITEM 1. Business

Summary

General

We were originally incorporated in 2020 as a Cayman Islands corporation, formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, share exchange, asset
acquisition, share purchase, reorganization or similar business combination with one or more businesses. On March 4, 2021 (the “IPO Closing Date”),
we consummated our initial public offering (the “IPO”). On March 13, 2024, we migrated to and domesticated as a Delaware corporation in accordance
with Section 388 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended, and the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands (the
“Domestication”). On March 14, 2024, we consummated a business combination with Brand Engagement Network Inc., a Wyoming corporation, which
merged into our subsidiary, BEN Merger Subsidiary Corp., a Delaware corporation (“Merger Sub” and such business combination, the “Business
Combination”) and changed our name to Brand Engagement Network Inc. In light of the fact that the Business Combination has closed and our ongoing
business will be the business formerly operated by Legacy BEN, this business section primarily includes information regarding Legacy BEN’s business.

We are an emerging provider of conversational AI assistants, with the purpose of transforming engagement and analytics for businesses through
our security-focused, multimodal communication and human-like assistants. Our AI assistants are built on proprietary natural language processing,
anomaly detection, multisensory awareness, sentiment and environmental analysis, as well as real-time individuation and personalization capabilities.
We believe these powerful tools will empower businesses to elevate customer experiences, optimize cost management and supercharge operational
efficiency. Our platform is designed to configure, train and operate AI assistants that engage with professionals and consumers through multiple
channels, boosting customer experience and providing instant personalized assistance for consumers in the automotive and healthcare markets.

Legacy BEN was originally formed in 2018 with the intention of disrupting the traditional mailing system through a uniquely secure, personalized
electronic communication network. Although we still seek the same core goal of giving consumers more control over their data, we have refocused our
product development on communications between customers and businesses with the new vision of enabling more meaningful interactions and
experiences and discontinued our previous operations, including our mobile advertising platform, which we do not intend to pursue as part of our
product offerings at this time. In 2023, we consummated our acquisition of DM Lab Co., LTD., through which we acquired our first AI assistant
prototype. Today we are piloting a scalable and configurable platform that creates, deploys and manages human-like AI assistants, where each assistant
is tailored for a specific intended purpose and trained on approved data provided by our customers.

Our AI assistants aim to unify consumer personalization and business customization necessary to facilitate meaningful engagements. We intend
for our offerings to be designed to broadly operate in cloud, localized and hybrid environments, with the goal of providing seamless integration. We
believe businesses will be able to deploy our multimodal AI assistants within native apps, kiosks and software development kit (“SDK”) integrations.

As a pre-revenue business, revenue generated in 2023 and 2024 was minimal, and we generated minimal revenues in 2022, which were
attributable to beta testing of discontinued products, including our mobile advertising platform. However, in November of 2023, we obtained our first
customer in the healthcare industry through our entry-level community cloud AI assistant offering.
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Our Technology

We offer a customizable human-like AI assistant that can enhance customer engagement while delivering a secure, consistent and effective
message for vertically-focused end markets including automotive and healthcare. We aim to connect to clients’ real time data systems for access to
customer specific files, accounts and records to provide meaningful personalized information to our clients’ customers from an approved data set, while
maintaining compliance with applicable privacy and data protection laws and regulations. Additionally, we offer tools to help our clients’ customers
manage their personal data and conversations.

Our conversational AI assistants seek to emulate a discussion between the customers of our clients and our AI assistants as a way of enhancing the
user experience by creating a more meaningful interaction from which the customers of our clients can retain more information. Studies have shown that
humans retain only 10% of what they read, 30% of what they see and 50% of what they see and hear. However, humans retain 70% of what they discuss.
Our platforms are designed to quickly train and deploy the AI instances into customer defined environments on multiple device types and engagement
modes on the Web (desktop, mobile and app), the phone (voice and text) and installed to meet consumers in the physical world through kiosks. By
“meeting the consumers where they are” and allowing interactions to occur on their preferred devices, our applications can be more easily and broadly
adopted by the market. In addition, by providing customers a human-like interface and a secure environment through multi-model communication, we
believe we are able to deliver scaled solutions for industries impacted by labor and cost burdens and whom have a desire to increase engagement with
their customers.

AI Assistants. We have assembled our technology components to create an integrated AI assistant that enables us to provide a seamless consumer-
facing experience for our clients complete with our proprietary configurable safety and security features. Our AI assistants are customizable avatars that
integrate themselves into our clients’ environment, training on their internal data to provide a broad array of customer service and education solutions
for our clients’ interactions with their current and potential customers. Our AI assistants are designed to work with several existing large language
models (“LLMs”), including Anthropic LLM and Llama 2 LLM to configure and personalize our AI assistants’ responses to consumer inquiries to
create client-specific solutions. We believe in the benefits of small footprint LLMs that work in tandem with other data retrieval and data processing
techniques that seek to ensure a safe environment as well as minimize the required computations needed to achieve a human-like experience. Our AI
assistants can change their dialogue, conversation design, personality and appearances based on the specific needs of our customers and the consumer
environments in which they operate. Our AI assistants can be offered to our clients’ customers through mobile apps, desktops or laptops, as well as
through in-store lifesize kiosks and SDK integrations and are designed to be deployed in a fully ringfenced environment.
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Differentiation Through Configurable Safety and Security. We believe the primary differentiation of our AI assistants is the ability to ensure
unbiased training by eliminating “hallucinations”, filtering for inappropriate inputs and responses, managing customer identity resolution. Additionally,
BEN expects to implement data anonymization techniques to safeguard against proprietary data leakage to 3rd party LLMs. Our platform has been
designed with a “middle layer” that performs these configurable safety functions without inducing delay in the overall experience. If desired, the
responses will only come from a select dataset that has been ingested while still providing a natural conversation to the user with appropriate natural
language responses. In addition, all conversations or sessions can be transcribed and further analyzed to audit the system and the dialogues for
continuous monitoring of the configurable safety and security protocols of our platforms.
 

Customization, Configuration, and Optimization. Our AI assistants can enable substantial variations in customer experiences. Automatic speech
recognition (“ASR”), text-to-speech (“TTS”), avatar and natural language processing (“NLP”) can be tweaked for tone, cadence, personality, emotions
and other auditory features. The voices used in our AI assistants can be matched with broad variations of avatars with customized ethnicity, skin tone,
facial features, and other physical attributes. AI assistants can be dressed in broad variations of outfits appropriate for the application, such as a nurse’s
scrubs, auto repair uniform, formal business attire, casual-friendly attire, and other profession-appropriate attire. NLP can be configured to provide
various levels of responses appropriate for the audience, including comprehensive, detailed, and technical responses to assist a doctor or a nurse or
concise responses using commonly spoken vocabulary to assist a consumer.

Deployment. Traditional AI systems could take years to deploy and train, however, we believe our AI assistants can be launched within a few days
after engagement. Our modular architecture enables source data to be ingested for training and response generation in a few hours through a
standardized data interface. Once a dataset has been ingested by the application, dialogue management can begin with several tactics and methods to
reduce the learning period of the AI assistant. Our unique approach of using statistical methods combined with more intuitive methods can accelerate the
training of our AI assistants significantly. The deployment of the AI assistant “meets our customers where they are” by having a combination of cloud-
based, server-based and local-device-based functionality. Deployments of our AI assistants can be completely optimized to take advantage of the
dataset, solution environment, device hardware and operating systems and existing IT infrastructure. Furthermore, our AI assistants are designed to be
quickly deployed into customer defined environments on multiple device types and engagement modes on the web (desktop, mobile and app), the phone
(voice and text) and installed to meet consumers in the physical world through kiosks.
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Use Cases. We have recently debuted the following piloted use cases for our AI assistants:

Automotive Assistants will include:
 

 •  Dealership Reporting: AI Assistants reduce the need for manual data searching and spreadsheet-based reporting by leveraging BEN’s
proprietary AI technology to strengthen reporting practices and accuracy across the auto industry.

 

 

•  Web AI Assistant: Our AI Assistants are solution for transforming the online experience for dealership customers. Our AI Assistants aid
digital marketing by meeting customers where they are in a meaningful way and enhancing the overall buying experience. By
understanding customer needs and preferences, our AI Assistant works in tandem with the sales team to provide enhanced customer
experiences online that carry through to the dealership.

 

 •  Sales AI Assistant: Our AI Assistants may be showcased on a life-size kiosk, and offers uniformity and personalization to each customer
through an intuitive interface. This integration ensures a smooth transition from online browsing to in-person dealership experience.

 

 
•  Service AI Assistant: Our AI Assistants are designed to enhance the way customers interact with automotive service departments by

combining proprietary cutting-edge AI and an intuitive interface to deliver enhanced customer service experiences for consumers requiring
vehicle maintenance, booking appointments and those who want to learn more about service options and service programs.

 

 •  Technician AI Assistant: Our AI Assistants offer real-time guidance, know-how and information to automotive technicians, safeguarding
OEM compliance and serving as a vital partner in the garage.

Healthcare Assistants will include:
 

 •  AI assistants that offer educational assistance to pharmacy customers regarding newly prescribed or existing medications on relevant
considerations, such as methods of administration, among other things.

 

 •  AI assistants that serve healthcare professionals and designed to deliver insights reflective of the latest research and medical system-
specific protocols for medical professionals.

In the future, we expect to increase the number of use cases for our AI assistants in the automotive and healthcare markets, as well in new markets
to which we intend to expand, such as financial services.

The AI Industry

We operate within the generative AI industry — a swiftly evolving sector nestled the broader AI, machine learning, deep learning, and natural
language processing landscape. Our AI assistants allow us to target a total addressable market that we believe exceeds $10 billion and is poised to grow
to $30 billion by 2030, as substantiated by third-party industry reports and comprehensive studies related to our target sectors.

The proliferation of generative AI is being driven by the pursuit of cost reduction, value enhancement, differentiated customer engagements and
operational efficiency benefits that we believe are not available to organizations through legacy solutions. There are a number of trends that are
impacting the rate of adoption and facilitating changes to the ways organizations manage their technology infrastructure. These key trends include:

Growing Acceptance of AI. According to a study conducted by global management consulting firm McKinsey & Company (“McKinsey”), 47%
of advanced industries have used AI capabilities in their operations, and on-third of all respondents said that their organizations are already regularly
using generative AI in at least one function. Furthermore, 60% of organizations with reported AI adoption are using generative AI. Focusing on the
conversational AI subset of generative AI, 94% of large companies anticipate integrating voice AI within the
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next two years. Additionally, demographic studies reveal that 65% of generative AI users are either “Millennials” or “Gen Z,” signifying the growing
maturity of the market and an increasing acceptance of this technology as an effective tool to achieve objectives.

Multimodal World. Beyond text, the internet has become a vast repository of multimedia information in the form of images and videos. It is now
second nature for us to freely capture and use images and videos as part of our queries, in addition to traditional text and voice interactions. McKinsey
suggests that the current investment landscape in generative AI is heavily focused on text-based applications such as chatbots, virtual assistants, and
language translation. It is projected that at least one-fifth of generative AI usage will derive from multimodal interfaces. A recent survey investigating
customer engagement revealed that four out of five individuals preferred a multimodal experience over a text-based interaction.

Timely, Personalized Experiences. We believe consumer satisfaction in business interactions hinges on the timely fulfillment of consumer needs,
the consistency of these interactions and a preference for highly-personalized experiences. This is becoming increasingly important to younger
demographics, as industry reports suggest that two-thirds of millennials expect real-time customer service and three-quarters of all consumers expect a
consistent cross-channel service experience. Additional demographic research by Accenture suggests that 91% of consumers are more likely to shop
with brands that offer personalized experiences, yet, according to Gartner, 63% of digital marketing leaders struggle to offer these personalized
experiences.

Data-Driven Transformations. We believe data is a critical driver of an organization’s digital transformation and critical in the industries in which
we operate. It is at the forefront of reshaping how organizations operate, innovate, and deliver value in the digital age. The mass proliferation of data has
placed increasing demands on data accuracy, reliability, and integrity. McKinsey reports that data-driven organizations are 23 times more likely to
acquire customers, six times more likely to retain customers, and 19 times more likely to be profitable. In addition, BARC research shows that
organizations using big data saw an eight percent increase in profit and a ten percent reduction in cost.

Integration of Emerging Technologies. Digital transformation efforts are increasingly focusing on the seamless integration of emerging
technologies beyond generative AI. These include technologies like blockchain, cloud management and computing, and the internet of things (“IoT”).
The strategic integration of these emerging technologies into existing infrastructure and processes is a critical aspect of future-proofing organizations
and ensuring they stay at the forefront of technological advancements. As these emerging technologies gain broader acceptance and are further
integrated into the world’s digital infrastructure, we expect the adoption of AI to be empowered and accelerated. Significant growth is projected in these
technologies according to various industry studies: Statista forecasts that there will be over 29 billion IoT-connected devices globally by 2030, while
Gartner estimates that by 2025, more than 95% of new digital workloads will be deployed on cloud-native platforms, a significant increase from the
30% observed in 2021. These statistics underscore the accelerating pace of technological adoption and the critical role of integration in driving
successful digital transformations, which we believe will further the adoption of AI.

Ethical and Regulatory Change. The growing pervasiveness of AI technologies, including generative AI and data collection efforts, have spurred
greater ethical and regulatory consideration over the potential privacy, bias and fairness implications inherent to the deployment of such technologies.
Governments and regulatory bodies are introducing frameworks and guidelines to ensure responsible AI deployment and data privacy and protection.
Addressing these ethical and compliance aspects is crucial for organizations to build trust with their customers, partners, and stakeholders, and to avoid
or mitigate potential risks associated with noncompliance whether intentional or unintentional.

Our Core Strengths

Versatile Applications and Customizable Designs that are Industry-Agnostic. We believe our AI assistants will be deployable across multiple
differing industry verticals, regardless of whether a business leverages public
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or private cloud services, localized or hybrid environments. Whether in the automotive, healthcare or other industries or other developing markets, our
AI assistants have been designed to deploy and integrate with our customers’ businesses regardless of industry or internal infrastructure. We believe our
broad scope of application allows us to be nimble and respond to developing trends with our end-users and other potential customers, without having
substantial delays and costs when entering emerging markets.

Customizable solutions delivering personalized experiences. We believe every engagement with a customer is unique and personalized. Although
our AI assistants are designed to allow for consistent and brand-cohesive communication, our short-term and long-term memory design and proprietary
secured-identity protocol can enable individualized experiences based on an understanding of the individual that changes with time. Our secure, private,
prompt design can contextualize our human-like response generation with client-approved and validated data sets. In this way, each human-like AI
assistant is designed to be unique to and aligned with the brand of our clients.

Adaptive analytics and machine learning driving speed to deployment. We believe the ability of our AI assistants to be trained to the data of our
clients in short periods of time in an automated fashion will be a significant driver of our ability to deploy our platform quickly and efficiently. We
believe BEN is capable of navigating substantial data demands through our pre-processing, remote streaming and sequential linking foundations. Fueled
by cutting-edge analytics and machine learning, we believe our AI assistants are capable of processing vast volumes of data within the business
environment of our customers. Leveraging our advanced analytics capabilities, we designed our AI assistants to provide actionable insights to
businesses in real-time.

Experienced and passionate management team with a deep understanding of AI. Our seasoned management team has a proven track record of
spearheading innovation in hardware, software and business processes across various sectors. We believe that our collective passion for AI, combined
with our diverse expertise, positions us to succeed in an industry that is driving what we believe is a monumental generational shift in the delivery of
new AI products.

Our Growth Strategies
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New Customer Acquisition Leveraging Direct and Channel Sales Strategy. We aim to broaden our customer base by leveraging both our direct
sales force and channel partners. Long-term definitive agreements with industry leaders like AFG Companies, Inc. (“AFG”) not only extend our reach
but also streamline access to new customers through deep relationships with original equipment manufacturers and automotive dealers. We plan to seek
additional partnerships with channel sales providers across our current verticals to organically grow revenues and expand familiarity with our products
and brand.

“Land & Expand”. We see significant growth potential and margin expansion opportunities in the automotive, healthcare, and financial services
sectors in the medium- to long-term. Our strategic approach involves initially establishing customer relationships through our AI assistants and, over
time, expand these relationships to introduce additional offerings that meet our customers’ evolving needs.

Product and Verticals Expansion. We are developing a strong pipeline of innovative future developments that we believe will not only augment
our AI assistants but also enrich business applications, products, and platforms that adopt our embedded solutions. We believe maintaining a strong
pipeline will facilitate new offerings that we can deliver to our business customers. As we penetrate our current vertical markets and diversify our
product portfolio, we also intend to explore adjacent verticals to drive revenue expansion.

Additional Collaborations With Leading Universities. Collaborations with universities such as our research agreement with Korea University
expand upon our efforts to improve our existing technologies, produce new offerings, and we believe such efforts will accelerate our entry into new
customer verticals by partnering with leading AI development and research professionals across the globe. These collaborations catalyze the
advancement of our technology and provide invaluable access to high caliber talent, varied perspective, and the exploration of uncharted technological
territory in a manner that we believe differentiates us from our competition.

Current Target Verticals

Below are summaries of key end-markets that we believe illustrate both immediate and long-term potential for our product offerings:

Healthcare

We believe our platform can offer a solution for human-error and burnout across healthcare offerings by taking on a customer-facing role that
removes the burden of certain administrative tasks from physicians and other healthcare professionals. The healthcare vertical is comprised of more than
145,000 organizations. Segments within this domain include outpatient care facilities (48,000+), urgent care facilities (11,000+), physician group
locations (18,000+), hospitals (6,000+) and dentist offices (65,000+). Organizations within healthcare segments and business functions within those
organizations typically operate in silos, which leads to disparate systems that undermines data interoperability. Patient forms, visitation notes and
employee shift notes are examples of administrative duties undertaken by healthcare staff that are demanding and often manual in nature. Manual inputs
are prone to human error, which compounds across fragmented and exhausted systems. According to Deloitte, 25% of all U.S. health care expenditure is
wasted on administrative complexity, pricing failures and poor care delivery. Burnout and global deficits in skilled medical labor represent significant
risks to care facilities and medical centers. Deloitte reported that 42% of physicians experienced burnout and the deficit of global skilled professionals
will grow to 12.1 million by 2035. We intend to target key customers in the healthcare industry and sub-industries, such as hospitals/care providers,
health insurance companies, pharmaceutical manufacturers/retailers, clinician assistance and education, medication adherence, health and wellness and
certain third-party administrators who support those organizations with various products and services.

Automotive

Although there is less fragmentation in the new car dealership and insurance provider segments, these segments are also subject to changing
consumer preferences towards digitally enabled touchpoints and industry-wide rising cost pressures, which we believe offers a natural entry point for
our platform. As of the date of this
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proxy statement/prospectus, there are more than 450,000 organizations operating in the automotive industry globally. This figure encompasses 280,000+
service centers, 151,000+ used car dealerships, 18,000+ new car dealerships and 500+ insurance providers. The used car dealership and service center
segments are fragmented. This fragmentation has propagated data disparity across segment participants and led to slow adoption of emerging
technologies and analytics capabilities. In turn, this has facilitated a gap between the changing preferences towards digitization, and legacy offerings.
This was evidenced in a study by McKinsey, which revealed that 95% of used-car searches were instigated online. In a separate study, McKinsey noted
that more than 80% of respondents use online sources during the purchase-consideration period of new vehicle sales.

Financial Services

We believe BEN can fill much of the onboarding deficiencies faced by providers across the financial services sector by delivering a friendly,
trustworthy and neutral interface that can provide comfort to customers facing delicate financial decisions. Over 227,000 organizations operate in the
financial services industry. Although not exhaustive of segments operating in this vertical, this figure consists of 12,000+ FDIC and Non-FDIC insured
banks, 195,000+ credit intermediaries, 16000+ asset & wealth management and 4,500+ insurance providers. Trust is a central tenant of financial services
organizations in which reliability and security are essential to the delivery of value to clients. This is backed by extensive regulation, which establishes
risk on industry participants to ensure compliance. The scope and complexity of traded products is exerting pressure on the reconciliation processes
undertaken by asset and wealth management organizations. These processes often depend on manually integrated information from disparate sources.
Insurance providers may struggle to scale efforts to digitize customer onboarding, policy binding and claims assessment. In a study by Deloitte, 54% of
insurance companies investigated had not completed an upgrade to their legacy policy administration systems.

Illustrative Offering Tiers

We plan to offer our products in three tiers, varying based on the level of integration, number of customers services, concurrency of customer
engagement and customization of the solutions we provided, as well as the needs of our end users. Below is an illustration of potential offering tiers:
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Note: Custom system design and level of data complexity and security are subject to additional charges and fees. ARR is estimated based on utility and
concurrency, overage fees apply. ARR is calculated by multiplying the estimated monthly recurring revenue figure by 12.

Additional Planned Expansions and Partnership with Korea University

As a part of the approximately $30 billion of demand in our TAM that is expected by industry observers by 2028, we believe there will be
substantial opportunities to expand our differentiated offerings further into retail, hospitality, enterprise, contact centers and the internet of things. We
expect that our partnership with Korea University will result in the building blocks for additional offerings tailored to these additional verticals.
Currently, we are party to a research agreement with Korea University that includes a team of seven doctoral candidates and five master’s students
working on advanced AI models, as well as a multi-year collaboration agreement to further the development of our product offerings. We intend to
continue expanding our partnership with Korea University, and we are considering expanding this type of partnerships with other universities and U.S.
institutions to remain competitive with talent acquisition and product research and development.

Sales and Customers

We employ a direct sales force and also utilize channel partners to organically grow our customer base. In September 2023, we executed a
Reseller Agreement with AFG pursuant to which AFG was granted an exclusive license to sell our products to original equipment manufacturers and
dealerships in the automotive industry. We intend to utilize additional channel partners and grow our sales team to further expand our customer base and
drive revenues. We believe our customer base will largely consist of original equipment manufacturers, car dealerships, hospitals and outpatient clinics
and medical professionals, as well as insurance companies and third-party administrators that support those organizations. We intend to target partners
whose offerings (both product and services) could be significantly enhanced or differentiated by our technology.

We have three primary go-to-market strategies: (1) partner with industry-specific solution providers to target desirable industries, (2) capture key
large customers organically and through partners within industry verticals and sub-industries to leverage their brand and market positions and (3) scale
our business by embedding our AI platforms with solution providers and consulting companies such that their solution offerings will include all or
portions of our technology to create a differentiation.

To compete with other companies that may be larger and may have more resources, our strategy is to leverage our technological lead, which is the
result of our targeted and intentional approach to meeting the needs of our key customers and partners, as well as harness operational nimbleness that
enables us to react quickly to sudden shifts in industry trends. We aim to leverage our partners sales teams and their existing business relationships to
scale our business. Once we have established our presence with key customers and partners, our goal is to embed our platform and technology into their
existing offerings such that our partners’ offerings can create a market differentiation to provide more value to their customers, generate additional
revenue opportunities, pay royalties or platform fees for using our AI platforms and ultimately to provide a better customer experience.

Competitive Landscape

Our main sources of competition fall into several categories:
 

 •  Companies with AI capabilities focused on solutions in the conversational interface, language understanding and processing;
 

 •  Organizations offering products within our current target verticals; and
 

 •  Legacy providers, including large technology companies with existing and fast-growing AI offerings.
 

11



Table of Contents

The AI value stack is comprised of multiple layers including services, software & applications, models & machine learning operations,
infrastructure and platforms and silicon. AI and data-driven tech platforms enabling task management and/or help desk applications are most instructive.
However, infrastructure & hardware players that enable AI technologies as well as large tech names that are infusing AI to enhance their broader
platform value propositions are also relevant. Private market comparables may also be instructive, although performance metrics are generally limited.
The scope of the AI market is defined by an ecosystem that addresses both horizontal and vertical solutions as well as Enterprises and consumer
products.

The principal competitive factors in the markets in which we operate include:
 

 •  Accuracy and precision of NLP and natural language understanding;
 

 •  Degree of available and seamless multimodality;
 

 •  Flexible deployment model and cross-platform support;
 

 •  Ease and speed of adoption and use;
 

 •  Customization and flexibility to customer needs;
 

 •  Individualized personalization and contextualization;
 

 •  Data security, privacy, and regulatory compliance;
 

 •  Extensibility of product innovation, research, and pipeline;
 

 •  Depth of vertical expertise and specialization;
 

 •  Scope of channel and distribution partner network;
 

 •  Pricing, cost structures, and returns on investment;
 

 •  Strength of sales and marketing efforts;
 

 •  Financial and other resources and name recognition;
 

 •  Existing customer relationships;
 

 •  Brand salience, reputation, and level of adoption; and
 

 •  Track records of success in complex environments.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patents, patent applications, registered and unregistered trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, license agreements,
confidentiality procedures, non-disclosure agreements with third parties and other contractual measures, to protect our intellectual property rights.

As of December 31, 2023, we had twenty-one issued patents, including ten U.S. issued patents and 11 issued abroad. Our U.S. issued patents
expire between September 9, 2028, and April 18, 2031. As of December 31, 2023, we had 19 pending patent applications, including two U.S.
nonprovisional patent applications, 13 U.S. provisional patent applications, one Patent Cooperation Treaty patent application, and three patent
applications abroad. The pending U.S. patent applications, if issued, would expire between 2041 and 2043. We continually review our development
efforts to assess the existence and patentability of new intellectual property.

We control access to and use of our proprietary technology and other confidential information through the use of internal and external controls,
including contractual protections with employees, contractors, customers
and partners. We also generally apply a policy requiring our employees and independent contractors to sign
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agreements assigning to us any inventions, trade secrets, works of authorship, developments, processes and other intellectual property generated by them
on our behalf and under which they agree to protect our confidential information. There are a number of risks associated with our patent rights and other
intellectual property rights, including whether such rights are valid, enforceable or sufficient to protect our business, products or services. See the section
titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Information Technology, Data Privacy and Security” for a more comprehensive description
of risks related to our intellectual property.

Regulation

The regulation of artificial intelligence in our target verticals and its broader application is a rapidly evolving topic amongst lawmakers and
policymaking organizations. While comprehensive regulation around the existence, parameters, application and use cases for artificial intelligence
remain in its early stages, we expect that the regulatory environment governing our platforms and activities will rapidly develop in the future and that a
substantial amount of public and private scrutiny will be placed on artificial intelligence as a whole. Additionally, jurisdictions in which we operate and
may operate in the future will likely have substantially differing regulatory regimes with which we may be required to comply. While we are unable to
predict the exact impact of any new regulations on our business and results of operations, we believe it is highly likely that sweeping regulations will
result in additional compliance and development costs, as well as the attention of government agencies and private organizations, which may have an
adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

While regulatory regimes governing artificial intelligence broadly remain undeveloped, there are a number of existing regulations in some of our
target verticals with which we may need to comply. For example, there are numerous U.S. federal and state laws and regulations related to the privacy
and security of personally identifiable information (“PII”), including health information. In particular, the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act (“HIPAA”), as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, and its respective
implementing regulations, establishes privacy and security standards that limit the use and disclosure of protected health information (“PHI”), and
require the implementation of administrative, physical, and technical safeguards to ensure the confidentiality, integrity and availability of individually
identifiable health information in electronic form. Violations of HIPAA may result in civil and criminal penalties. We will be subject to HIPAA to the
extent we store customer data on our system as opposed to a third-party cloud system or with our customers.

In addition to HIPAA and state health information privacy laws, we may be subject to other state and federal privacy laws, including laws that
prohibit unfair privacy and security practices and deceptive statements about privacy and security and laws that place specific requirements on certain
types of activities, such as data security and texting.

In recent years, there have been a number of well-publicized data breaches involving the improper use and disclosure of PII and PHI in both
healthcare and financial services. Many states have responded to these incidents by enacting laws requiring holders of personal information to maintain
safeguards and to take certain actions in response to a data breach, such as providing prompt notification of the breach to affected individuals and state
officials. In addition, under HIPAA and certain other laws, we must report breaches of unsecured PHI to our partners following discovery of the breach.
Notification must also be made in certain circumstances to affected individuals, federal authorities and others.

In the event our platforms and applications constitute medical products, our operations may in part become regulated by the FDA and other
federal and state agencies. The FDA broadly regulates the development, testing, manufacturing, labeling, packaging, storage, installation, servicing,
advertising, promotion, marketing, distribution, import, export and market surveillance of our medical devices and has significant enforcement and
policymaking power.
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Other federal and state laws may also apply to us, including additional regulations regarding IT security, PII, deceptive trade practices in New
York and California, among others. Additionally, we may be subject to the General Data Protection Regulation of the European Union and European
Economic Area.

Facilities

We do not maintain any material properties.

Employees

As of December 31, 2023, we had 26 full-time employees and 12 independent contractors.

Available Information

Our internet address is https://beninc.ai/. We will file or furnish periodic reports and amendments thereto, including our Annual Reports on Form
10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K (and amendments to those reports), proxy and information statements and other
information filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act with the SEC. The SEC maintains a website that contains
reports, proxy and information statement, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically, which may be accessed through the SEC at
http://www.sec.gov. Our reports, amendments thereto, proxy statements and other information are also made available, free of charge, on our investor
relations website at https://beninc.ai/ as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such information with the SEC. The
information contained on the websites referenced in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is not incorporated by reference into this filing. Further, our
references to website URLs are intended to be inactive textual references only. All statements made in any of our securities filings, including all
forward-looking statements or information, are made as of the date of the document in which the statement is included, and we do not assume or
undertake any obligation to update any of those statements or documents unless we are required to do so by law.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of our business. We are not
presently a party to any legal proceedings that, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results, cash flows or financial condition. Defending such proceedings is costly and can impose a significant burden on management
and employees. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an
adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully all of the risks described below, together with the
other information contained in this Report, before making a decision to invest in our securities. If any of the following events occur, our business,
financial condition and operating results may be materially adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our securities could decline, and you
could lose all or part of your investment.

Summary of Risk Factors

The risk factors summarized below could materially harm our business, operating results and/or financial condition, impair our future prospects
and/or cause the price of our ordinary shares to decline. These risks are
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discussed more fully following this summary. Material risks that may affect our business, operating results and financial condition include, but are not
necessarily limited to, the following:
 

 •  We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to evaluate its prospects and future results of operations.
 

 •  We have a history of losses and may not be able to achieve profitability on a consistent basis or at all.
 

 •  We expect to be dependent on a limited number of customers and end markets.
 

 •  Our addressable market opportunity for its current and future products may be much smaller than it estimates.
 

 •  We may need additional capital, and it cannot be certain that additional financing will be available on favorable terms, or at all.
 

 •  Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, particularly with respect to large subscriptions, and its sales efforts require considerable
time and expense.

 

 •  Our business depends on customers purchasing additional subscriptions and products from us and renewing their subscriptions.
 

 •  Our revenue growth depends in part on the success of its strategic relationships with third parties, including channel partners.
 

 •  We face intense and growing competition for its products and services, and it may lack sufficient financial or other resources to maintain or
improve its competitive positions.

 

 •  We may not be able to effectively develop and expand our sales, marketing and customer support capabilities.
 

 •  We may generate a significant portion of our revenues primarily from a few major customers.
 

 •  If we are not able to grow, maintain and enhance our brand and reputation, our relationships with our customers, partners, investors and
employees may be harmed.

 

 •  Changes in our subscription or pricing models could adversely affect our operating results.
 

 •  We may offer discounts on its pricing models to drive awareness of our products and encourage usage and adoption.
 

 •  The benefits of our products to customers and projected return on investment have not been substantiated through long-term trials or use.
 

 •  The loss of one or more key members of our management team or personnel, or our failure to attract, integrate and retain additional
personnel in the future, could harm our business and negatively affect our ability to successfully grow our business.

 

 
•  We may acquire or invest in companies and technologies, which may divert our management’s attention, and result in additional dilution to

our stockholders. We may be unable to integrate acquired businesses and technologies successfully or achieve the expected benefits of
such acquisitions or investments.

 

 
•  Information technology spending, sales cycles, and other factors affecting the demand for our offerings and results of our operations may

be negatively impacted by current macroeconomic conditions, including declining rates of economic growth, supply chain disruptions,
inflationary pressures and increased interest rates.

 

 •  Our operations could be affected by the rapidly evolving, complex laws, rules and regulations to which our business will become subject.
 

 •  AI is a nascent and rapidly changing technology. The slowing or stopping of the development or acceptance of AI technologies may
adversely affect our business.
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 •  We face growing competition for its products and services, and may lack sufficient financial or other resources to maintain or improve our
competitive positions.

 

 •  We rely upon third-party providers of cloud-based infrastructure to host our products.
 

 •  Social and ethical issues relating to the use of new and evolving technologies, such as AI, in our offerings may result in reputational harm
and liability.

 

 
•  Failure to realize the anticipated benefits of the Business Combination, which may be affected by, among other things, competition, our

ability to grow and manage growth profitably, maintain relationships with members and suppliers and retain our management and key
employees

 

 •  The market price of our Common Stock is likely to be highly volatile, and you may lose some or all of your investment.
 

 •  There can be no guarantees as to whether an active, liquid and orderly trading market will develop for our Common Stock and, as a result,
it may be difficult to sell our Common Stock.
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RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to our Business and Industry

We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to evaluate our prospects and future results of operations.

As a result of our limited operating history and evolving business, our ability to forecast our future results of operations is limited and subject to
several uncertainties, including our ability to plan for and model future growth. Any historical revenue growth should not be considered indicative of our
future performance. Further, in future periods, our revenue growth could slow or our revenue could decline for a number of reasons, including slowing
demand for our products, increasing competition, changes to technology, a decrease in the growth of our overall market, or our failure, for any reason, to
continue to take advantage of growth opportunities. We have encountered and will encounter risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing
companies in rapidly changing industries, such as the risks and uncertainties described herein. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties,
which we use to plan our business, are incorrect or change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our business could be adversely affected.

We have a history of losses and may not be able to achieve profitability on a consistent basis or at all.

We have incurred losses in each year since our incorporation. We incurred a net loss of approximately $0.7 million and $11.7 million in the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. As a result, we had an accumulated deficit of $13.3 million as of December 31, 2023 We anticipate
that our operating expenses will increase substantially in the foreseeable future as we continue to enhance our offerings, broaden our customer base,
expand our sales and marketing activities, expand our operations, hire additional employees, and continue to develop our technology. These efforts may
prove more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in increasing our revenue sufficiently, or at all, to offset these higher
expenses. Revenue growth may slow or revenue may decline for a number of possible reasons, including slowing demand for our offerings or increasing
competition. Any failure to increase our revenue as we grow our business could prevent us from achieving profitability or positive cash flow at all or on
a consistent basis, which would cause our business, financial condition, and results of operations to suffer and the price of our Common Stock to
decline.

We expect to be dependent on a limited number of customers and end markets. A decline in revenue from, or the loss of, any significant customer,
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operating results.

We have a limited number of customers in our initial pilot programs, and we expect to depend upon a small number of customers in the immediate
future for a substantial portion of future revenues. Accordingly, a decline in revenue from, or the loss of, any significant customer could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and operating results. We cannot assure that (i) subscriptions that may be completed, delayed, cancelled or
reduced will be replaced with new business, (ii) the pilot customers will ultimately utilize our products and services, or (iii) the pilot customers will
enter into additional contracts with us on acceptable terms or at all.

The total addressable market opportunity for our current and future products may be much smaller than we estimate.

Our estimates of the total addressable market for conversational AI are based on internal and third-party estimates as well as a number of
significant assumptions. Market opportunity estimates and growth forecasts included in this report are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on
assumptions and estimates. These estimates, which have been derived from a variety of sources, including market research and our own internal
estimates, may prove to be incorrect. If any of our estimates prove to be inaccurate, the market opportunity for platform and products could be
significantly less than we estimate. If this turns out to be the case, our potential for growth may be limited and our business and future prospects may be
materially adversely affected.
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We may need additional capital, and we cannot be certain that additional financing will be available on favorable terms, or at all.

Historically, we have funded our operations and capital expenditures primarily through equity and convertible note issuances. We believe that our
existing cash and cash equivalents will be insufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for at least the next 12 months, and as a result, we will
require additional financing. We evaluate financing opportunities from time to time, and our ability to obtain financing will depend, among other things,
on our development efforts, business plans, operating performance, and condition of the capital markets at the time we seek financing. Future sales and
issuances of our capital stock or rights to purchase our capital stock could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders. We may sell our
Common Stock, convertible securities, and other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner as we may determine from time
to time. If we sell any such securities in subsequent transactions, investors may be materially diluted. New investors in such subsequent transactions
could gain rights, preferences, and privileges senior to those of holders of our Common Stock. Any debt financing that we may secure in the future
could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult
for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. We cannot assure you that additional financing will be available to us on
favorable terms when required, or at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our
ability to continue to support our business growth, development efforts and to respond to business challenges could be significantly impaired, and our
business, operating results and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Our results of operations and key financial and operational metrics are likely to fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis in future periods and
may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business, which makes our future results difficult to predict and could cause our results of
operations to fall below expectations.

Our quarterly results of operations, including cash flows, are likely to fluctuate significantly in the future. Accordingly, the results of any one
quarter should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance. Our quarterly results, financial position, and operations are likely to fluctuate
as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control, and as a result, may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our
business. Fluctuation in quarterly results may negatively impact the value of our Common Stock.

The timing of our sales cycles is unpredictable and is impacted by factors such as budgeting and appropriation cycles, varying commercial fiscal
years and changing economic conditions. This can impact our ability to plan and manage margins and cash flows. Our sales cycles may be long, and it
may be difficult to predict exactly when, or if, we will make a sale with a potential customer or how quickly we can move them from the “land” phase
into the “expand” phase. As a result, large individual sales have, in some cases, occurred in quarters subsequent to those we anticipated, or have not
occurred at all. The loss or delay of one or more large sales transactions in a quarter would impact our results of operations and cash flow for that quarter
and any future quarters in which revenue from that transaction is lost or delayed. In addition, downturns in new sales may not be immediately reflected
in our revenue because we generally recognize revenue over the term of our subscription agreements. The timing of customer billing and payment may
vary from contract to contract, including any subscription prepayments. A delay in the timing of receipt of any revenues owed to us or a default in
payments on large contracts may negatively impact our liquidity for the period and in the future.

Other factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations and financial position include, without limitation, those listed
below:
 

 •  the success of our sales and marketing efforts;
 •  our ability to increase our margins;
 

 •  the timing of expenses and revenue recognition;
 

 •  the timing and amount of payments received from our customers;
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 •  termination of one or more large contracts by customers or channel providers;
 

 •  the time- and cost-intensive nature of our sales efforts and the length and variability of sales cycles;
 

 •  the amount and timing of operating expenses related to the maintenance and expansion of our business and operations;
 

 •  the timing and effectiveness of new sales and marketing initiatives;
 

 •  changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;
 

 •  the timing and success of new products, features, and functionality introduced by us or our competitors;
 

 •  cyberattacks and other actual or perceived data or security breaches;
 

 
•  our ability to hire and retain employees, in particular, those responsible for the development, operations and maintenance, and selling or

marketing of our software; and our ability to develop and retain talented sales personnel who are able to achieve desired productivity levels
in a reasonable period of time and provide sales leadership in areas in which we are expanding our sales and marketing efforts;

 

 •  changes in the competitive dynamics of our industry;
 

 •  the cost of and potential outcomes of future claims or litigation, which could have a material adverse effect on our business;
 

 •  indemnification payments to our customers or other third parties;
 

 •  ability to scale our business with increasing demands;
 

 •  the timing of expenses related to any future acquisitions; and
 

 •  general economic, regulatory, and market conditions, including the impact of public health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic and
international affairs such as the conflict between Russia and Ukraine and in the Middle East which may cause financial market volatility.

We have identified material weaknesses and significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. If our remediation of the
material weaknesses and significant deficiencies are not effective, or if we experience additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in
the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls in the future, we may not be able to accurately or timely report our
financial condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and, as a result, the value of our common stock.

Prior to the Business Combination, Legacy BEN was a private company with limited accounting personnel to adequately execute our accounting
processes and other supervisory resources with which to address our internal control over financial reporting and, as a result, we may experience
difficulty in meeting these reporting requirements in a timely manner. To date, we have never conducted a review of our internal control for the purpose
of providing the reports required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. During our review and testing, we may identify deficiencies and be unable to remediate
them before we must provide the required reports.

In connection with the preparation of Legacy BEN’s 2022 and 2023 consolidated financial statements, we and our independent auditors identified
material weaknesses and significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim
consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

These material weaknesses related to the following:
 

 1. The Company has not invested the resources to properly document its risks affecting the financial statements and controls in place to
mitigate those risks in accordance with the requirements for a functioning internal control system.
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 2. The Company, has not yet invested the necessary resources into the accounting and reporting functions in order to properly account for and
prepare its US GAAP compliant financial statements on a timely basis.

 

 3. The Company has failed to properly account for its merger with Datum Point Labs (“DPL”), specifically to obtain a historical value of the
patent portfolio acquired by DPL in May 2019, since the merger was between entities under common control.

 

 4. The Company has failed to timely obtain valuation reports for its underlying common shares or to value its equity grants in accordance
with US GAAP.

 

 5. The Company has failed to properly account for the extinguishment of certain liabilities through the issuance of common shares or through
the exercise of warrants.

 

 6. The Company has failed to properly classify the acquired developed technology from DM Lab as an in-process research and development
asset.

Our auditor also noted the following deficiencies that we believe to be significant deficiencies. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting, that adversely affects the entity’s ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or
report financial data reliably in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the entity’s internal control.
 
 1. The Company has failed to impute interest on non-interest bearing related party advances.
 

 2. The Company incorrectly recorded certain selling, general and administrative expenses.
 

 3. The Company has incorrectly included certain 2023 liabilities in accounts payable at December 31, 2022.

During 2023, the Company commenced remediation efforts to address the identified material weaknesses which including hiring a Chief Financial
Officer and adding additional review procedures by qualified personnel over complex accounting matters which include engaging third-party
professionals with whom to consult regarding complex accounting applications.

However, we cannot assure you that these measures will significantly improve or remediate the material weaknesses and significant deficiencies
described above. As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus the material weaknesses and significant deficiencies have not been remediated.

We may discover additional weaknesses in our system of internal financial and accounting controls and procedures that could result in a material
misstatement of our consolidated financial statements. Our internal control over financial reporting will not prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A
control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will
be met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to
error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected.

If we are not able to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manner, or if we are unable to maintain proper and
effective internal controls over financial reporting, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. If that were to happen, our
investors could lose confidence in our reported financial information, the market price of our stock could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions
or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities.

Although we are in the process of implementing internal controls, we are in the early stages of such implementation. We cannot assure you that
the measures we have taken to date will be sufficient to remediate
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any weaknesses in our internal controls that we may identify or prevent the identification of significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the future.
If the steps we take do not create effective internal controls in a timely manner, there could be a reasonable possibility that our internal controls will be
ineffective and could result in a material misstatement of our financial statements that would not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. If we are
required to restate our consolidated financial statements in the future, we may be the subject of negative publicity focusing on financial statement
inaccuracies and resulting restatement. In addition, our financial results as restated may reflect results that are less favorable than originally reported. In
the past, certain publicly traded companies that have restated their consolidated financial statements have been subject to shareholder actions. The
occurrence of any of the foregoing could harm our business and reputation and cause the price of our common stock to decline. Further, investors’
perceptions that our internal controls are inadequate or that we are unable to produce accurate consolidated financial statements may have a material
adverse effect on our stock price.

Our sales cycles may be long and unpredictable, particularly with respect to large subscriptions, and our sales efforts require considerable time and
expense.

Our results of operations may fluctuate, in part, because of the intensive nature of our sales efforts and the length and unpredictability of our sales
cycle. Our results of operations depend on sales to enterprise customers, which make product purchasing decisions based in part or entirely on factors, or
perceived factors, not directly related to the features of the software, including, among others, such customer’s projections of business growth,
uncertainty about economic conditions (including as a result of public health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic and international affairs such as the
conflict between Russia and Ukraine and in the Middle East), capital budgets, anticipated cost savings from the implementation of our software,
potential preference for such customer’s internally developed software solutions, perceptions about our business and software, more favorable terms
offered by potential competitors, and previous technology investments. In addition, certain decision makers and other stakeholders within our potential
customers tend to have vested interests in the continued use of internally developed or existing software, which may make it more difficult for us to sell
our software and services. As a result of these and other factors, our sales efforts typically require an extensive effort throughout a customer’s
organization, a significant investment of human resources, expense and time, including by our senior management, and there can be no assurances that
we will be successful in making a sale to a potential customer. If our sales efforts to a potential customer do not result in sufficient revenue to justify our
investments, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

As part of our sales efforts, we will invest considerable time and expense evaluating the specific organizational needs of our potential customers
and educating these potential customers about the technical capabilities and value of our products and services. In the “land” phase of our business
model, we may deploy prototype capabilities to potential customers at minimal cost initially to them for evaluation purposes, and there is no guarantee
that we will be able to convert these engagements into long-term sales arrangements. In addition, we currently have a limited direct sales force, and our
sales efforts have historically depended on the significant involvement of our senior management team. The length of our sales cycle, from initial
demonstration to sale of our products and services, tends to be long and varies substantially from customer to customer. Because decisions to purchase
our software involve significant financial commitments, potential customers generally evaluate our software at multiple levels within their organization,
each of which often have specific requirements, and typically involve their senior management.

Our business depends on customers purchasing additional subscriptions and products from us and renewing their subscriptions. If customers do not
renew or expand their subscriptions with us, our revenue may decline and our business, financial condition and results of operations may be
harmed.

Our future success depends in part on our ability to sell additional subscriptions and products to customers who sign initial agreements with us,
and those customers renewing their subscriptions when the contract term expires. We expect the terms of our subscription agreements will primarily be
one to three years. Our customers
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have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our products after the expiration of their subscription period. In order for us to maintain or improve
our results of operations, it is important that our customers renew or expand their subscriptions with us. Our retention rate of customers may decline or
fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including business strength or weakness of our customers, customer usage, customer satisfaction with our
products and platform capabilities and customer support, our prices, the capabilities and prices of competing products, consolidation of affiliates’
multiple paid business accounts into a single paid business account, the effects of global economic conditions, or reductions in our customers’ spending
on AI, customer service and IT solutions or their spending levels generally. These factors may also be exacerbated if, consistent with our growth
strategy, our customer base continues to grow to encompass larger enterprises, which may also require more sophisticated and costly sales efforts. These
factors may also be exacerbated by unfavorable conditions in the economy. If our customers do not purchase additional subscriptions and products from
us or our customers fail to renew their subscriptions, our revenue may decline and our business, financial condition and results of operations may be
harmed.

Our revenue growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties, including channel partners, and if we are unable
to establish and maintain successful relationships with them, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We rely, in part, on channel providers as a way to grow our business and customer bases. We anticipate that we will continue to establish and
maintain relationships with third parties, such as channel partners, resellers, OEMs, system integrators, independent software and hardware vendors, and
platform and cloud service providers. For example, in August 2023, we entered into a Reseller Agreement with AFG whereby AFG operates as the
exclusive channel partner and reseller of certain of our projects in the motor vehicle marketing and manufacturing industry for a term of five years.

We plan to continue to establish and maintain similar strategic relationships in certain industry verticals and otherwise, and we expect our channel
partners to become an increasingly important aspect of our business. However, these strategic relationships could limit our ability in the future to
compete in certain industry verticals and, depending on the success of our third-party partners and the industries that those partners operate in generally,
may negatively impact our business because of the nature of strategic alliances, exclusivity provisions, or otherwise. We work closely with select
vendors to design solutions to specifically address the needs of certain industry verticals or use cases within those verticals. As our agreements with
strategic partners terminate or expire, we may be unable to renew or replace these agreements on comparable terms, or at all.

Moreover, we cannot guarantee that the partners with whom we have, or with whom we will form, strategic relationships will devote the resources
necessary to expand our reach and increase our distribution. In addition, customer satisfaction with services and other support from our strategic partners
may be less than anticipated, negatively impacting anticipated revenue growth and results of operations. We cannot assure you that our strategic partners
will continue to cooperate with us. In addition, actions taken or omitted to be taken by such parties may adversely affect us. Moreover, we will rely on
our channel partners to operate in accordance with the terms of their contractual agreements with us. For example, our agreement with AFG limits the
terms and conditions pursuant to which they are authorized to resell or distribute our products. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our
relationships with third parties, or if our strategic partners do not comply with their contractual obligations to us, our business, operating results, and
financial condition may be adversely affected. Even if we are successful in establishing and maintaining these relationships with third parties, we cannot
assure you that these relationships will result in increased customer usage of our products or increased revenue to us.

Our ability to sell our software and services to customers is dependent on the quality of our offerings, and our failure to maintain the quality of our
offerings could have a material adverse effect on our sales and results of operations.

Our customers will require our support to resolve any issues relating to our products. Our ability to provide effective services will depend on our
ability to attract, train, and retain qualified personnel with experience in
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supporting customers on software such as ours. We may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in customer demand
for our products. Additionally, due to the rapidly-evolving nature of our products and industry, it may be difficult to hire qualified personnel with
relevant experience. Increased customer demand for support, without corresponding revenue, could increase costs and negatively affect our business and
results of operations. If we are unable to provide efficient deployment and support services at scale, our ability to grow our operations may be harmed,
and we may need to hire additional services personnel, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Downturns or upturns in our sales may not be immediately reflected in our financial position and results of operations.

Because we largely will recognize the majority of our revenue ratably over the term of the Subscription Agreement, dated September 7, 2023, by
and among us, AFG and certain of AFG’s affiliates (the “Subscription Agreement”) and (unless otherwise prepaid), any decreases in new subscriptions
or renewals in any one period may not be immediately reflected as a decrease in revenue for that period but could negatively affect our revenue in future
quarters. This also makes it difficult for us to rapidly increase our revenue through the sale of additional subscriptions in any period, as revenue is
recognized over the term of the Subscription Agreement. In addition, fluctuations in monthly subscriptions based on usage could affect our revenue on a
period-over-period basis. If our quarterly results of operations fall below the expectations of investors and securities analysts who follow our stock, the
price of our Common Stock would decline substantially.

We face intense and growing competition for our products and services, and we may lack sufficient financial or other resources to maintain or
improve our competitive positions.

The market for our products is intensely competitive and characterized by rapid changes in technology, customer requirements, industry standards,
and frequent new platform and application introductions and improvements. We anticipate continued competitive challenges from current competitors
who address different aspects of our offerings, and in many cases, many of these competitors are more established and enjoy greater resources than we
do. We also expect competitive challenges from new entrants into the industry or existing large companies seeking to grow their current offerings. If we
are unable to anticipate or effectively react to these competitive challenges, our competitive position could weaken, and we could experience a decline in
our growth rate and revenue that could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our main sources of current and potential competition fall into several categories:
 

 •  AI companies focused on solutions in the conversational interface, language understanding and processing;
 

 •  organizations offering products within our current target verticals; and
 

 •  legacy providers, including large technology providers seeking to add or scale AI capabilities.

We caution that many of our competitors may possess advantages such as higher brand visibility, lengthier operational track records, more
developed and broader customer bases, larger sales and marketing budgets and teams, superior technological capabilities, a broader network of channel
and distribution partners, broader geographical reach, concentrated expertise in specific vertical markets, reduced labor and research and development
expenditures, more substantial and mature intellectual property portfolios, as well as significantly greater financial, technical, and overall resources for
offering support, pursuing acquisitions, and innovating new products.

Potential customers may also prefer to purchase from their existing suppliers rather than a new supplier regardless of platform or application
performance or features. As a result, even if the features of our products are
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superior, potential customers may not purchase our offerings. These larger competitors often have broader product lines and market focus or greater
resources and may therefore not be as susceptible to economic downturns or other significant reductions in capital spending by customers. If we are
unable to sufficiently differentiate our solutions from the integrated or bundled products of our competitors, such as by offering enhanced functionality,
performance or value, we may see a decrease in demand for our offerings, which could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial
condition.

Moreover, new innovative start-up companies, and larger companies that are making significant investments in research and development, may
introduce products that have greater performance or functionality, are easier to implement or use, or incorporate technological advances that we have not
yet developed or implemented, or may invent similar or superior technologies that compete with ours. Our current and potential competitors may also
establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their resources.

Some of our competitors have made or could make acquisitions of businesses that allow them to offer more competitive and comprehensive
solutions. As a result of such acquisitions, our current or potential competitors may be able to accelerate the adoption of new technologies that better
address customer needs, devote greater resources to bring these platforms and applications to market, initiate or withstand substantial price competition,
or develop and expand their product and service offerings more quickly than we can. These competitive pressures in our market or our failure to
compete effectively may result in fewer orders, reduced revenue and gross margins, and loss of market share. In addition, it is possible that industry
consolidation may impact customers’ perceptions of the viability of smaller or even mid-size software firms and consequently customers’ willingness to
purchase from such firms.

We may not compete successfully against our current or potential competitors. If we are unable to compete successfully, or if competing
successfully requires us to take costly actions in response to the actions of our competitors, our business, financial condition, and results of operations
could be adversely affected. In addition, companies competing with us may have an entirely different pricing or distribution model. Increased
competition could result in fewer customer orders, price reductions, reduced operating margins, and loss of market share. Further, we may be required to
make substantial additional investments in research, development, marketing, and sales in order to respond to such competitive threats, and we cannot
assure you that we will be able to compete successfully in the future.

We may not be able to effectively develop and expand our sales, marketing and customer support capabilities.

We plan to dedicate significant resources to sales and marketing initiatives, which require us to invest significant financial and other resources,
including in markets in which we have limited or no experience. Our business and results of operations will be harmed if our sales and marketing efforts
do not generate significant revenue increases or increases that are smaller than anticipated.

We may not achieve revenue growth from expanding our sales force if we are unable to hire, train, and retain talented and effective sales
personnel. We will depend on our sales force to obtain new customers and to drive additional sales to existing customers. We believe that there is
significant competition for sales personnel, including sales representatives, sales managers, and sales engineers, with the requisite skills and technical
knowledge. Our ability to achieve significant revenue growth will depend, in large part, on our success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient
sales personnel to support our growth, and as we introduce new products, solutions, and marketing strategies, we may need to re-train existing sales
personnel. For example, in the future, we may need to provide additional training and development to our sales personnel in relation to understanding
and selling our products and expanding customer usage of our offerings over time. New hires also require extensive training which may take significant
time before they achieve full productivity. New hires and planned hires may not become productive as quickly as we expect, and we may be unable to
hire or retain
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sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the markets where we do business or plan to do business. If we are unable to hire and train sufficient
numbers of effective sales personnel to achieve desired productivity levels in a reasonable period of time or if such sales personnel are not successful in
obtaining new customers or increasing sales to our existing customer base, our growth and results of operations could be negatively impacted, and our
business could be harmed.

We may generate a significant portion of our revenues primarily from a few major customers, and loss of business from such customers could
reduce our revenues and significantly harm our business.

It is likely that we will, at least initially, generate a significant portion of our revenues primarily from a few major customers, and loss of business
from any such customers could reduce our revenues and significantly harm our business. One or a few customers may represent a substantial portion of
our total revenues in any one year or over a period of several years.

Our ability to maintain close relationships with major customers will be essential to the growth and profitability of our business. However, the
volume of work performed for a specific customer is likely to vary from year to year, in particular since we expect we will not have exclusive or long-
term arrangements with our customers. A major customer in one year may not provide the same level of revenues for us in any subsequent year. The
services we provide to our customers, and the revenues and income from those services, may decline or vary as the type and quantity of services we
provide changes over time. In addition, our reliance on any individual customer for a significant portion of our revenues may give that customer a
certain degree of pricing leverage against us when negotiating contracts and terms of service and require us to accept prices with annual price reductions
for longer term commitments. In addition, a number of factors other than our performance could cause the loss of or reduction in business or revenues
from a customer, and these factors are not predictable. These factors may include organization restructuring, pricing pressure, changes to our technology
strategy, switching to another services provider or returning work in-house. The loss of any future major customers could adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.

If we are not able to grow, maintain and enhance our brand and reputation, our relationships with our customers, partners, investors and employees
may be harmed, and our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We believe growing, maintaining, and enhancing our brand identity and reputation in the conversational AI, data management and analytics
market is important to our relationships with, and to our ability to attract and retain customers, partners, investors, and employees. The successful
promotion of our brand depends upon our ability to continue to offer high-quality platforms and develop and maintain strong relationships with our
customers, the community and others, while successfully differentiating our offerings from those of our competitors. Problems with the reliability or
security of our products and services could damage our reputation. We anticipate that as our market becomes increasingly competitive, maintaining and
enhancing our brand may become increasingly difficult and expensive. Brand promotion activities may not yield increased revenue, and even if they do,
the increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building and maintaining our brand and reputation. If we do not successfully grow,
maintain and enhance our brand identity and reputation, we may fail to attract and retain employees, customers, investors or partners, grow our business
or sustain pricing power, all of which could adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

We may not be able to successfully manage our growth, and if we are not able to grow efficiently, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be harmed.

As usage of our platform capabilities grow, we will need to devote additional resources to improving and maintaining our infrastructure and
integrating with third-party applications. In addition, we will need to appropriately scale our internal business systems and our services organization,
including customer support and
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professional services, to serve our growing customer base. Any failure of or delay in these efforts could result in impaired system performance and
reduced customer satisfaction, resulting in decreased sales to new customers, lower dollar-based net retention rates or, the issuance of service credits or
requested refunds, which would hurt our revenue growth and our reputation. Further, any failure in optimizing our spend on third-party cloud services as
we scale could negatively impact our gross margins. Even if we are successful in our expansion efforts, they will be expensive and complex, and require
the dedication of significant management time and attention. We could also face inefficiencies or service disruptions as a result of our efforts to scale our
internal infrastructure. We cannot be sure that the expansion of and improvements to our internal infrastructure will be effectively implemented on a
timely basis, if at all, and such failures could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are unable to achieve and sustain a level of liquidity sufficient to support our operations and fulfill our obligations, our business, operating
results and financial position could be adversely affected.

We actively monitor and manage our cash and cash equivalents so that sufficient liquidity is available to fund our operations and other corporate
purposes. In the future, increased levels of liquidity may be required to adequately support our operations and initiatives and to mitigate the effects of
business challenges or unforeseen circumstances. If we are unable to achieve and sustain such increased levels of liquidity, we may suffer adverse
consequences including reduced investment in development of new products, difficulties in executing our business plan and fulfilling our obligations,
and other operational challenges. Any of these developments could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial position.

Changes in our subscription or pricing models could adversely affect our operating results.

As the markets for our subscriptions grow, as new competitors introduce new products or services that compete with ours, we may be unable to
attract new customers at the same price or based on the same pricing model as we have historically used. Regardless of pricing model used, large
customers may demand higher price discounts than in the past. As a result, we may be required to reduce our prices, offer shorter contract durations or
offer alternative pricing models, which could adversely affect our revenue, gross margin, profitability, financial position, and cash flow.

We have limited experience with respect to determining the optimal prices for subscriptions for our products. Our competitors may introduce new
products that compete with ours or reduce their prices, or we may be unable to attract new customers or retain existing customers based on our historical
subscription and pricing models. Given our limited operating history and limited experience with our historical subscription and pricing models, we may
not be able to accurately predict customer renewal or retention rates. As a result, we may be required or choose to reduce our prices or change our
pricing model, which could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We may offer discounts on our pricing models to drive awareness of our products and encourage usage and adoption. If these marketing strategies
fail to lead to customers entering into long-term contracts with company-favorable pricing terms, our ability to grow our revenue will be adversely
affected.

To encourage awareness, usage, familiarity and adoption of our platform and products, we may offer discounts on our pricing models. These
strategies may not be successful entering into long-term contracts with company-favorable pricing terms. To the extent that users do not become, or we
are unable to successfully attract paying customers, we will not realize the intended benefits of these marketing strategies and our ability to grow our
revenue will be adversely affected.

The benefits of our products to customers and projected return on investment have not been substantiated through long-term trials or use.

The benefits to customers and projected return on investment of our products have not been substantiated through long-term trials or use. We
currently have a limited frame of reference by which to evaluate the
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performance of the products upon which our business prospects depend, and these products may not provide the expected benefits to customers. Our
products may not perform consistent with customers’ expectations or consistent with other products which may be or may become available. Any failure
of our products to perform as expected could harm our reputation and result in adverse publicity, lost revenue, subscription cancellation, harm to our
brand, delivery delays, and other expenses and could have a material adverse impact on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating
results.

The loss of one or more key members of our management team or personnel, or our failure to attract, integrate and retain additional personnel in
the future, could harm our business and negatively affect our ability to successfully grow our business.

We are highly dependent upon the continued service and performance of the key members of our management team and other personnel. The loss
of any of these individuals, could disrupt our operations and significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business objectives. We believe that
our future success will also depend in part on our continued ability to identify, hire, train and motivate qualified personnel. High demand exists for
senior management and other key personnel (including technical, engineering, product, finance and sales personnel) in the AI industry. A possible
shortage of qualified individuals in the regions where we operate might require us to pay increased compensation to attract and retain key employees,
thereby increasing our costs. In addition, we face intense competition for qualified individuals from numerous companies, many of whom have
substantially greater financial and other resources and name recognition than us. We may be unable to attract and retain suitably qualified individuals
who are capable of meeting our growing operational, managerial and other requirements, or we may be required to pay increased compensation in order
to do so. Our failure to attract, hire, integrate and retain qualified personnel could impair our ability to achieve our business objectives.

We may acquire or invest in companies and technologies, which may divert our management’s attention, and result in additional dilution to our
stockholders. We may be unable to integrate acquired businesses and technologies successfully or achieve the expected benefits of such acquisitions
or investments.

As part of our business strategy, we expect to evaluate and consider potential strategic transactions, including acquisitions of, or investments in,
businesses, technologies, services, products and other assets. We also may enter into relationships with other businesses to expand our products or our
ability to provide services. An acquisition, investment or business relationship may result in unforeseen risks, operating difficulties and expenditures,
including the following:
 

 

•  an acquisition may negatively affect our financial results because it may require us to incur charges or assume substantial debt or other
liabilities, may cause adverse tax consequences or unfavorable accounting treatment, may expose us to claims and disputes by third parties,
including intellectual property claims and disputes, or may not generate sufficient financial return to offset additional costs and expenses
related to the acquisition;

 

 •  costs and potential difficulties associated with the requirement to test and assimilate the internal control processes of the acquired business;
 

 

•  we may encounter difficulties or unforeseen expenditures assimilating or integrating the businesses, technologies, infrastructure, products,
personnel or operations of the acquired companies, particularly if the key personnel of the acquired company choose not to work for us or
if we are unable to retain key personnel, if their technology is not easily adapted to work with ours, or if we have difficulty retaining the
customers of any acquired business due to changes in ownership, management, or otherwise;

 

 •  we may not realize the expected benefits of the acquisition;
 

 •  an acquisition may disrupt our ongoing business, divert resources, increase our expenses, and distract our management;
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 •  an acquisition may result in a delay or reduction of customer subscriptions for our offerings for both us and the company acquired due to
customer uncertainty about continuity and effectiveness of service from either company;

 

 •  the potential impact on relationships with existing customers, vendors, and channel providers as business partners as a result of acquiring
another company or business that competes with or otherwise is incompatible with those existing relationships;

 

 •  the potential that our due diligence of the acquired company or business does not identify significant problems or liabilities, or that we
underestimate the costs and effects of identified liabilities;

 

 
•  exposure to litigation or other claims in connection with, or inheritance of claims or litigation risk as a result of, an acquisition, including

but not limited to claims from former employees, customers, or other third parties, which may differ from or be more significant than the
risks our business faces;

 

 •  potential goodwill impairment charges related to acquisitions;
 

 •  we may encounter difficulties in, or may be unable to, successfully sell any acquired offerings;
 

 •  an acquisition may involve the entry into geographic or business markets in which we have little or no prior experience or where
competitors have stronger market positions;

 

 
•  an acquisition may require us to comply with additional laws and regulations, or to engage in substantial remediation efforts to cause the

acquired company to comply with applicable laws or regulations, or result in liabilities resulting from the acquired company’s failure to
comply with applicable laws or regulations;

 

 •  our use of cash to pay for an acquisition would limit other potential uses for our cash;
 

 •  if we incur debt to fund such acquisition, such debt may subject us to material restrictions on our ability to conduct our business as well as
financial maintenance covenants; and

 

 •  to the extent that we issue a significant amount of equity securities in connection with future acquisitions, existing stockholders may be
diluted and earnings per share may decrease.

The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Moreover,
we cannot assure you that we would not be exposed to unknown liabilities.

Information technology spending, sales cycles and other factors affecting the demand for our offerings and our results of operations may be
negatively impacted by current macroeconomic conditions, including declining rates of economic growth, supply chain disruptions, inflationary
pressures and increased interest rates.

Our results of operations may vary based on the impact of changes in our industry, our target verticals, or the global economy on us, our customers
and our strategic partners. Current or future economic uncertainties or downturns could adversely affect our business and results of operations. Negative
conditions in the general economy, including a severe or prolonged economic downturn and/or the impact of increased interest rates and inflation, both
in the United States and abroad, including conditions resulting from changes in gross domestic product growth, financial and credit market fluctuations,
political turmoil, natural catastrophes, warfare and terrorist attacks on the United States or elsewhere, could cause a decrease in business investments by
our customers and potential customers, including spending on information technology, and negatively affect the growth of our business. Such conditions
could also limit our ability to raise additional capital when needed on acceptable terms, or at all. To the extent our offerings are perceived by customers
and potential customers as discretionary, our revenue may be disproportionately affected by delays or reductions in general information technology
spending. Also, customers may choose to develop in-house software as an alternative to using our products. Moreover, competitors may respond to
market conditions by lowering prices. We cannot predict the
 

28



Table of Contents

timing, strength or duration of any economic slowdown, instability or recovery, generally or within any particular industry. If the economic conditions of
the general economy or markets in which we operate do not improve, or worsen from present levels, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be adversely affected.

Our operations could be affected by the rapidly evolving, complex laws, rules and regulations to which our business will become subject, and
political and other actions may adversely impact our business.

We will become subject to laws and regulations domestically, and potentially worldwide, affecting our operations in areas including, but not
limited to, intellectual property, ownership and infringement; data privacy requirements; employment; product regulations; cybersecurity; the
responsible use of AI; and consumer laws. Compliance with such requirements can be onerous and expensive, could impact our competitive position,
and may negatively impact our business operations and ability to develop and deploy our products. There can be no assurance that our employees,
contractors, customers or agents will not violate applicable laws or the policies, controls, and procedures that we have designed to help ensure
compliance with such laws, and violations could result in fines and other civil, criminal and administrative actions against us, our officers, or our
employees, prohibitions on the conduct of our business, and damage to our reputation. Changes to the laws, rules and regulations to which we are
subject, or changes to their interpretation and enforcement, could lead to materially greater compliance and other costs and/or further restrictions on our
ability to manufacture and supply our products and operate our business. For example, we may face increased compliance costs as a result of changes or
increases in antitrust legislation, regulation, administrative rule making, increased focus from regulators on cybersecurity vulnerabilities and risks, and
enforcement activity resulting from growing public concern over concentration of economic power in corporations.

The increasing focus on the risks and strategic importance of AI technologies has already resulted in regulatory restrictions that target products
and services capable of enabling or facilitating AI and may in the future result in additional restrictions impacting some or all of our product and service
offerings. Concerns regarding third-party use of AI for purposes contrary to local governmental interests, including concerns relating to the misuse of AI
applications, models, and solutions, could result in unilateral or multilateral restrictions on products that can be used for training, refining, and deploying
large language models. Such restrictions could limit the ability of downstream customers and users worldwide to acquire, deploy, and use systems that
include our products, software, and services, and negatively impact our business and financial results.

Management of changing regulatory requirements is complicated and time consuming. Our results and competitive position may be harmed,
especially over the long-term, if there are further changes in certain regulations affecting our business.

We may become involved in legal, regulatory, and administrative inquiries and proceedings, and unfavorable outcomes in litigation or other matters
could negatively impact our business, financial conditions, and results of operations.

We may, from time to time, be involved in and subject to litigation or proceedings for a variety of claims or disputes, or regulatory inquiries.
These claims, lawsuits and proceedings could involve labor and employment, discrimination and harassment, commercial disputes, intellectual property
rights (including patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret and other proprietary rights), class actions, general contract, tort, defamation, data privacy
rights, antitrust, common-law fraud, government regulation or compliance, alleged federal and state securities and “blue sky” law violations or other
investor claims and other matters. Derivative claims, lawsuits, and proceedings, which may, from time to time, be asserted against our directors by our
stockholders, could involve breach of fiduciary duty, failure of oversight, corporate waste claims, and other matters. In addition, our business and results
may be adversely affected by the outcome of currently pending and any future legal, regulatory, and/or administrative claims or proceedings, including
through monetary damages or injunctive relief.
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Additionally, if customers fail to pay us under the terms of our agreements, we may be adversely affected due to the cost of enforcing the terms of
our contracts through litigation. Litigation or other proceedings can be expensive and time consuming and can divert our resources and leadership’s
attention from our primary business operations. The results of our litigation also cannot be predicted with certainty. If we are unable to prevail in
litigation, we could incur payments of substantial monetary damages or fines, or undesirable changes to our software or business practices, and
accordingly, our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. Furthermore, if we accrue a loss
contingency for pending litigation and determine that it is probable, any disclosures, estimates, and reserves we reflect in our financial statements with
regard to these matters may not reflect the ultimate disposition or financial impact of litigation or other such matters. These proceedings could also result
in negative publicity, which could harm customer and public perception of our business, regardless of whether the allegations are valid or whether we
are ultimately found liable.

AI is a nascent and rapidly changing technology. The slowing or stopping of the development or acceptance of AI technologies may adversely affect
our business.

AI is an emerging technology that offers new capabilities which are not fully developed. The development of AI technology is a new and rapidly
evolving industry that is subject to a high degree of uncertainty. Factors affecting the further development of the AI industry include, without limitation:
 

 •  continued worldwide growth in the adoption and use of AI technology;
 

 •  changes in consumer demographics;
 

 •  changes in public tastes and preferences;
 

 •  the popularity or acceptance of AI technology; and
 

 •  government and quasi-government regulation of AI technology, including any restrictions on access, operation and the use of AI.

If investments in the AI industry become less attractive to investors, innovators and developers, or if AI technology does not continue to gain
public acceptance or are not adopted and used by a substantial number of individuals, companies and other entities, it could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Social and ethical issues relating to the use of new and evolving technologies, such as AI, in our offerings may result in reputational harm and
liability.

Social and ethical issues relating to the use of AI may result in reputational harm and liability, and may cause us to incur additional research and
development costs to resolve such issues. As with many innovations,
AI presents risks and challenges that could affect its adoption, and therefore our business. If we enable or offer solutions that draw controversy due to
their perceived or actual impact on society, we may experience brand or reputational harm, competitive harm or legal liability. Potential government
regulation related to AI use and ethics may also increase the burden and cost of research and development in this area, and failure to properly remediate
such issues may cause public confidence in AI to be undermined, which could slow adoption of AI. The rapid evolution of AI will require the
application of resources to develop, test and maintain our products and services to help ensure that AI is implemented ethically in order to minimize
unintended, harmful impact.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Information Technology, Data Privacy and Security

We will rely in part upon third-party providers of cloud-based infrastructure to host our products. Any disruption in the operations of these third-
party providers, limitations on capacity or interference with our use could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We will rely in part on the technology, infrastructure, and software applications, including software-as-a-service offerings, of certain third parties,
in order to host or operate some or all of certain key
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platform features or functions of our business, including our cloud-based services, customer relationship management activities, billing and order
management, and financial accounting services. Additionally, we will rely on computer hardware purchased in order to deliver our software and
services. We do not have control over the operations of the facilities of the third parties that we use. If any of these third-party services experience errors,
disruptions, security issues, or other performance deficiencies, if they are updated such that our software become incompatible, if these services,
software, or hardware fail or become unavailable due to extended outages, interruptions, defects, or otherwise, or if they are no longer available on
commercially reasonable terms or prices (or at all), these issues could result in errors or defects in our software, cause our software to fail, cause our
revenue and margins to decline, or cause our reputation and brand to be damaged, and we could be exposed to legal or contractual liability, our expenses
could increase, our ability to manage our operations could be interrupted, and our processes for managing our sales and servicing our customers could
be impaired until equivalent services or technology, if available, are identified, procured, and implemented, all of which may take significant time and
resources, increase our costs, and could adversely affect our business. Many of these third-party providers attempt to impose limitations on their liability
for such errors, disruptions, defects, performance deficiencies, or failures, and if enforceable, we may have additional liability to our customers or third-
party providers.

We may experience, disruptions, failures, data loss, outages, and other performance problems with our infrastructure and cloud-based offerings
due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, introductions of new functionality, human or software errors, employee misconduct,
capacity constraints, denial of service attacks, phishing attacks, computer viruses, malicious or destructive code, or other security-related incidents, and
our disaster recovery planning may not be sufficient for all situations. If we experience disruptions, failures, data loss, outages, or other performance
problems, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our systems and the third-party systems upon which we and our customers rely are also vulnerable to damage or interruption from catastrophic
occurrences such as earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunication failures, cybersecurity threats, terrorist attacks, natural disasters, public
health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic, geopolitical and similar events, or acts of misconduct. Despite any precautions we may take, the
occurrence of a catastrophic disaster or other unanticipated problems at our or our third-party vendors’ hosting facilities, or within our systems or the
systems of third parties upon which we rely, could result in interruptions, performance problems, or failure of our infrastructure, technology, or software,
which may adversely impact our business. In addition, our ability to conduct normal business operations could be severely affected. In the event of
significant physical damage to one of these facilities, it may take a significant period of time to achieve full resumption of our services, and our disaster
recovery planning may not account for all eventualities. In addition, any negative publicity arising from these disruptions could harm our reputation and
brand and adversely affect our business.

Any interruption in our service, whether as a result of an internal or third party issue, could damage our brand and reputation, cause our customers
to terminate or not renew their contracts with us or decrease use of our software and services, require us to indemnify our customers against certain
losses, result in our issuing credit or paying penalties or fines, subject us to other losses or liabilities, cause our software to be perceived as unreliable or
unsecure, and prevent us from gaining new or additional business from current or future customers, any of which could harm our business, financial
condition, and results of operations. Moreover, to the extent that we do not effectively address capacity constraints, upgrade our systems as needed, and
continually develop our technology and network architecture to accommodate actual and anticipated changes in technology, our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. The provisioning of additional cloud hosting capacity requires lead time. If any third
parties increase pricing terms, terminate, or seek to terminate our contractual relationship, establish more favorable relationships with our competitors,
or change or interpret their terms of service or policies in a manner that is unfavorable with respect to us, we may be required to transfer to other cloud
providers or invest in a private cloud. If we are required to transfer to other cloud providers or invest in a private cloud, we could incur significant costs
and experience possible service interruption in connection with doing so, or risk loss of customer contracts if they are unwilling to accept such a change.
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A failure to maintain our relationships with our third-party providers (or obtain adequate replacements), and to receive services from such
providers that do not contain any material errors or defects, could adversely affect our ability to deliver effective products and solutions to our customers
and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

A real or perceived defect, security vulnerability, error, or performance failure in our software could cause us to lose revenue, damage our
reputation, and expose us to liability.

Our products are inherently complex and may in the future, contain defects or errors, especially when first introduced, or not perform as
contemplated. These defects, security vulnerabilities, errors or performance failures could cause damage to our reputation, loss of customers or revenue,
product returns, order cancellations, service terminations, or lack of market acceptance of our software. As the use of our products, including products
that were recently acquired or developed, expands to more sensitive, secure, or mission critical uses by our customers, we may be subject to increased
scrutiny, potential reputational risk, or potential liability should our software fail to perform as contemplated in such deployments. We may in the future
need to issue corrective releases of our software to fix these defects, errors or performance failures, which could require us to allocate significant
research and development and customer support resources to address these problems. See the Risk Factor titled “If our information technology systems
or those of any third parties upon which we rely, our customers’ cloud or on-premises environments, or our data, are or were compromised, we could
experience adverse consequences resulting from such compromise, including but not limited to regulatory investigations or actions; litigation; fines and
penalties; disruptions of our business, reputational harm; loss of revenue or profits; loss of customers or sales; and other adverse consequences” for
additional information concerning security risks.

Any limitation of liability provisions that may be contained in our customer and partner agreements may not be effective as a result of existing or
future applicable law or unfavorable judicial decisions. The sale and support of our products entail the risk of liability claims, which could be substantial
in light of the use of our products in enterprise-wide environments. In addition, our insurance against this liability may not be adequate to cover a
potential claim.

We could incur substantial costs as a result of any claim of infringement, misappropriation or violation of another party’s intellectual property
rights.

In recent years, there has been significant litigation involving patents and other intellectual property rights in our industry. Companies providing
software are increasingly bringing and becoming subject to suits alleging infringement, misappropriation or violation of proprietary rights, particularly
patent rights, and to the extent we gain greater market visibility, we face a higher risk of being the subject of intellectual property infringement,
misappropriation or violation claims. We do not currently have a large patent portfolio, which could prevent us from deterring patent infringement
claims through our own patent portfolio, and our competitors and others may now and in the future have significantly larger and more mature patent
portfolios than we have. The risk of patent litigation has been amplified by the increase in the number of a type of patent holder, which we refer to as a
non-practicing entity, whose sole or principal business is to assert such claims and against whom our own intellectual property portfolio may provide
little deterrent value. We could incur substantial costs in prosecuting or defending any intellectual property litigation. If we sue to enforce our rights or
are sued by a third party that claims that our products infringe, misappropriate or violate their rights, the litigation could be expensive and could divert
our management resources.

Any intellectual property litigation to which we might become a party, or for which we are required to provide indemnification, may require us to
do one or more of the following:
 

 •  cease selling or using products that incorporate the intellectual property rights that we allegedly infringe, misappropriate or violate;
 

 •  make substantial payments for legal fees, settlement payments or other costs or damages;
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 •  obtain a license, which may not be available on reasonable terms or at all, to sell or use the relevant technology; or
 

 •  redesign the allegedly infringing products to avoid infringement, misappropriation or violation, which could be costly, time-consuming or
impossible.

If we are required to make substantial payments or undertake any of the other actions noted above as a result of any intellectual property
infringement, misappropriation or violation claims against us or any obligation to indemnify our customers for such claims, such payments or actions
could harm our business.

Unauthorized use of our proprietary technology and intellectual property could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our success and competitive position depend in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property rights protecting our products
and technologies. We rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, including patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets, as well as
contractual protections to establish and protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights. Unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or discover
aspects of our products or to obtain, license, sell or otherwise use information that we regard as proprietary. Policing unauthorized use of our products is
difficult and we may not be able to protect our technology from unauthorized use. Additionally, our competitors may independently develop
technologies that are substantially the same or superior to our technologies and that do not infringe our rights. In these cases, we would be unable to
prevent our competitors from selling or licensing these similar or superior technologies. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect
our proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Although the source code for our proprietary software is protected both as a
trade secret and as a copyrighted work, litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets, to determine
the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or to defend against claims of infringement or invalidity. Litigation, regardless of the outcome,
can be very expensive and can divert management’s efforts.

Our failure to protect our intellectual property rights and proprietary information could diminish our brand and other intangible assets.

As of December 31, 2023, we had twenty-one issued patents, including ten U.S. issued patents and 11 issued abroad. Our U.S. issued patents
expire between September 9, 2028, and April 18, 2031. We also have 19 pending patent applications, including two U.S. nonprovisional patent
applications, 13 U.S. provisional patent applications, one Patent Cooperation Treaty patent application, and three patent applications in other
jurisdictions. These patents and patent applications seek to protect our proprietary inventions relevant to our business, in addition to other proprietary
technologies. We intend to pursue additional intellectual property protection to the extent we believe it would be beneficial and cost-effective. We make
business decisions about when to seek patent protection for a particular technology and when to rely upon copyright or trade secret protection, and the
approach we select may ultimately prove to be inadequate. Even in cases where we seek patent protection, there is no assurance that the resulting patents
will effectively protect every significant feature of our products. In addition, we believe that the protection of our trademark rights is an important factor
in AI platform and application recognition, protecting our brand and maintaining goodwill. If we do not adequately protect our rights in our trademarks
from infringement and unauthorized use, any goodwill that we have developed in those trademarks could be lost or impaired, which could harm our
brand and our business. Third parties may knowingly or unknowingly infringe our proprietary rights, third parties may challenge our proprietary rights,
pending and future patent, trademark and copyright applications may not be approved, and we may not be able to prevent infringement without incurring
substantial expense. We have also devoted substantial resources to the development of our proprietary technologies and related processes. In order to
protect our proprietary technologies and processes, we rely in part on trade secret laws and confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants,
and third parties. These agreements may not effectively prevent unauthorized disclosure of confidential information and may not provide an adequate
remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. In addition, others may independently discover our trade secrets, in which
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case we would not be able to assert trade secret rights or develop similar technologies and processes. Further, laws in certain jurisdictions may afford
little or no trade secret protection, and any changes in, or unexpected interpretations of, the intellectual property laws in any country in which we operate
may compromise our ability to enforce our intellectual property rights. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and
determine the scope of our proprietary rights. If the protection of our proprietary rights is inadequate to prevent use or appropriation by third parties, the
value of our products, brand, and other intangible assets may be diminished, and competitors may be able to more effectively replicate our products.
Any of these events would harm our business.

Issues in the use of AI or machine learning in our software may result in reputational harm or liability.

We develop and use AI, including generative AI, and machine learning (ML) technologies in our products and services (collectively, “AI/ML”
technologies) and our employees and personnel may use AI/ML technologies to perform their work. AI/ML is a significant and potentially growing
element of our business. The development and use of AI/ML present various privacy and security risks that may impact our business. AI/ML
technologies are subject to privacy and data security laws, as well as increasing regulation and scrutiny. Several jurisdictions around the globe, including
Europe and certain U.S. states, have proposed enacted, or are considering laws governing the development and use of AI/ML, such as the EU’s AI Act.
We expect other jurisdictions will adopt similar laws.

AI/ML models such as those used in our products/services may create flawed, incomplete, or inaccurate outputs, some of which may appear
correct. This may happen if the inputs that the model relied on were inaccurate, incomplete or flawed (including if a bad actor “poisons” the model with
bad inputs or logic), or if the logic of the model is flawed (a so-called “hallucination”). We or our customers may also use AI/ML outputs to make
certain decisions. Due to these potential inaccuracies or flaws, the model could be biased and could lead us or our customers to make decisions that
could bias certain individuals (or classes of individuals), and adversely impact their rights, employment, and ability to obtain certain pricing, products,
services, or benefits or decisions that are otherwise harmful. If such AI-based outputs are deemed to be biased or otherwise harmful, we could face
adverse consequences, including exposure to reputational and competitive harm, customer loss, and legal liability. Additionally, any sensitive
information (including confidential, competitive, proprietary, or personal data) that we input into our own or third-party generative AI/ML models or
platforms could be leaked or disclosed to others. Where AI/ML models ingest personal data or other sensitive information and make connections using
such data, those technologies may reveal other personal or sensitive information generated by the model.

Certain privacy laws extend rights to consumers (such as the right to delete certain personal data) and regulate automated decision making in ways
that may be incompatible with our development and use of AI/ML. These obligations may make it harder for us to conduct our business using AI/ML,
lead to regulatory fines or penalties, require us to change our business practices, retrain our AI/ML models, or prevent or limit our use of AI/ML
technologies. For example, the FTC has required other companies to turn over (or disgorge) valuable insights or trainings generated through the use of
AI/ML where they allege the company has violated privacy and consumer protection laws. If we cannot develop or use AI/ML or such activities are
restricted, our business may be less efficient, or we may be at a competitive disadvantage. The use of AI/ML to assist us or our customers in making
certain decisions may also be regulated by certain privacy laws. For additional information on risks that privacy and data protection obligations could
pose to our business, see the Risk Factor titled “We are or may become subject to stringent and evolving U.S. and foreign laws, regulations, and rules,
contractual obligations, industry standards, policies and other obligations related to data privacy and security. Our actual or perceived failure to
comply with such obligations could lead to regulatory investigations or actions; litigation (including class claims) and mass arbitration demands; fines
and penalties; disruptions of our business operations; reputational harm; loss of revenue or profits; and other adverse business consequences.”

Furthermore, inappropriate or controversial data practices by data scientists, engineers, and end-users of our systems could impair the acceptance
of AI/ML solutions. If the recommendations, forecasts, or analyses that AI/
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ML applications assist in producing are deficient or inaccurate, we could be subjected to competitive harm, potential legal liability, and brand or
reputational harm., Additionally, some AI/ML use scenarios may present ethical issues. Though our technologies and business practices are designed to
mitigate many of these issues and risks, if we enable or offer AI solutions that are controversial because of their purported or real impact on human
rights, privacy, employment, or other social issues, we may experience brand or reputational harm.

We may be unable to respond quickly enough to changes in technology and technological risks and to develop our intellectual property into
commercially viable products.

Changes in legislative, regulatory or industry requirements or in competitive technologies may render certain of our products obsolete or less
attractive to our customers, which could adversely affect our results of operations. Our ability to anticipate changes in technology and regulatory
standards and to successfully develop and introduce new and enhanced products on a timely basis will be a significant factor in our ability to be
competitive. There is a risk that we will not be able to achieve the technological advances that may be necessary for us to be competitive or that certain
of our products will become obsolete. We are also subject to the risks generally associated with new product introductions and applications, including
lack of market acceptance, delays in product development and failure of products to operate properly. These risks could have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If our information technology systems or those of third parties upon which we rely, or our data are or were compromised, we could experience
adverse consequences resulting from such compromise, including but not limited to regulatory investigations or actions; litigation; fines and
penalties; disruptions of our business operations; reputational harm; loss of revenue or profits; and other adverse consequences.

In the ordinary course of our business, we and the third parties upon which we rely, collect, receive, store, process, generate, use, transfer,
disclose, make accessible, protect, secure, dispose of, transmit, and share (collectively, “process”) proprietary, confidential, and sensitive data, including
personal data (such as health-related data), intellectual property and trade secrets (collectively, “sensitive information”).

Our and our third-party vendors’ and business partners’ information technology systems may be damaged or compromised by malicious events,
such as cyberattacks, physical or electronic security breaches, malicious internet-based activity, online and offline fraud, natural disasters, fire, power
loss, telecommunications failures, personnel misconduct and human error.

Such threats are prevalent and continue to rise, are increasingly difficult to detect, and come from a variety of sources, including internal bad
actors, such as employees or contractors (through theft or misuse), or third parties (including traditional computer hackers, “hacktivists,” persons
involved with organized crime, or sophisticated foreign state or foreign state-supported actors).

Cybersecurity threats can employ a wide variety of methods and techniques, which are constantly evolving, and have become increasingly
complex and sophisticated; all of which increase the difficulty of detecting and successfully defending against them. We and the third parties upon
which we rely are subject to a variety of these evolving threats, including but not limited to social-engineering attacks (including through deep fakes,
which may be increasingly more difficult to identify as fake, and phishing attacks), malicious code (such as viruses and worms), malware (including as a
result of advanced persistent threat intrusions), denial-of-service attacks (such as credential stuffing), credential harvesting, personnel misconduct or
error, ransomware attacks, supply-chain attacks, software bugs, server malfunctions, software or hardware failures, loss of data or other information
technology assets, adware, telecommunications failures, earthquakes, fires, floods, and other similar threats. In particular, severe ransomware attacks are
becoming increasingly prevalent – particularly for companies like ours that are engaged in critical infrastructure or manufacturing – and can lead to
significant interruptions in our operations, loss of sensitive data and income, reputational harm, and diversion of funds. Extortion payments may
alleviate the negative impact of a ransomware attack, but we may be unwilling or unable to make such payments
 

35



Table of Contents

due to, for example, applicable laws or regulations prohibiting such payments. Furthermore, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access
or sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not identified until after they are launched against a target, we and our third-party vendors and
business partners may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures.

Remote work has become more common and has increased risks to our information technology systems and data, as more of our employees utilize
network connections, computers, and devices outside our premises or network, including working at home, while in transit and in public locations.
Additionally, future or past business transactions (such as acquisitions or integrations) could expose us to additional cybersecurity risks and
vulnerabilities, as our systems could be negatively affected by vulnerabilities present in acquired or integrated entities’ systems and technologies.
Furthermore, we may discover security issues that were not found during due diligence of such acquired or integrated entities, and it may be difficult to
integrate companies into our information technology environment and security program.

We rely on third-party service providers and technologies to operate critical business systems to process sensitive information in a variety of
contexts, including, without limitation, cloud-based infrastructure, data center facilities, encryption and authentication technology, and other functions.
We also rely on third-party service providers to provide other products, services, parts, or otherwise to operate our business. Our ability to monitor these
third parties’ information security practices is limited, and these third parties may not have adequate information security measures in place. Certain of
the third parties on which we rely have in the past, and may in the future, experience cybersecurity incidents. We could experience adverse
consequences resulting from any security incidents or other interruptions experienced by third-party service providers. While we may be entitled to
damages if our third-party service providers fail to satisfy their privacy or security-related obligations to us, any award may be insufficient to cover our
damages, or we may be unable to recover such award and our reputation could be harmed. In addition, supply-chain attacks have increased in frequency
and severity, and we cannot guarantee that third parties’ infrastructure in our supply chain or our third-party partners’ supply chains have not been
compromised.

We, and the third-party business partners and vendors upon which we rely, have experienced, and may in the future experience, cybersecurity
threats, including threats or attempts to disrupt our information technology infrastructure and unauthorized attempts to gain access to sensitive or
confidential information. Although prior cyberattacks directed at us have not had a material impact on our financial results, and we are continuing to
bolster our threat detection and mitigation processes and procedures, we cannot guarantee that future cyberattacks, if successful, will not have a material
impact on our business or financial results. While we have security measures in place designed to protect our information and our customers’
information and to prevent data loss and other security incidents, we have not always been able to do so and there can be no assurance that in the future
these measures will be successful. Security incidents could result in unauthorized, unlawful, or accidental acquisition, modification, destruction, loss,
alteration, encryption, disclosure of, or access to our sensitive information or our information technology systems, or those of the third parties upon
whom we rely. A security incident or other interruption could disrupt our ability (and that of third parties upon whom we rely) to provide our platform
and services.

We may expend significant resources or modify our business activities to try to protect against security incidents. Certain data privacy and security
obligations may require us to implement and maintain specific security measures or industry-standard or reasonable security measures to protect our
information technology systems and sensitive information.

We take steps to detect and remediate vulnerabilities, but we may not be able to detect and remediate all vulnerabilities because the threats and
techniques used to exploit the vulnerability change frequently and are often sophisticated in nature. Therefore, such vulnerabilities could be exploited
but may not be detected until after a security incident has occurred. These vulnerabilities pose material risks to our business. Further, we may experience
delays in developing and deploying remedial measures designed to address any such identified vulnerabilities.
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Applicable data privacy and security obligations may require us to provide notice of data security incidents involving certain types of data,
including personal data. Such disclosures are costly, and the disclosure or the failure to comply with such requirements could lead to adverse
consequences.

Actual or perceived breaches of security measures, unauthorized access to our system or the systems of the third-party vendors that we rely upon,
or any other cybersecurity threats may cause us to experience adverse consequences, such as government enforcement actions (for example,
investigations, fines, penalties, audits, and inspections); additional reporting requirements and/or oversight; restrictions on processing sensitive
information (including personal data); litigation (including class claims); indemnification obligations; negative publicity; reputational harm; monetary
fund diversions; interruptions in our operations (including availability of data); financial loss; and other similar harms. Security incidents and attendant
consequences may cause customers to stop using our platform and services, deter new customers from using our platform and services, and negatively
impact our ability to grow and operate our business.

In addition, our reliance on third-party service providers and business partners could introduce new cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities,
including supply-chain attacks, and other threats to our business operations. We rely on third-party service providers and technologies to operate critical
business systems to process sensitive data in a variety of contexts, including, without limitation, cloud-based infrastructure, data center facilities,
encryption and authentication technology and other functions. Our ability to monitor these third parties’ information security practices is limited, and
these third parties may not have adequate information security measures in place. Our contracts may not contain limitations on liability. There can be no
assurance that any limitations of liability provisions in our contracts or license arrangements with customers or in our agreements with vendors, partners,
or others would be enforceable, applicable, or adequate or would otherwise protect us from any such liabilities or damages with respect to any claim.

In addition to experiencing a security incident, third parties may gather, collect, or infer sensitive information about us from public sources, data
brokers, or other means that reveals competitively sensitive details about our organization and could be used to undermine our competitive advantage or
market position. Additionally, sensitive information of the Company or our customers could be leaked, disclosed, or revealed as a result of or in
connection with our employee’s, personnel’s, or vendor’s use of generative AI technologies.

Any or all of the above issues, or the perception that any of them have occurred, could result in adverse consequences including, but not limited
to, business interruptions and diversions of funds, decreased ability to attract new customers, existing customers deciding to terminate or not renew their
agreements, reduced ability to obtain and maintain required or desirable cybersecurity certifications, reputational damage, government enforcement
actions (for example, investigations, fines, penalties, audits, and inspections), and private litigation (including class claims), any of which could
materially adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition, and future prospects. There can be no assurance that any limitations of liability
provisions in our license arrangements with customers or in our agreements with vendors, partners, or others would be enforceable, applicable, or
adequate or would otherwise protect us from any such liabilities or damages with respect to any claim.

We are or may become subject to stringent and evolving U.S. and foreign laws, regulations, and rules, contractual obligations, industry standards,
policies and other obligations related to data privacy and security. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could lead to
regulatory investigations or actions; litigation (including class claims) and mass arbitration demands; fines and penalties; disruptions of our
business operations; reputational harm; loss of revenue or profits; and other adverse business consequences.

In the ordinary course of business, we collect, receive, store, process, generate, use, transfer, disclose, make accessible, protect, secure, dispose of,
transmit, and share (collectively, process) personal data and other sensitive information, including proprietary and confidential business data, trade
secrets, intellectual property, sensitive thirdparty data and health data (collectively, “sensitive data”).
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Our data processing activities mean that we are or may become subject to numerous data privacy and security obligations, such as various laws,
regulations, guidance, industry standards, external and internal privacy and security policies, contractual requirements, and other obligations relating to
data privacy and security.

In the United States, federal, state, and local governments have enacted numerous data privacy and security laws, including data breach
notification laws, personal data privacy laws, consumer protection laws (e.g., Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act), and other similar laws
(e.g., wiretapping laws). For example, the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), as amended by the Health
Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH”), imposes specific requirements relating to the privacy, security, and
transmission of individually identifiable protected health information.

In the past few years, numerous U.S. states—including California, Virginia, Colorado, Connecticut, and Utah—have enacted comprehensive
privacy laws that impose certain obligations on covered businesses, including providing specific disclosures in privacy notices and affording residents
with certain rights concerning their personal data. As applicable, such rights may include the right to access, correct, or delete certain personal data, and
to optout of certain data processing activities, such as targeted advertising, profiling, and automated decision-making. To the extent that we are or may
become subject to such laws, the exercise of these rights may impact our business and ability to provide our products and services. Certain states also
impose stricter requirements for processing certain personal data, including sensitive information, such as conducting data privacy impact assessments.
These state laws allow for statutory fines for noncompliance. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, as amended by the California
Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (“CPRA”) (collectively, “CCPA”), applies to personal data of consumers, business representatives, and employees who are
California residents, and requires businesses to provide specific disclosures in privacy notices and honor requests of such individuals to exercise certain
privacy rights. The CCPA provides for fines of up to $7,500 per intentional violation and allows private litigants affected by certain data breaches to
recover significant statutory damages.

Similar laws are being considered in several other states, as well as at the federal and local levels, and we expect more states to pass similar laws
in the future. These developments may further complicate compliance efforts and increase legal risk and compliance costs for us and the third parties
upon whom we rely.

Outside the United States, an increasing number of laws, regulations, and industry standards govern data privacy and security. For example, the
European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (“EU GDPR”), the United Kingdom’s GDPR (“UK GDPR”), Brazil’s General Data Protection
Law (Lei Geral de Proteção de Dados Pessoais, or “LGPD”) (Law No. 13,709/2018), and China’s Personal Information Protection Law (“PIPL”) impose
strict requirements for processing personal data. For example, under GDPR, companies may face temporary or definitive bans on data processing and
other corrective actions; fines of up to 20 million Euros under the EU GDPR, 17.5 million pounds sterling under the UK GDPR or, in each case, 4% of
annual global revenue, whichever is greater; or private litigation related to processing of personal data brought by classes of data subjects or consumer
protection organizations authorized at law to represent their interests.

In addition, we may be unable to transfer personal data from Europe and other jurisdictions to the United States or other countries due to data
localization requirements or limitations on cross-border data flows. Europe and other jurisdictions have enacted laws requiring data to be localized or
limiting the transfer of personal data to other countries. In particular, the European Economic Area (EEA) and the United Kingdom (UK) have
significantly restricted the transfer of personal data to the United States and other countries whose privacy laws it generally believes are inadequate.
Other jurisdictions may adopt similarly stringent interpretations of their data localization and cross-border data transfer laws. Although there are
currently various mechanisms that may be used to transfer personal data from the EEA and UK to the United States in compliance with law, such as the
EEA’s standard contractual clauses, the UK’s International Data Transfer Agreement / Addendum, and the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework and the
UK extension thereto (which allows for transfers to relevant U.S.-based organizations who selfcertify compliance and participate in the Framework),
these mechanisms are subject to
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legal challenges, and there is no assurance that we can satisfy or rely on these measures to lawfully transfer personal data to the United States. If there is
no lawful manner for us to transfer personal data from the EEA, the UK, or other jurisdictions to the United States, or if the requirements for a legally-
compliant transfer are too onerous, we could face significant adverse consequences, including the interruption or degradation of our operations, the need
to relocate part of or all of our business or data processing activities to other jurisdictions (such as Europe) at significant expense, increased exposure to
regulatory actions, substantial fines and penalties, the inability to transfer data and work with partners, vendors and other third parties, and injunctions
against our processing or transferring of personal data necessary to operate our business. Additionally, companies that transfer personal data out of the
EEA and UK to other jurisdictions, particularly to the United States, are subject to increased scrutiny from regulators, individual litigants, and activities
groups. Some European regulators have ordered certain companies to suspend or permanently cease certain transfers of personal data out of Europe for
allegedly violating the GDPR’s cross-border data transfer limitations.

In addition to data privacy and security laws, we are or may become contractually subject to industry standards adopted by industry groups and
may become subject to such obligations in the future. Additionally, we are or may become bound by other contractual obligations related to data privacy
and security, and our efforts to comply with such obligations may not be successful.

We publish privacy policies, marketing materials, and other statements, such as compliance with certain certifications or self-regulatory principles,
regarding data privacy and security. If these policies, materials or statements are found to be deficient, lacking in transparency, deceptive, unfair, or
misrepresentative of our practices, we may be subject to investigation, enforcement actions by regulators, or other adverse consequences.

Obligations related to data privacy and security (and consumers’ data privacy expectations) are quickly changing, becoming increasingly
stringent, and creating uncertainty. Additionally, these obligations may be subject to differing applications and interpretations, which may be
inconsistent or conflict among jurisdictions. Preparing for and complying with these obligations requires us to devote significant resources and may
necessitate changes to our services, information technologies, systems, and practices and to those of any third parties that process personal data on our
behalf.

We may at times fail (or be perceived to have failed) in our efforts to comply with our data privacy and security obligations. Moreover, despite our
efforts, our personnel or third parties on whom we rely may fail to comply with such obligations, which could negatively impact our business
operations. If we or the third parties on which we rely fail, or are perceived to have failed, to address or comply with applicable data privacy and
security obligations, we could face significant consequences, including but not limited to: government enforcement actions (e.g., investigations, fines,
penalties, audits, inspections, and similar); litigation (including class-action claims) and mass arbitration demands; additional reporting requirements
and/or oversight; bans on processing personal data; and orders to destroy or not use personal data. In particular, plaintiffs have become increasingly
more active in bringing privacy-related claims against companies, including class claims and mass arbitration demands. Some of these claims allow for
the recovery of statutory damages on a per violation basis, and, if viable, carry the potential for monumental statutory damages, depending on the
volume of data and the number of violations. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, or financial condition,
including but not limited to: loss of customers; inability to process personal data or to operate in certain jurisdictions; limited ability to develop or
commercialize our products; expenditure of time and resources to defend any claim or inquiry; adverse publicity; or substantial changes to our business
model or operations.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock

A market for our Common Stock may not be sustained, which would adversely affect the liquidity and price of our Common Stock. If securities or
industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about our business, the price and liquidity of our Common
Stock could decline.

The trading market for our Common Stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or
our business. We do not currently have and may never obtain research
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coverage by securities and industry analysts. If no or few securities or industry analysts commence coverage of us, the trading price for our Common
Stock would be negatively impacted. In the event we obtain securities or industry analyst coverage, if any of the analysts who cover us issue an adverse
or misleading opinion regarding us, our business model, our intellectual property or our stock performance, or if our results of operations fail to meet the
expectations of analysts, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us
regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We intend to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and expansion of its business and we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends
in the foreseeable future. Moreover, the terms of any revolving credit facility into which we or any of our subsidiaries enters may restrict its ability to
pay dividends, and any additional debt we or any of our subsidiaries may incur in the future may include similar restrictions. As a result, shareholders
must rely on sales of their Common Stock after price appreciation as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment.

We will incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is required to devote substantial time to compliance
with our public company responsibilities and corporate governance practices.

As a company with publicly-traded securities, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, the listing requirements of the Nasdaq and other
applicable securities laws and regulations. These rules and regulations require that we adopt additional controls and procedures and disclosure, corporate
governance and other practices thereby significantly increasing our legal, financial and other compliance costs. These new obligations will also make
other aspects of our business more difficult, time-consuming or costly and increase demand on our personnel, systems and other resources. For example,
to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we will need to commit
significant resources, hire additional staff and provide additional management oversight. Furthermore, as a result of disclosure of information in this
proxy statement/prospectus and in our Exchange Act and other filings required of a public company, our business and financial condition will become
more visible, which we believe may give some of our competitors who may not be similarly required to disclose this type of information a competitive
advantage. In addition to these added costs and burdens, if we are unable to satisfy our obligations as a public company, we could be subject to delisting
of our Common Stock, fines, sanctions, other regulatory actions and civil litigation, any of which could negatively affect the price of our Common
Stock.

Nasdaq may delist our securities from trading on its exchange, which could limit investors’ ability to make transactions in our securities and subject
us to additional trading restrictions.

Our Common Stock and Public Warrants are listed on Nasdaq under the symbols “BNAI” and “BNAIW”, respectively. In order to continue listing
our securities on Nasdaq, we are required to maintain certain financial, distribution and stock price levels. Generally, we will be required to maintain a
minimum market capitalization and a minimum number of holders of our securities.

If Nasdaq delists our Common Stock from trading on its exchange and we are not able to list our securities on another national securities
exchange, we expect that our securities could be quoted on an over-the-counter market. If this were to occur, we could face significant material adverse
consequences, including:
 

 •  a limited availability of market quotations for its securities;
 

 •  reduced liquidity for its securities;
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 •  a determination that our Common Stock is a “penny stock” which will require brokers trading in our Common Stock to adhere to more
stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for the Company’s securities;

 

 •  a limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and
 

 •  a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

Failure to establish and maintain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material
adverse effect on our business and stock price.

We are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which will require management
to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of controls
over financial reporting. As an emerging growth company, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to formally attest to
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(a) until the later of (i) the year following our first annual report
required to be filed with the SEC or (ii) we are no longer an emerging growth company. At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm
may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which its controls are documented, designed or operating.

Prior to the Business Combination, Legacy BEN did not have any internal audit function. To comply with the requirements of being a public
company, we have undertaken various actions, and will need to take additional actions, such as implementing numerous internal controls and procedures
and hiring additional accounting or internal audit staff or consultants. Testing and maintaining internal control can divert management’s attention from
other matters that are important to the operation of our business. If we identify any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting
or are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner or assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective,
or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting once we are no longer an emerging growth company, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports
and the market price of our Common Stock could be negatively affected. We could also become subject to investigations by the SEC, Nasdaq or other
regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources. In addition, if we fail to remedy any material weakness, our
financial statements could be inaccurate and we could face restricted access to capital markets.

Delaware law and provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws could make a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest difficult, thereby
depressing the trading price of our Common Stock.

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws will contain provisions that could depress the trading price of its our Common Stock by acting to
discourage, delay, or prevent a change of control or changes in our management that our stockholders may deem advantageous. These provisions include
the following:
 

 •  a classified board of directors so that not all members of the Board are elected at one time;
 

 •  the right of the board of directors to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly created directorship;
 

 •  director removal solely for cause;
 

 •  super-majority voting to amend certain provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and any provision of our Bylaws;
 

 •  “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a shareholder rights plan ;
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 •  the right of our board of directors to issue our authorized but unissued Common Stock and Preferred Stock without stockholder approval
 

 •  no ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;
 

 •  no right of our stockholders to act by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders
 

 •  limitations on the liability of, and the provision of indemnification to, our director and officers;
 

 •  the right of the board of directors to make, alter, or repeal our Bylaws; and
 

 •  advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at annual stockholder meetings

In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL. Section 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a business
combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date such person becomes an interested stockholder, unless the
business combination or the transaction in which such person becomes an interested stockholder is approved in a prescribed manner. Generally, a
“business combination” includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. Generally,
an “interested stockholder” is a person that, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years prior to the determination of interested
stockholder status did own, 15.0% or more of a corporation’s voting stock. The existence of this provision may have an anti-takeover effect with respect
to transactions not approved in advance by the Board and the anti-takeover effect includes discouraging attempts that might result in a premium over the
market price for the shares of our Common Stock.

Any provision of our Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws that has the effect of delaying or deterring a change in control could limit the
opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our Common Stock, and could also affect the price that some investors are
willing to pay for our Common Stock.

The provision in our Certificate of Incorporation requiring exclusive venue in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware and the federal
district courts of the United States for certain types of lawsuits may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against directors and officers.

Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that, unless otherwise consented to by us in writing, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or,
if and only if the Court of Chancery lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any state court located within the State of Delaware or, if and only if all such state
courts lack subject matter jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) and any appellate court therefrom shall be the sole and
exclusive forum for the following claims or causes of action under Delaware statutory or common law: (i) any derivative claim or cause of action
brought on behalf of the Company; (ii) any claim or cause of action for breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer or
other employee or shareholder of the Company, to the Company or the Company’s shareholders; (iii) any claim or cause of action against the Company
or any current or former director, officer or other employee of the Company, arising out of or pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, the charter or the
Bylaws of the Company (as each may be amended from time to time); (iv) any claim or cause of action seeking to interpret, apply, enforce or determine
the validity of the Proposed Charter or the Bylaws of the Company (as each may be amended from time to time, including any right, obligation, or
remedy thereunder); (v) any claim or cause of action as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware; and
(vi) any claim or cause of action against this corporation or any current or former director, officer or other employee of the Company, governed by the
internal-affairs doctrine or otherwise relate to the Company’s internal affairs, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law and subject to
the court having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. The Certificate of Incorporation further providers that, unless
the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the federal district courts of
the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint
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asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, including all causes of action asserted against any defendant named in such complaint. Any
person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in the Company’s securities will be deemed to have notice of and consented to this
provision.

Although the Certificate of Incorporation contains the choice of forum provisions described above, it is possible that a court could rule that such
provisions are inapplicable for a particular claim or action or that such provisions are unenforceable. For example, under the Securities Act, federal
courts have concurrent jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act, and investors cannot waive
compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. In addition, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive
federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, and,
therefore, the exclusive forum provisions described above do not apply to any actions brought under the Exchange Act.

Although we believe these provisions will benefit us by limiting costly and time-consuming litigation in multiple forums and by providing
increased consistency in the application of applicable law, these exclusive forum provisions may make it more expensive for stockholders to bring a
claim than if the stockholders were permitted to select another jurisdiction and may limit the ability of our shareholders to bring a claim in a judicial
forum that such shareholders find favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us
and our directors, officers and other employees.

Future sales of shares by existing shareholders could cause our stock price to decline.

If our existing shareholders sell or indicate an intention to sell substantial amounts of our Common Stock in the public market, the trading price of
our Common Stock could decline. In addition, shares underlying any outstanding options and restricted stock units will become eligible for sale if
exercised or settled, as applicable, and to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting agreements and Rule 144 of the Securities Act. All
the shares of our Common Stock subject to stock options outstanding and reserved for issuance under our equity incentive plans are expected to be
registered on Form S-8 under the Securities Act and such shares are eligible for sale in the public markets, subject to Rule 144 limitations applicable to
affiliates. If these additional shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold in the public market, the trading price of our Common Stock could
decline.

Although the Sponsor is subject to certain restrictions regarding the transfer of our Common Stock, these shares may be sold after the expiration
of their respective lock-ups. We intends to file one or more registration statements to provide for the resale of such shares from time to time. As
restrictions on resale end and the registration statements are available for use, the market price of our Common Stock could decline if the holders of
currently restricted shares sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to sell them.

Our business and operations could be negatively affected if we become subject to any securities litigation or shareholder activism, which could cause
us to incur significant expense, hinder execution of business and growth strategy and impact its stock price.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought
against that company. Shareholder activism, which could take many forms or arise in a variety of situations, has been increasing recently. Volatility in
the stock price of our Common Stock or other reasons may in the future cause it to become the target of securities litigation or shareholder activism.
Securities litigation and shareholder activism, including potential proxy contests, could result in substantial costs and divert management’s and the
Board’s attention and resources from our business. Additionally, such securities litigation and shareholder activism could give rise to perceived
uncertainties as to our future, adversely affect our relationships with service providers and make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel.
Also, we may be required to incur significant legal fees and other expenses related to
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any securities litigation and activist shareholder matters. Further, its stock price could be subject to significant fluctuation or otherwise be adversely
affected by the events, risks and uncertainties of any securities litigation and shareholder activism.

If our operating and financial performance in any given period does not meet the guidance provided to the public or the expectations of investment
analysts, the market price of our Common Stock may decline.

We may, but are not obligated to, provide public guidance on our expected operating and financial results for future periods. Any such guidance
will consist of forward-looking statements, subject to the risks and uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our other public
filings and public statements. The ability to provide this public guidance, and the ability to accurately forecast our results of operations, could be
impacted by the global macroeconomic events, such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the current conflict in Ukraine and in the Middle East. Our actual
results may not always be in line with or exceed any guidance we have provided, especially in times of unfavorable or uncertain economic and market
conditions, such as the current global economic uncertainty experienced as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the current inflationary environment
in the United States. If, in the future, our operating or financial results for a particular period do not meet any guidance provided or the expectations of
investment analysts, or if we reduce our guidance for future periods, the market price of our Common Stock may decline as well. Even if we do issue
public guidance, there can be no assurance that we will continue to do so in the future.

Our management does not have prior experience in operating a public company.

Our management does not have prior experience in managing a publicly traded company. As such, the management team may encounter
difficulties in successfully or effectively complying with our reporting and other obligations under federal securities laws and other regulations and in
connection with operating as a public company. Their lack of prior experience in dealing with the reporting and other obligations and laws pertaining to
public companies could result in management being required to devote significant time to these activities, which may result in less time being devoted to
our management and growth. Additionally, we will be required to hire additional personnel with the appropriate level of knowledge, experience, and
training in the accounting policies, practices or internal controls over financial reporting required of public companies. We may be required to incur
significant expense in connection with these efforts.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk management and strategy

We have implemented and maintain various information security processes designed to identify, assess and manage material risks from
cybersecurity threats to our critical computer networks, third-party hosted services, communications systems, hardware and software, and our critical
data, including intellectual property, confidential information that is proprietary, strategic or competitive in nature, and sensitive personal information
such as health information (“Information Systems and Data”).

Our Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”), Chief Technology Officer (“CTO”), Chief Information and Data Officer (“CIDO”), information
security function, Information and Data Organization Department, and engineering operations help identify, assess and manage the Company’s
cybersecurity threats and risks. They also identify and assess risks from cybersecurity threats by monitoring and evaluating our threat environment using
various methods including, for example, manual tools, automated tools, subscribing to reports and services that identify cybersecurity threats, analyzing
reports of threats and actors, conducting scans of the threat environment, evaluating the risk profile of the Company and its industry, evaluating threats
reported to the Company, and coordinating with law enforcement concerning threats.
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Depending on the environment, systems, and data at issue, we implement and maintain various technical, physical, and organizational measures,
processes, standards and policies designed to manage and mitigate material risks from cybersecurity threats to our Information Systems and Data,
including, for example, an incident response policy, incident detection and response, a vulnerability management policy, risk assessments, a disaster
recovery and business continuity plan, implementation of security standards/certifications, encryption of data, network security controls, data
segregation, access controls, and physical security.

Our assessment and management of material risks from cybersecurity threats are integrated into the Company’s overall risk management
processes. For example, security management works with management to prioritize our risk management processes and mitigate cybersecurity threats
that are more likely to lead to a material impact to our business and our senior management evaluates material risks from cybersecurity threats against
our overall business objectives and reports to the board of directors, which evaluates our overall enterprise risk.

We use third-party service providers to assist us from time to time to identify, assess, and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats,
including for example professional services firms (including legal counsel), threat intelligence service providers, cybersecurity consultants,
cybersecurity software providers, and managed cybersecurity service providers.

We use third-party service providers to perform a variety of functions throughout our business, such as hosting companies. We have a vendor
management program to manage cybersecurity risks associated with our use of these providers. The program includes a risk assessment for each vendor,
a security questionnaire, review of the vendor’s written security program, review of security assessments, and reports. Depending on the nature of the
services provided, the sensitivity of the Information Systems and Data at issue, and the identity of the provider, our vendor management process may
involve different levels of assessment designed to help identify cybersecurity risks associated with a provider and impose contractual obligations related
to cybersecurity on the provider.

For a description of the risks from cybersecurity threats that may materially affect the Company and how they may do so, see our risk factors
under Part 1. Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the risk factor captioned “If our information technology systems or
those of third parties upon which we rely, or our data are or were compromised, we could experience adverse consequences resulting from such
compromise, including but not limited to regulatory investigations or actions; litigation; fines and penalties; disruptions of our business operations;
reputational harm; loss of revenue or profits; and other adverse consequences.”

Governance

Our board of directors addresses the Company’s cybersecurity risk management as part of its general oversight function. Our cybersecurity risk
assessment and management processes are implemented and maintained by certain Company management, including our CISO and our CIDO. Our
CISO has over 23 years of experience in cybersecurity, including expertise in the CIS Controls and MITRE ATT&CK frameworks and experience as a
Core Team Member of the OWASP Top 10 for LLM Applications Project. Our CIDO’s qualifications include seven years of experience as a Data
Officer in the healthcare industry.

Our CISO and CIDO are responsible for hiring appropriate personnel, helping to integrate cybersecurity risk considerations into the Company’s
overall risk management strategy, and communicating key priorities to relevant personnel. Our CISO and CIDO, subject to the approval of the Chief
Financial Officer, are responsible for approving budgets, helping prepare for cybersecurity incidents, approving cybersecurity processes, and reviewing
security assessments and other security-related reports.

Our cybersecurity incident response and vulnerability response policies are designed to escalate certain cybersecurity incidents to members of
management depending on the circumstances, including to our CISO,
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CIDO, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer. Our CISO and CIDO work with the Company’s incident response team to help the
Company mitigate and remediate cybersecurity incidents of which they are notified. In addition, the Company’s incident response and vulnerability
management policies include reporting to the board of directors for certain cybersecurity incidents.

The board of directors receives periodic reports from Company management, including our CISO and our CIDO, concerning the Company’s
significant cybersecurity threats and risk and the processes the Company has implemented to address them. The board of directors also has access to
various reports, summaries or presentations related to cybersecurity threats, risk and mitigation.

Item 2. Properties

We do not maintain any material properties.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of our business. We are not
presently a party to any legal proceedings that, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results, cash flows or financial condition. Defending such proceedings is costly and can impose a significant burden on management
and employees. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an
adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
 

46



Table of Contents

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

(a) Market Information

Our Common Stock and Public Warrants have traded on Nasdaq under the symbols “BNAI” and “BNAIW”, respectively, since March 15, 2024.
Prior to that date, DHC’s units, Class A ordinary and warrants were each traded on Nasdaq under the symbols “DHCAU,” “DHCA” and “DHCAW,”
respectively.

(b) Holders

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, there were 98 holders of record of our Common Stock and 2 holders of record for our Public
Warrants.

(c) Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common or preferred stock and do not anticipate paying any such cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. We intend to retain future earnings, if any, for reinvestment in the development and expansion of our business.

(d) Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Prior to the closing of the Business Combination, DHC did not have any securities authorized for issuance under equity incentive compensation
plans. At a special meeting of our shareholders held on March 5, 2024, our shareholders approved the 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which was
adopted in connection with the closing of the Business Combination. The 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”) of Legacy BEN was terminated
as of immediately prior to the closing of the Business Combination; however, the 2021 Plan continues to govern the terms and conditions of the
outstanding awards previously granted thereunder.

(e) Performance Graph

Not applicable.

(f) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Offerings.

None.

(g) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Not applicable.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our
audited financial statements and the notes related thereto which are included in “Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Certain information contained in the discussion and analysis set forth below includes forward-looking statements.
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Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including those set forth
under “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are an emerging provider of conversational AI assistants, with the purpose of transforming engagement and analytics for businesses through
our security-focused, multimodal communication and human-like assistants. Our AI assistants are built on proprietary natural language processing,
anomaly detection, multisensory awareness, sentiment and environmental analysis, as well as real-time individuation and personalization capabilities.

We were originally incorporated in 2020 as a Cayman Islands corporation, formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, share exchange, asset
acquisition, share purchase, reorganization or similar business combination with one or more businesses. On March 4, 2021 (the “IPO Closing Date”),
we consummated our initial public offering (the “IPO”). On March 13, 2024, we migrated to and domesticated as a Delaware corporation in accordance
with Section 388 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended, and the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands (the
“Domestication”). On March 14, 2024, we consummated a business combination with Brand Engagement Network Inc., a Wyoming corporation
(“Legacy BEN”), which merged into our subsidiary, BEN Merger Subsidiary Corp., a Delaware corporation (“Merger Sub” and such business
combination, the “Business Combination”) and changed our name to Brand Engagement Network Inc.

On July 25, 2022, we entered into a Business Combination Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (the “Glorifi Business Combination
Agreement”), by and among the Company, Glory Merger Subsidiary Corp., a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (“Merger Sub”) and With Purpose, Inc. (d/b/a GloriFi, Inc.) a Delaware corporation (“GloriFi”). On January 26, 2023, we sent GloriFi written
notice that we had terminated the Glorifi Business Combination Agreement, pursuant to Section 9.01(i) and Section 9.01(f) the Business Combination
Agreement. Our decision to terminate the Glorifi Business Combination Agreement took into account the fact that GloriFi had previously publicly
announced that GloriFi was winding down its operations and closing its digital banking platform and other products.

Recent Developments

On March 14, 2024 (the “Closing Date”), Brand Engagement Network Inc., a Delaware corporation f/k/a DHC Acquisition Corp (“BEN,” the
“Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”), consummated the previously announced business combination pursuant to that certain Business Combination
Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of September 7, 2023 (the “Business Combination Agreement”), by and among the Company, BEN
Merger Subsidiary Corp. (f/k/a Glory Merger Subsidiary Corp.), Brand Engagement Network Inc., a Wyoming corporation (“Legacy BEN”) and DHC
Sponsor, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Sponsor”), following approval thereof at a special meeting of the Company’s stockholders held
on March 5, 2024 (the “Special Meeting”).

The Business Combination is accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Under this method of accounting, BEN is
treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the consolidated financial statements of the
combined company will represent a continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Legacy BEN with the Business Combination treated as the
equivalent of Legacy BEN issuing stock for the net assets of BEN, accompanied by a recapitalization.

We received net proceeds from the Business Combination totaling $7.1 million inclusive of the remaining cash held in the Trust Account and
proceeds from Legacy BEN’s private placement offering in connection with
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the Business Combination, prior to deduction transaction and issuance costs. The cash resulting from the Business Combination is expected to be used
toward payment of transaction expenses. The cash raised from the Business Combination is expected to be used to fund operations and general working
capital requirements.

Results of Operations

As the closing of the Business Combination did not occur until after the year ended December 31, 2023, the results of operations below are based
on the fact that we have neither engaged in any operations nor generated any revenues to the date of the financial statements. Our only activities through
December 31, 2023 were organizational activities, those necessary to prepare for the Initial Public Offering, described below, and identifying a target
company for a Business Combination. We did not expect to generate any operating revenues until after the completion of our Business Combination. We
generated non-operating income in the form of interest income on marketable securities held in the Trust Account. We incur expenses as a result of
being a public company (for legal, financial reporting, accounting and auditing compliance), as well as for due diligence expenses.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we had a net loss of $6,879,994, which consists of change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $164,410,
expense related to non-redemption agreements of $8,614,541 and operating and formation costs of $2,809,965, offset by interest earned on investments
held in Trust Account of $4,360,578 and forgiveness of deferred underwriting fee of $348,344.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we had a net income of $7,206,713, which consists of interest earned on investments held in Trust
Account of $4,462,497 and a change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $8,135,024, offset by operating and formation costs of $5,390,808.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

On March 4, 2021, we consummated the Initial Public Offering of 30,000,000 Units at $10.00 per Unit, generating gross proceeds of
$300,000,000. Simultaneously with the closing of the Initial Public Offering, we consummated the sale of 6,000,000 Private Placement Warrants at a
price of $1.50 per Private Placement Warrant in a private placement to the Sponsor, generating gross proceeds of $9,000,000.

On March 5, 2021, the underwriters of our initial public offering partially exercised their over-allotment option, and we consummated the sale of
an additional 945,072 Units at a price of $10.00 per Unit, generating total gross proceeds of $9,450,720. In addition, we also consummated the sale of an
additional 126,010 private placement warrants at $1.50 per private warrant, generating total gross proceeds of $189,015.

Following the Initial Public Offering, the partial exercise of the over-allotment option, and the sale of the private placement warrants, a total of
$309,450,720 was placed in the Trust Account. We incurred $17,501,346 in Initial Public Offering related costs, including $6,189,014 of underwriting
fees, net of reimbursement, $10,830,775 of deferred underwriting fees and $481,557 of other costs.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, cash used in operating activities was $822,441. Net loss of $6,879,994 was affected by interest earned on
investments held in Trust Account of $4,360,578, forgiveness of deferred underwriting fee of $348,344, expense related to non-redemption agreements
of $6,814,541 and change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $164,410. Changes in operating assets and liabilities provided $1,987,524 of cash for
operating activities.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, cash used in operating activities was $648,866. Net income of $7,206,713 was affected by change in fair
value of warrant liabilities of $8,135,024 and interest earned on investments held in the Trust Account of $4,462,497. Changes in operating assets and
liabilities provided $4,741,942 of cash for operating activities.
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As of December 31, 2023, we had cash held in the Trust Account of $22,040,092. We may withdraw interest from the Trust Account to pay taxes,
if any. We intend to use substantially all of the funds held in the Trust Account, including any amounts representing interest earned on the Trust Account
(less income taxes payable), to complete our business combination. To the extent that our share capital or debt is used, in whole or in part, as
consideration to complete our business combination, the remaining proceeds held in the Trust Account will be used as working capital to finance the
operations of the target business or businesses, make other acquisitions and pursue our growth strategies. On March 3, 2023, we held the Extension
Meeting to, in part, amend our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association to extend the date by which we have to consummate a
business combination. In connection with that vote, the Redeeming Shareholders properly exercised their right to redeem their shares for an aggregate
redemption amount of $268,585,494. In connection with the extension, the trustee of the Trust Account placed the funds remaining in the Trust Account
in an interest bearing cash bank account. The Trust Account does not hold any investments.

In connection with the Extension Meeting, as described in Note 1, due to a clerical error by the trustee of the Trust Account, the Redeeming
Shareholders were overpaid approximately $0.03 per Class A ordinary share that was redeemed, for an aggregate total overpayment amount of $887,555
(the “Overpayment Amount”). As of December 31, 2023, the Company has collected $870,731 of the overpayment and $16,824 remains receivable. The
Company is in process of collecting the remaining Overpayment Amount and currently expects to fully recover the total Overpayment Amount.

As of December 31, 2023, we had cash of $40,167. We intend to use the funds held outside the Trust Account primarily to identify and evaluate
target businesses, perform business due diligence on prospective target businesses, travel to and from the offices, plants or similar locations of
prospective target businesses or their representatives or owners, review corporate documents and material agreements of prospective target businesses,
and structure, negotiate and complete a business combination.

In order to fund working capital deficiencies or finance transaction costs in connection with a Business Combination, the Sponsor, or certain of
our officers and directors or their affiliates may, but are not obligated to, loan us funds as may be required. If we complete a Business Combination, we
will repay such loaned amounts. In the event that a Business Combination does not close, we may use a portion of the working capital held outside the
Trust Account to repay such loaned amounts but no proceeds from our Trust Account would be used for such repayment. Up to $1,500,000 of such loans
may be convertible into warrants at a price of $1.50 per warrant, at the option of the lender. The warrants would be identical to the Private Placement
Warrants.

In connection with the Company’s assessment of going concern considerations in accordance with Financial Accounting Standard Board’s
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 205-40, “Basis of Presentation—Going Concern”, management has determined that the liquidity
condition raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, which is considered to be one year from the issuance of
these financial statements. On March 14, 2024, the Company consummated the Transaction, however, the liquidity condition of the Company remains
unstable. The uncertainty around the Company’s ability to stabilize the liquidity condition raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Management intends to raise additional capital in order to continue as a going concern. No adjustments have been made to
the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no obligations, assets or liabilities, which would be considered off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2023. We do not
participate in transactions that create relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, often referred to as variable interest entities,
which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements. We have not entered into any off-balance sheet
financing arrangements, established any special purpose entities, guaranteed any debt or commitments of other entities, or purchased any non-financial
assets.
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Contractual obligations

We do not have any long-term debt, capital lease obligations, operating lease obligations or long-term liabilities, other than an agreement to pay an
affiliate of one of our Sponsor a monthly fee of $10,000 for office space, utilities and secretarial and administrative services. We began incurring these
fees on March 4, 2021 and will continue to incur these fees monthly until the earlier of the completion of the Business Combination and our liquidation.

The underwriters of our initial public offer are entitled to a deferred fee of $0.35 per unit, or $10,830,775 in the aggregate. The deferred fee will
become payable to the underwriters of our initial public offering from the amounts held in the Trust Account solely in the event that we complete a
business combination, subject to the terms of the underwriting agreement.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and income and expenses during the periods reported. Actual results could
materially differ from those estimates. We have identified the following critical accounting policies:

Warrant Liabilities

We do not use derivative instruments to hedge exposures to cash flow, market, or foreign currency risks. We evaluate all of our financial
instruments, including issued share purchase warrants, to determine if such instruments are derivatives or contain features that qualify as embedded
derivatives, pursuant to ASC 480 and ASC 815. We account for the Warrants in accordance with the guidance contained in ASC 815-40 under which the
Warrants do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and must be recorded as liabilities. Accordingly, we classify the Warrants as liabilities at their fair
value and adjust the Warrants to fair value at each reporting period. This liability is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date until exercised,
and any change in fair value is recognized in our consolidated statements of operations. The Private Placement Warrants and the Public Warrants for
periods where no observable traded price was available are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation. For periods subsequent to the detachment of the
Public Warrants from the Units, the Public Warrant quoted market price will be used as the fair value as of each relevant date.

Class A Ordinary Shares Subject to Possible Redemption

We account for our ordinary shares subject to possible conversion in accordance with the guidance in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)
Topic 480, “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity.” Ordinary shares subject to mandatory redemption, if any, are classified as a liability instrument and
measured at fair value. Conditionally redeemable ordinary shares (including ordinary shares that feature redemption rights that are either within the
control of the holder or subject to redemption upon the occurrence of uncertain events not solely within our control) are classified as temporary equity.
At all other times, ordinary shares are classified as shareholders’ equity. Our ordinary shares feature certain redemption rights that are considered to be
outside of our control and subject to occurrence of uncertain future events. Accordingly, ordinary shares subject to possible redemption are presented at
redemption value as temporary equity, outside of the shareholders’ deficit section of our consolidated balance sheets.

Net (Loss) Income Per Ordinary Share

Net (loss) income per ordinary share is computed by dividing net (loss) income by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the period. We apply the two-class method in calculating earnings
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per share. Accretion associated with the redeemable shares of Class A ordinary shares is excluded from earnings per share as the redemption value
approximates fair value.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic
470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40) (“ASU 2020-06”) to simplify accounting for certain
financial instruments. ASU 2020-06 eliminates the current models that require separation of beneficial conversion and cash conversion features from
convertible instruments and simplifies the derivative scope exception guidance pertaining to equity classification of contracts in an entity’s own equity.
The new standard also introduces additional disclosures for convertible debt and freestanding instruments that are indexed to and settled in an entity’s
own equity. ASU 2020-06 amends the diluted earnings per share guidance, including the requirement to use the if-converted method for all convertible
instruments. As a smaller reporting company, ASU 2020-06 is effective January 1, 2024 for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and should
be applied on a full or modified retrospective basis, with early adoption permitted beginning on January 1, 2021. The Company is currently assessing the
impact, if any, that ASU 2020-06 would have on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The Company has not adopted this guidance
as of December 31, 2023.

Management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards, if currently adopted, would have a material
effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Not required for smaller reporting companies.

Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

This information appears following Item 15 of this Report and is included herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our
reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer carried out an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2023. Based upon their
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15
(e) and 15d-15 (e) under the Exchange Act) were not effective due to its review and approval procedures for the quarterly financial statements. 

Management intends to enhance our review and approval procedures for the quarterly financial statements, including through enhanced analyses
by our personnel and third-party professionals. The elements of our
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remediation plan can only be accomplished over time, and we can offer no assurance that these initiatives will ultimately have the intended effects.
Specifically, we enhanced our review and approval procedures for the quarterly financial statements, including through enhanced analyses by our
personnel and third-party professionals.

Management’s Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

As required by SEC rules and regulations implementing Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our management is responsible for establishing
and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for external reporting purposes in
accordance with GAAP. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
 

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of our
company,

 

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance
with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors, and

 

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have
a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect errors or misstatements in our consolidated
financial statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree or compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management assessed the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting at December 31, 2023. In making these assessments, management used the criteria set forth
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013). Based on
our assessments and those criteria as noted above and in the attached exhibit, management determined that we did no maintain effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. Management has implemented remediation steps to improve our internal control over financial
reporting. Specifically, we enhanced our review and approval procedures for the quarterly financial statements, including through enhanced analyses by
our personnel and third-party professionals.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm due to our status as an
emerging growth company under the JOBS Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required under this Item 10 of Form 10-K will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required under this Item 10 of Form 10-K will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters

The information required under this Item 10 of Form 10-K will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required under this Item 10 of Form 10-K will be included in our 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The firm of WithumSmith+Brown, PC, or Withum, acts as our independent registered public accounting firm. The following is a summary of fees paid
to Withum for services rendered.

Audit Fees. For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, fees for our independent registered public accounting firm were approximately $113,000
and $109,000, respectively, for the services Withum performed in connection with our Initial Public Offering, review of the financial information
included in our Forms 10-Q for the respective periods and the audit of our December 31, 2023 and 2022 financial statements included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Audit-Related Fees. For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, our independent registered public accounting firm did not render assurance and
related services related to the performance of the audit or review of financial statements.

Tax Fees. For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, our independent registered public accounting firm did not render services to us for tax
compliance, tax advice and tax planning.

All Other Fees. For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no fees billed for products and services provided by our independent
registered public accounting firm other than those set forth above.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K:

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements:
 
   Page  
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 100)    F-2 
Consolidated Balance Sheets    F-3 
Consolidated Statements of Operations    F-4 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficit    F-5 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows    F-6 
Notes to Financial Consolidated Statements    F-7 to F-27 

(2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules:

None.

(3) Exhibits

We hereby file as part of this Report the exhibits listed in the attached Exhibit Index. Exhibits which are incorporated herein by reference can be
inspected and copied at the public reference facilities maintained by the SEC, 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. Copies of such
material can also be obtained from the Public Reference Section of the SEC, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates or on the
SEC website at www.sec.gov.
 

Exhibit   Description
  Incorporated by Reference
  Schedule/Form   File Number   Exhibits   Filing Date

  2.1#

  

Business Combination Agreement and Plan of Reorganization,
dated as of September 7, 2023, by and among Brand
Engagement Network Inc., BEN Merger Subsidiary Corp.,
DHC Acquisition Corp and, solely with respect to Section 7.21
and 9.03 thereto, DHC Sponsor, LLC   

8-K

  

001-40130

  

2.1

  

September 8, 2023

  3.1   Certificate of Incorporation of Brand Engagement Network Inc.   8-K   001-40130   3.1   March 20, 2024

  3.2   Bylaws of Brand Engagement Network Inc.   8-K   001-40130   3.2   March 20, 2024

  4.1
  

Warrant Agreement between Continental Stock Transfer &
Trust Company and DHC Acquisition Corp.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

4.1
  

March 5, 2021

  4.2   Description of Registrant’s Securities.   Form 8-K   001-40130   4.1   March 20, 2024

 10.1

  

Registration and Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated
March 4, 2021, by and between DHC Acquisition Corp, DHC
Sponsor, LLC and certain other equityholders named therein.   

Form 8-K

  

001-40130

  

10.3

  

March 5, 2021
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Exhibit   Description
  Incorporated by Reference
  Schedule/Form   File Number  Exhibits  Filing Date

 10.2

  

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated
March 14, 2024 by and among Brand Engagement Network Inc
and the holders party thereto.   

Form 8-K

  

001-40130

  

10.1

  

March 20, 2024

 10.3
  

Form of Brand Engagement Network Inc. Indemnification
Agreement.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

10.2
  

March 20, 2024

 10.4   Form of Shareholder Subscription Agreement.   Form 8-K   001-40130  10.3   March 20, 2024

 10.5^   Brand Engagement Network 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan.   Form 8-K   001-40130  10.4   March 20, 2024

 10.6^
  

Brand Engagement Network 2024 Long-Term Incentive Plan –
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

10.5
  

March 20, 2024

 10.7^
  

Brand Engagement Network 2024 Long-Term Incentive Plan –
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

10.6
  

March 20, 2024

 10.8^
  

Brand Engagement Network 2024 Long-Term Incentive Plan –
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

10.7
  

March 20, 2024

 10.9^
  

Brand Engagement Network 2024 Long-Term Incentive Plan –
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

10.8
  

March 20, 2024

 10.10^
  

Blockchain Exchange Network, Inc. 2021 Incentive Stock
Option Plan.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

10.9
  

March 20, 2024

 10.11^
  

Employment Agreement by and between Brand Engagement
Network Inc. and Michael Zacharski.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

10.10
  

March 20, 2024

 10.12^
  

Employment Agreement by and between Brand Engagement
Network Inc. and Paul Chang.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

10.11
  

March 20, 2024

 10.13^
  

Employment Agreement by and between Brand Engagement
Network Inc. and Bill Williams.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

10.12
  

March 20, 2024

 10.14^
  

Employment Agreement by and between Brand Engagement
Network Inc. and Tyler J. Luck.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

10.13
  

March 20, 2024

 10.15

  

Letter Agreement, dated March 4, 2021, by and among DHC
Sponsor, LLC, DHC Acquisition Corp and its officers and
directors.   

Form 8-K

  

001-40130

  

10.4

  

March 5, 2021

 10.16
  

Reseller Agreement, dated August 19, 2023, by Brand
Engagement Network Inc. and AFG Companies, Inc.   

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

10.15
  

March 20, 2024
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1838163/000149315224010698/ex10-4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1838163/000149315224010698/ex10-5.htm
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1838163/000149315224010698/ex10-7.htm
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1838163/000149315224010698/ex10-15.htm
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Exhibit   Description
  Incorporated by Reference
  Schedule/Form  File Number  Exhibits  Filing Date

 10.17

  

Subscription Agreement, dated September 29, 2023, by and
between Brand Engagement Network Inc. and the subscribers
listed therein.   

Form 8-K

  

001-40130

  

10.16

  

March 20,
2024

 10.18

  

Subscription Agreement, dated September 7, 2023, by and
between Brand Engagement Network Inc. and the subscribers
listed therein.   

Form 8-K

  

001-40130

  

10.17

  

March 20,
2024

 14.1*   Code of Ethics.         

 21.1
  

List of Subsidiaries.
  

Form 8-K
  

001-40130
  

21.1
  

March 20,
2024

 24.1
  

Power of Attorney (included on the signature page to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K).         

 31.1*

  

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.         

 31.2*

  

Certification of the Principal Financial and Accounting Officer
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.         

 32.1**

  

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.         

 32.2**

  

Certification of the Principal Financial and Accounting Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.         

 97.1*   Compensation Recovery Policy         

101.INS   Inline XBRL Instance Document.         

101.CAL
  

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document.         

101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.         

101.DEF
  

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document.         
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Exhibit   Description

  Incorporated by Reference

  Schedule/Form  
File

Number  Exhibits  
Filing
Date

101.LAB
  

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase
Document.         

101.PRE
  

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
Linkbase Document.         

104
  

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).         

 
* Filed herewith
** Furnished herewith
^ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
# Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601. The Registrant agrees to

furnish a copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused the Annual Report on Form 10-K
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

April 1, 2024
 

BRAND ENGAGEMENT NETWORK INC.

/s/ Michael Zacharski
Name:  Michael Zacharski
Title:  Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Michael Zacharski
and Bill Williams, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful agents, proxies and attorneys-in-fact, with full power of substitution and resubstitution,
for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities to sign this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Arrowroot Acquisition
Corp., and any or all amendments thereto, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other documents in connection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and
thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about the premises hereby ratifying and confirming all that such agent, proxy and attorney-in-fact or any
of his substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 
Name   Position  Date

/s/ Michael Zacharski
Michael Zacharski   

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)  

April 1, 2024

/s/ Bill Williams
Bill Williams   

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  

April 1, 2024

/s/ Jon Leibowitz
Jon Leibowitz   

Director
 

April 1, 2024

/s/ Janine Grasso
Janine Grasso   

Director
 

April 1, 2024

/s/ Tyler J. Luck
Tyler J. Luck   

Director
 

April 1, 2024

/s/ Christopher Gaertner
Christopher Gaertner   

Director
 

April 1, 2024

/s/ Bernard Puckett
Bernard Puckett   

Director
 

April 1, 2024
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
DHC Acquisition Corp.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of DHC Acquisition Corp. and its subsidiary (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023
and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ deficit and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company consummated a business combination, however, the liquidity condition of the Company
remains unstable. The uncertainty around the Company’s ability to stabilize the liquidity condition raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company
is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to
obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

/s/ WithumSmith+Brown, PC

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.

New York, New York
April 1, 2024

PCAOB Number 100
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 
   

December 31,
 2023   

December 31,
 2022  

ASSETS    
Current Assets:    

Cash   $ 40,167  $ 212,608 
Due from Sponsor    3,000   1,500 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    1,667   61,530 

    
 

   
 

Total Current Assets    44,834   275,638 
Trust Receivable    16,824   —  
Cash and securities held in Trust Account    22,040,092   313,913,217 

    
 

   
 

TOTAL ASSETS   $ 22,101,750  $ 314,188,855 
    

 

   

 

LIABILITIES, CLASS A ORDINARY SHARES SUBJECT TO POSSIBLE REDEMPTION AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT    

Current Liabilities:    
Accrued expenses   $ 7,370,094  $ 5,440,933 
Advance from related parties    650,000   —  

    
 

   
 

Total Current Liabilities    8,020,094   5,440,933 
Warrant Liability    328,820   164,410 
Deferred underwriting fee payable    433,231   10,830,775 

    
 

   
 

Total Liabilities    8,782,145   16,436,118 
    

 
   

 

Commitments and Contingencies    
Class A ordinary shares subject to possible redemption; 2,057,453 and 30,945,072 shares at a redemption value of

$10.72 and $10.14 per share at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively    22,056,915   313,913,217 
Shareholders’ Deficit    
Preference shares, $0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding at December 31,

2023 and 2022    —    —  
Class A ordinary shares, $0.0001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding

(excluding 2,057,453 and 30,945,072 shares subject to possible redemption at December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively)    —    —  

Class B ordinary shares, $0.0001 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 7,736,268 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 2022    774   774 

Additional paid-in capital    4,253,964   —  
Accumulated deficit    (12,992,048)   (16,161,254) 

    
 

   
 

Total Shareholders’ Deficit    (8,737,310)   (16,160,480) 
    

 
   

 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, CLASS A ORDINARY SHARES SUBJECT TO POSSIBLE REDEMPTION AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT   $ 22,101,750  $ 314,188,855 

    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
 

F-3



Table of Contents

BRAND ENGAGEMENT NETWORK (F/K/A DHC ACQUISITION CORP)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

   
For the Year Ended

 December 31,  
   2023   2022  
Operating costs   $ 2,809,965  $ 5,390,808 

    
 

   
 

Loss from operations    (2,809,965)   (5,390,808) 
    

 
   

 

Other (expenses) income    
Change in fair value of warrant liability    (164,410)   8,135,024 
Expense related to non-redemption agreement    (8,614,541)   —  
Forgiveness of deferred underwriting fee    348,344   —  
Interest income on marketable securities held in Trust Account    4,360,578   4,462,497 

    
 

   
 

Other (expenses) income, net    (4,070,029)   12,597,521 
Net (loss) income   $ (6,879,994)  $ 7,206,713 

    

 

   

 

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding of Class A ordinary shares redeemable shares    9,779,707   30,945,072 
    

 

   

 

Basic and diluted net (loss) income per ordinary share, Class A ordinary shares redeemable shares   $ (0.39)  $ 0.19 
    

 

   

 

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding of Class A and B ordinary shares non-redeemable shares    7,736,268   7,736,268 
    

 

   

 

Basic and diluted net (loss) income per ordinary share, Class A and B ordinary shares non-redeemable shares   $ (0.39)  $ 0.19 
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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BRAND ENGAGEMENT NETWORK (F/K/A DHC ACQUISITION CORP)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022
 
   

Class B
 Ordinary Shares  

  

Additional
 Paid-in

 Capital   
Accumulated

 Deficit   

Total
 Shareholders’

 Deficit     Shares    Amount  
Balance — January 1, 2022    7,736,268   $ 774   $ —   $ (18,905,470)  $ (18,904,696) 
Accretion for Class A ordinary shares to redemption amount    —     —     —    (4,462,497)   (4,462,497) 
Net income    —     —     —    7,206,713   7,206,713 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance — December 31, 2022    7,736,268    774   —    (16,161,254)   (16,160,480) 

Contribution by Sponsor    —     —     8,614,541   —    8,614,541 
Forgiveness of deferred underwriting fee    —     —     —    10,049,200   10,049,200 
Accretion for Class A ordinary shares to redemption amount    —     —     (4,360,577)   —    (4,360,577)
Net loss    —     —     —    (6,879,994)   (6,879,994)

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance — December 31, 2023    7,736,268   $ 774   $  4,253,964  $ (12,992,048)  $ (8,737,310)
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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BRAND ENGAGEMENT NETWORK (F/K/A DHC ACQUISITION CORP)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

  
For the Years Ended

 December 31,  
  2023   2022  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:    
Net (loss) income   $ (6,879,994)  $ 7,206,713 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used in operating activities:    

Interest income on investments held in Trust Account    (4,360,578)   (4,462,497) 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities    164,410   (8,135,024) 
Fair value of Founder Shares assigned in connection with the non-redemption agreements   8,614,541   —  
Forgiveness of deferred underwriting fee payable    (348,344)   —  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Due from Sponsor    (1,500)   (1,500) 
Prepaid expenses    59,863   327,136 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    1,929,161   4,416,306 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (822,441)   (648,866) 
    

 
   

 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:    
Cash withdrawn from Trust Account in connection with redemption    296,233,702   —  
Trust receivable    (16,824)   —  

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by investing activities    296,216,878   —  
    

 
   

 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:    
Advances from related party    650,000   —  
Redemption of ordinary shares    (296,216,878)   —  

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in financing activities    (295,566,878)   —  
    

 
   

 

Net change in cash    (172,441)   (648,866) 
Cash – Beginning of year    212,608   861,474 

    
 

   
 

Cash – End of year   $ 40,167  $ 212,608 
    

 

   

 

Non-cash investing and financing activities:    
Forgiveness of deferred underwriting fee payable   $ (10,049,200)  $ —  

    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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BRAND ENGAGEMENT NETWORK (F/K/A DHC ACQUISITION CORP)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023

NOTE 1. DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

DHC Acquisition Corp (now known as Brand Engagement Network Inc.) (the “Company”) was a blank check company incorporated as a Cayman
Islands exempted company on December 22, 2020. The Company was formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, share exchange, asset acquisition,
share purchase, reorganization or similar business combination with one or more businesses or entities (the “Business Combination”). 

The Company was not limited to a particular industry or sector for purposes of consummating a Business Combination. The Company is an early stage
and emerging growth company and, as such, the Company is subject to all of the risks associated with early stage and emerging growth companies.

Business Combination

On March 14, 2024 (the “Closing Date”), Brand Engagement Network Inc., a Delaware corporation f/k/a DHC Acquisition Corp (“BEN”, the
“Company” and, prior to Closing, “DHC”), consummated the previously announced business combination pursuant to that certain Business
Combination Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of September 7, 2023 (the “Business Combination Agreement”), by and among the
Company, BEN Merger Subsidiary Corp., a Delaware corporation (“Merger Sub”), Brand Engagement Network Inc., a Wyoming corporation (“Legacy
BEN”) and DHC Sponsor, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Sponsor”), following approval thereof at a special meeting of the Company’s
shareholders held on March 5, 2024 (the “Special Meeting”).

Pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, on March 13, 2024, the Company migrated to and domesticated as a Delaware
corporation in accordance with Section 388 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended, and the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman
Islands (the “Domestication”) and changed its name to Brand Engagement Network Inc. On March 14, 2024, the Company consummated the business
combination with Brand Engagement Network Inc., a Wyoming corporation (“Legacy BEN”), which merged into the Company’s subsidiary, BEN
Merger Subsidiary Corp., a Delaware corporation (“Merger Sub” and such business combination, the “Business Combination”).

At the Special Meeting, the Company’s shareholders approved the Business Combination as well as other proposals related to the Business
Combination. On March 14, 2024, the parties to the Business Combination Agreement completed the Business Combination. Prior to and in connection
with the Special Meeting, holders of 1,949,706 shares of Class A ordinary shares of the Company exercised their right to redeem those shares for cash at
a redemption price originally estimated at approximately $10.77 per share, for an estimated aggregate redemption amount of approximately
$20,998,333.62. Ultimately, on the Closing Date, holders of 1,908,504 shares of Class A ordinary shares of DHC redeemed those shares for cash at a
redemption price at approximately $10.80 per share, for an aggregate redemption amount of approximately $20,612,041, which was paid out of the trust
account established in connection with DHC’s initial public offering following the Closing.

As of the open of trading on March 15, 2024, the Common Stock and public warrants of the Company began trading on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
(“Nasdaq”) as “BNAI” and “BNAIW,” respectively. 

 

Business Prior to the Business Combination

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had one wholly owned subsidiary that was created on July 22, 2022, BEN Merger Subsidiary Corp, a Delaware
corporation (“Merger Sub”), formerly known as Glory Merger Subsidiary Corp.

On March 3, 2023, the Company held an extraordinary general meeting (the “First Extension Meeting”) to vote on a number of proposals, including a
proposal to approve an amendment the Company’s amended and restated
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BRAND ENGAGEMENT NETWORK (F/K/A DHC ACQUISITION CORP)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023
 
memorandum and articles of association to (i) extend the date by which the Company has to consummate a business combination from March 4, 2023 to
December 4, 2023 (the “Combination Period”). The proposal was approved by the Company’s shareholders. In connection with the First Extension
Meeting, the holders of 26,298,498 Class A ordinary shares of the Company (the “Redeeming Shareholders”) properly exercised their right to redeem
their Class A ordinary shares for cash at a redemption price of approximately $10.21 per share, for an aggregate redemption amount of approximately
$268,585,000. This could adversely impact the Company’s ability to consummate a business combination within the Combination Period.

On December 1, 2023, the Company held an extraordinary general meeting (the “Second Extension Meeting”) to amend the Company’s amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association to extend the date by which the Company has to consummate a business combination from
December 4, 2023 to May 4, 2024. The Article Amendment is effective as of December 1, 2023.

In connection with the Second Extension Meeting, the holders of 2,589,121 Class A ordinary shares of the Company properly exercised their right to
redeem their shares for cash at a redemption price of approximately $10.67 per share, for an aggregate redemption amount of approximately
$27,631,384.

All activity through December 31, 2023 relates to the Company’s formation, the initial public offering (“Initial Public Offering”), which is described
below, and identifying a target company for a Business Combination. The Company will not generate any operating revenues until after the completion
of a Business Combination, at the earliest. The Company generates non-operating income in the form of interest income from the cash held in an interest
bearing account), along with income or loss from the change in fair value of the warrant liabilities.

The registration statement for the Company’s Initial Public Offering was declared effective on March 1, 2021. On March 4, 2021, the Company
consummated the Initial Public Offering of 30,000,000 units (the “Units” and, with respect to the Class A ordinary shares included in the Units sold, the
“Public Shares”), at $10.00 per Unit, generating gross proceeds of $300,000,000 which is described in Note 4.

Simultaneously with the closing of the Initial Public Offering, the Company consummated the sale of 6,000,000 warrants (the “Private Placement
Warrants”) at a price of $1.50 per Private Placement Warrant in a private placement to DHC Sponsor LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the
“Sponsor”) generating gross proceeds of $9,000,000, which is described in Note 5.

 
Following the closing of the Initial Public Offering on March 4, 2021, an amount of $300,000,000 ($10.00 per Unit) from the net proceeds of the sale of
the Units in the Initial Public Offering and the sale of the Private Placement Warrants was placed in a trust account (the “Trust Account”), located in the
United States and will be invested only in U.S. government securities, within the meaning set forth in Section 2(a)(16) of the Investment Company Act
of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”), with a maturity of 185 days or less or in any open-ended investment company that holds itself
out as a money market fund selected by the Company meeting the conditions of Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act, as determined by the
Company, until the earlier of (i) the completion of a Business Combination and (ii) the distribution of the funds held in the Trust Account, as described
below.

On March 5, 2021, the underwriters partially exercised their over-allotment option, resulting in an additional 945,072 Units issued for an aggregate
amount of $9,450,720. In connection with the underwriters’ partial exercise of their over-allotment option, the Company also consummated the sale of
an additional 126,010 Private Placement Warrants at $1.50 per Private Placement Warrant, generating total proceeds of $189,015. A total of $9,450,720
was deposited into the Trust Account, bringing the aggregate proceeds deposited in the Trust Account to $309,450,720.
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DECEMBER 31, 2023
 
Transaction costs amounted to $17,501,346, consisting of $6,189,014 in cash underwriting fees, net of reimbursement, $10,830,775 of deferred
underwriting fees and $481,557 of other offering costs.

The Company will proceed with a Business Combination only if the Company has net tangible assets of at least $5,000,001 either immediately prior to
or upon such consummation of a Business Combination and, if the Company seeks shareholder approval, it receives an ordinary resolution under
Cayman Islands law approving a Business Combination, which requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shareholders who attend and vote at a
general meeting of the Company. If a shareholder vote is not required by applicable law or stock exchange listing requirements and the Company does
not decide to hold a shareholder vote for business or other reasons, the Company will, pursuant to its amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association, conduct the redemptions pursuant to the tender offer rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and file tender
offer documents with the SEC prior to completing a Business Combination. If, however, shareholder approval of the transactions is required by
applicable law or stock exchange listing requirements, or the Company decides to obtain shareholder approval for business or other reasons, the
Company will offer to redeem shares in conjunction with a proxy solicitation pursuant to the proxy rules and not pursuant to the tender offer rules. If the
Company seeks shareholder approval in connection with a Business Combination, the Sponsor has agreed to vote any Founder Shares (as defined in
Note 6) and Public Shares held by it in favor of approving a Business Combination. Additionally, each public shareholder may elect to redeem their
Public Shares, without voting, and if they do vote, irrespective of whether they vote for or against an Initial Business Combination.

 

Business Combination Agreement

On July 25, 2022, the Company entered into a Business Combination Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (the “GloriFi Business Combination
Agreement”) by and among the Company, Merger Sub and With Purpose, Inc. (d/b/a GloriFi, Inc.), a Delaware corporation (“GloriFi”). On January 26,
2023, the Company sent GloriFi written notice that it had terminated the GloriFi Business Combination Agreement, pursuant to Section 9.01(i) and
Section 9.01(f) the GloriFi Business Combination Agreement. The Company’s decision to terminate the GloriFi Business Combination Agreement took
into account the fact that GloriFi had previously publicly announced that GloriFi was winding down its operations and closing its digital banking
platform and other products. As a result of the termination of the GloriFi Business Combination Agreement, each of the Ancillary Agreements (as
defined in the GloriFi Business Combination Agreement) were terminated.

On September 7, 2023, the Company, Merger Sub, and Brand Engagement Network Inc., a Wyoming corporation (“BEN”), and, solely with respect to
Section 7.21 and Section 9.03 of the Business Combination Agreement (as defined below), the Sponsor, entered into a business combination agreement
and plan of reorganization (the “Business Combination Agreement”), pursuant to which Merger Sub will merge with and into BEN (the “Merger,” and
together with the other transactions related thereto, the “Transactions”), with BEN surviving the Merger as a direct wholly owned subsidiary of DHC. In
connection with the Merger, and as further described below, DHC will change its name to “Brand Engagement Network Inc.” (“New BEN”).

Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, on March 13, 2024, the day preceding the closing of the Merger (the “Closing”) and following the
exercise of their redemption right by the shareholders of DHC (the “DHC Shareholders”), DHC changed its jurisdiction of incorporation by
domesticating as a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law and the
Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands (the “Domestication”).

Upon the effectiveness of the Domestication:
 

 •  DHC changed its name to “Brand Engagement Network Inc.”
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 •  each then issued and outstanding Class A ordinary share, par value $0.0001 per share, of DHC converted automatically into one (1) share

of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of New BEN (the “New BEN Common Stock”);
 

 •  each then issued and outstanding Class B ordinary share, par value $0.0001 per share, of DHC converted automatically into one (1) share
of New BEN Common Stock;

 

 •  each then issued and outstanding DHC warrant exercisable to purchase one Class A ordinary share of DHC converted automatically into
one warrant exercisable to purchase one share of New BEN Common Stock (the “New BEN Warrants”); and

 

 •  each unit consisting of one Class A ordinary share of DHC and one-third (1/3) of one DHC warrant converted automatically into a unit
consisting of one share of New BEN Common Stock and one-third (1/3) of one New BEN Warrant.

The obligations of BEN and DHC to consummate the Transactions were subject to the satisfaction or waiver (where permissible) at or prior to the
Closing of various conditions, including, among other things, (i) expiration or termination of all applicable waiting periods under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976; (ii) the accuracy of the representations and warranties of DHC and BEN, respectively; (iii) the performance by
DHC and BEN, respectively, of its covenants and agreements; (iv) the absence of any material adverse effect that is continuing with respect to DHC and
BEN, respectively, during the Interim Period; (v) the approval of BEN’s stockholders and the DHC Shareholders; (vi) the effectiveness of a registration
statement on Form S-4 to be filed with the SEC in connection with the Transactions (the “Registration Statement”); (vii) the receipt of requisite
government approvals; (viii) DHC having at least $5,000,001 of net tangible assets following the exercise of redemption rights provided in accordance
with the organizational documents of DHC; (ix) as a condition to DHC’s obligations to consummate the Transactions, the continued effectiveness of the
Reseller Agreement and the Subscription Agreement (each as defined below); and (x) as a condition to BEN’s obligations to consummate the
Transactions, the shares of New BEN Common Stock shall have been approved for listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market, or another national securities
exchange mutually agreed to by the Parties.

The parties to the Business Combination Agreement made customary representations, warranties and covenants, including, among others, with respect
to the conduct of the businesses of BEN and DHC during the period between execution of the Business Combination Agreement and the Closing.

Stockholder Support Agreement

On September 7, 2023, DHC, BEN, and certain stockholders of BEN (“Key BEN Holders”) entered into a Stockholder Support Agreement (the
“Stockholder Support Agreement”) pursuant to which the Key BEN Holders agreed to, among other things, (i) waive any appraisal rights in connection
with the Merger and (ii) consent to and vote in favor of the Business Combination Agreement and the Transactions.

Lock-Up Agreement

On September 7, 2023, DHC and certain stockholders of BEN entered into a lock-up agreement (the “Lock-Up Agreement”) pursuant to which such
stockholders agreed not to, subject to the occurrence of the Closing, (a) sell or otherwise dispose of, or agree to sell or dispose of, directly or indirectly,
certain shares of DHC Common Stock held by such persons immediately after the Closing or any shares of DHC Common Stock issuable upon the
exercise of options, warrants or other convertible securities to purchase shares of New BEN Common Stock held by such persons immediately after the
Closing (collectively, “Lock-Up Shares”), (b) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic
consequences of ownership
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of any of such Lock-Up Shares, or (c) publicly announce any intention to effect any transaction specified in clause (a) or (b) until the earlier of (i) the
twelve (12) month anniversary of the Closing Date, (ii) the date on which the last reported sale price of shares of New BEN Common Stock equals or
exceeds $18.00 per share for twenty (20) of any thirty (30) consecutive trading days commencing ninety (90) days after the Closing Date, or (iii) the
date specified in a written waiver pursuant to the terms of the Lock-Up Agreement.

Liquidity and Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates,
among other things, the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had
$40,167 in its operating bank account and a working capital deficit of $7,975,260.

In addition, in order to finance transaction costs in connection with a Business Combination, the Sponsor or an affiliate of the Sponsor, or certain of the
Company’s officers and directors may, but are not obligated to, provide the Company Working Capital Loans (see Note 6). As of December 31, 2023,
there were no amounts outstanding under any Working Capital Loan.

In connection with the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders held on March 3, 2023 (the “First Extension Meeting”), to extend the date by
which the Company has to consummate a business combination (the “Articles Extension”) from March 4, 2023 to December 4, 2023, the Company and
the Sponsor, have entered into one or more non-redemption agreements (the “Non-Redemption Agreements”), with several unaffiliated third parties,
pursuant to which such third parties agreed not to redeem (or to validly rescind any redemption requests on) an aggregate of 400,000 previously-held
Class A ordinary shares of the Company (“Non-Redeemed Shares”) in connection with the Articles Extension. In exchange for the foregoing
commitments not to redeem such previously held Class A ordinary shares, the Sponsor agreed to transfer an aggregate of 150,000 Class B ordinary
shares of the Company held by the Sponsor to such third parties immediately following consummation of an initial business combination if such third
parties continued to hold such Non-Redeemed Shares through the Extension Meeting. In Connection with Extension meeting, the Redeeming
Shareholders properly exercised their right to redeem their shares for cash at a redemption price of approximately $10.21 per share, for an aggregate
redemption amount of $268,585,494. 

 
In connection with the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders held on December 1, 2023, to extend the date by which the Company has to
consummate a business combination (the “Articles Extension”) from December 4, 2023 to May 4, 2024, the Company and the Sponsor have entered into
one or more non-redemption agreements with several unaffiliated third parties, pursuant to which such third parties holders of an aggregate of 1,971,536
previously-held Class A ordinary shares of the Company agreed not to redeem (or to validly rescind any redemption requests on) such shares in
connection with the Articles Extension. In exchange for the foregoing commitments not to redeem such previously-held Class A ordinary shares, the
Sponsor agreed to transfer an aggregate of 246,443 Class B ordinary shares of the Company held by the Sponsor to such third parties immediately
following consummation of an initial business combination if such third parties continued to hold such Non-Redeemed Shares through the Extension
Meeting.

In connection with the Company’s assessment of going concern considerations in accordance with Financial Accounting Standard Board’s Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 205-40, “Basis of Presentation—Going Concern”, management has determined that the liquidity condition raises
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, which is considered to be one year from the issuance of these financial
statements. On March 14, 2024, the Company consummated the Transaction, however, the liquidity condition of the Company remains unstable. The
uncertainty around the Company’s ability to stabilize
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the liquidity condition raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management intends to raise additional
capital in order to continue as a going concern. No adjustments have been made to the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities.

NOTE 2. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUSLY FILED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the course of preparing the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company identified a misstatement in the
Company’s number of Class B ordinary shares issued in connection with the non-redemption agreement entered into on February 28, 2023, as described
in Note 6. Previously the company disclosed that there were 150,000 Class B ordinary shares transferred to non-redeeming shareholders, the correct
number of Class B ordinary shares to be transferred was 1,462,500 subject to the consummation of a business combination. As a result, the fair value of
the Class B ordinary shares was $7,256,667 instead of the previously disclosed $744,274. The Company recognized a capital contribution by the
Sponsor to induce the holders of the Class A Ordinary Shares not to redeem, with a corresponding charge to additional paid-in capital to recognize an
offering cost which was erroneously recorded as the corresponding charge should have been recognized as an expense for the fair value of the shares
transferred during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Company will present this restatement in a prospective manner in all future filings. Under this approach, the previously issued Form 10-Qs will not
be amended, but historical amounts presented in the current and future filings will be recast to be consistent with the current presentation, and an
explanatory footnote will be provided. The impact of the revision on the Company’s financial statements is presented in the following table:
 

   
As previously

 Reported    Adjustments    As Revised  
Unaudited Condensed Balance Sheet as of March 31,

 2023             
Additional paid-in capital   $ —    $ 4,515,979   $ 4,515,979 
Accumulated deficit    (16,858,739)    (4,515,979)    (21,374,718) 

Unaudited Condensed Statement of Operations for the
Three Months Ended March 31, 2023             

Expense related to non-redemption agreements   $ —    $ 7,291,533   $ 7,291,533 
Net income (loss)    2,078,069    (7,291,533)    (5,213,464) 
Basic and diluted net income per share, Class A ordinary

shares    0.06    (0.21)    (0.15) 
Weighted average shares outstanding of Class B ordinary

shares    0.06    (0.21)    (0.15) 

Unaudited Condensed Statement of Changes in
Shareholders’ Deficit for the Three Months Ended
March 31, 2023       

Shareholder non-redemption agreement   $ (744,274)   $ 744,274   $ —  
Contribution by Sponsor    744,274    6,547,259    7,291,533 
Additional paid-in capital    —     4,515,979    4,515,979 
Accumulated deficit    (16,858,739)    (4,515,979)    (21,374,718) 
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As previously

 Reported    Adjustments    As Revised  
Unaudited Condensed Statement of Cash Flows for the

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023       
Net income (loss)   $ 2,078,069   $(7,291,533)   $ (5,213,464) 
Fair value of Founder Shares assigned in connection with the

non-redemption agreements
Net cash used in operation activities    

 

— 
 (109,262
 
 )    

 

7,291,533
 — 
 
     

 

7,291,533
 (109,262
 
 ) 

Unaudited Condensed Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2023       
Additional paid-in capital   $ —    $ 3,996,669   $ 3,996,669 
Accumulated deficit    (17,634,384)    (3,996,669)    (21,631,053) 

Unaudited Condensed Statement of Operations for the Six
Months Ended June 30, 2023       

Expense related to non-redemption agreements   $ —    $ 7,291,533   $ 7,291,533 
Net income (loss)    1,821,734    (7,291,533)    (5,469,799) 
Basic and diluted net income per share, Class A ordinary

shares    0.08    (0.32)    (0.24) 
Weighted average shares outstanding of Class B ordinary

shares    0.08    (0.32)    (0.24) 

Unaudited Condensed Statement of Changes in
Shareholders’ Deficit for the Six Months Ended
June 30, 2023       

Additional paid-in capital   $ —    $ 3,996,669   $ 3,996,669 
Accumulated deficit    (17,634,384)    (3,996,669)    (21,631,053) 

Unaudited Condensed Statement of Cash Flows for the
Six Months Ended June 30, 2023       

Net income (loss)   $ 1,821,734   $(7,291,533)   $ (5,469,799) 
Fair value of Founder Shares assigned in connection with the

non-redemption agreements
Net cash used in operation activities    

 

— 
 (482,314
 
 )    

 

7,291,533
 — 
 
     

 

7,291,533
 (482,314
 
 ) 

Unaudited Condensed Balance Sheet as of September 30,
2023       

Additional paid-in capital   $ —    $ 3,423,088   $ 3,423,088 
Accumulated deficit    (19,797,848)    (3,423,088)    (23,220,936) 
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As previously

 Reported    Adjustments    As Revised  

Unaudited Condensed Statement of Operations for the
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023       

Expense related to non-redemption agreements   $ —    $ 7,291,533   $ 7,291,533 
Net income (loss)    231,821    (7,291,533)    (7,059,712) 
Basic and diluted net income per share, Class A ordinary

shares    0.01    (0.37)    (0.36) 
Weighted average shares outstanding of Class B ordinary

shares    0.01    (0.37)    (0.36) 

Unaudited Condensed Statement of Changes in
Shareholders’ Deficit for the Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2023       

Additional paid-in capital   $ —    $ 3,423,088   $ 3,423,088 
Accumulated deficit    (19,797,848)    (3,423,088)    (23,220,936) 

Unaudited Condensed Statement of Cash Flows for the
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023       

Net income (loss)   $ 231,821   $(7,291,533)   $ (7,059,712) 
Fair value of Founder Shares assigned in connection with the

non-redemption agreements
Net cash used in operation activities    

 

— 
 (726,761
 
 )    

 

7,291,533
 — 
 
     

 

7,291,533
 (726,761
 
 ) 

NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars and have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and pursuant to the accounting and disclosure rules and regulations of the SEC.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, which was formed on
July 22, 2022. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Emerging Growth Company

The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups
Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”), and it may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public
companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the independent
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registered public accounting firm attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive
compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive
compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial
accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a
class of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act
provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth
companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. The Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period which means that
when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging growth
company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of the
Company’s financial statement with another public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has
opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company’s management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

Making estimates requires management to exercise significant judgment. It is at least reasonably possible that the estimate of the effect of a condition,
situation or set of circumstances that existed at the date of the consolidated financial statements, which management considered in formulating its
estimate, could change in the near term due to one or more future confirming events. One of the more significant accounting estimates included in these
consolidated financial statements is the determination of the fair value of the warrant liability. Such estimates may be subject to change as more current
information becomes available and, accordingly, the actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The
Company did not have any cash equivalents as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Cash and Investments Held in Trust Account

At December 31, 2023, assets held in the Trust Account were comprised of $22,040,092 in cash. At December 31, 2022, assets held in the Trust
Account were comprised of $313,913,217 invested primarily in U.S. Treasury Securities. In order to finance transaction costs in connection with a
business combination, the Sponsor or an affiliate of the Sponsor or certain of the Company’s officers and directors may, but are not obligated to, provide
the Company working capital loans, as defined below.
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Trust Account Receivable

In connection with the Extension Meeting, as described in Note 1, due to a clerical error by the trustee of the Trust Account, the Redeeming
Shareholders were overpaid approximately $0.03 per Class A ordinary share that was redeemed, for an aggregate total overpayment amount of $887,555
(the “Overpayment Amount”). As of December 31, 2023, the Company has collected $870,731 of the overpayment and $16,824 remains receivable. The
Company is in process of collecting the remaining Overpayment Amount and currently expects to fully recover the total Overpayment Amount.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company has historically had significant cash balances at financial institutions which throughout the year regularly exceed the federally insured
limit of $250,000. Any loss incurred or a lack of access to such funds could have a significant adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition,
results of operations, and cash flows.

Offering Costs

Offering costs consisted of legal, accounting and other expenses incurred through the Initial Public Offering that were directly related to the Initial
Public Offering. Offering costs were allocated to the separable financial instruments issued in the Initial Public Offering based on a relative fair value
basis, compared to total proceeds received. Offering costs allocated to warrant liabilities were expensed as incurred in the consolidated statements of
operations. Offering costs associated with the Class A ordinary shares issued were initially charged to temporary equity and then accreted to the
redemption value of the Class A ordinary shares subject to redemption upon the completion of the Initial Public Offering. Offering costs amounted to
$17,501,347, of which $16,915,008 was charged to temporary shareholders’ deficit upon the completion of the Initial Public Offering and $586,339
was expensed at the date of the initial public offering.

Class A Ordinary Shares Subject to Possible Redemption

The Company accounts for its Class A ordinary shares subject to possible redemption in accordance with the guidance in Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 480, “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity.” Class A ordinary shares subject to mandatory redemption, if any, are
classified as a liability instrument and are measured at fair value. Conditionally redeemable Class A ordinary shares (including Class A ordinary shares
that feature redemption rights that are either within the control of the holder or subject to redemption upon the occurrence of uncertain events not solely
within the Company’s control) are classified as temporary equity. At all other times, Class A ordinary shares are classified as shareholders’ equity. The
Company’s Class A ordinary shares feature certain redemption rights that are considered to be outside of the Company’s control and subject to
occurrence of uncertain future events. Accordingly, at December 31, 2023 and 2022, 2,057,453 and 30,945,072 Class A ordinary shares subject to
possible redemption are presented as temporary equity, outside of the shareholders’ deficit section of the Company’s consolidated balance sheets,
respectively.

The Company recognizes changes in redemption value immediately as they occur and adjusts the carrying value of redeemable ordinary shares to equal
the redemption value at the end of each reporting period. Immediately upon the closing of the Initial Public Offering, the Company recognized the
accretion from initial book value to redemption amount value. The change in the carrying value of redeemable Class A ordinary shares resulted in
charges against additional paid-in capital and accumulated deficit.
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At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Class A ordinary shares reflected in the consolidated balance sheets are reconciled in the following table:
 

Gross proceeds   $ 309,450,720 
Less:   
Proceeds allocated to Public Warrants    (10,211,874) 
Class A ordinary shares issuance costs    (16,924,264) 
Plus:   
Accretion of carrying value to redemption value    27,136,138 

    
 

Class A ordinary shares subject to possible redemption as of
December 31, 2021    309,450,720 

Plus:   
Accretion of carrying value to redemption value    4,462,497 

    
 

Class A ordinary shares subject to possible redemption as of
December 31, 2022    313,913,217 

Less:   
Redemption    (296,216,878) 
Plus:   
Accretion of carrying value to redemption value    4,360,577 

    
 

Class A ordinary shares subject to possible redemption as of
December 31, 2023   $ 22,056,916 

    

 

Warrant Liabilities

The Company does not use derivative instruments to hedge exposures to cash flow, market, or foreign currency risks. The Company evaluates all of its
financial instruments, including issued share purchase warrants, to determine if such instruments are derivatives or contain features that qualify as
embedded derivatives, pursuant to ASC 480 and FASB ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (“ASC 815”). The Company accounts for the
Warrants in accordance with the guidance contained in ASC 815-40under which the Warrants do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and must be
recorded as liabilities. Accordingly, the Company classifies the Warrants as liabilities at their fair value and adjust the Warrants to fair value at each
reporting period. This liability is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The Private Placement Warrants and the Public Warrants for periods where no observable traded price
was available are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation. For periods subsequent to the detachment of the Public Warrants from the Units, the Public
Warrant quoted market price will be used as the fair value as of each relevant date.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under ASC Topic 740, “Income Taxes,” which prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute
for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be
recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The Company’s management determined
that the Cayman Islands is the Company’s major tax jurisdiction. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits as income tax expense. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no unrecognized tax benefits and no amounts accrued for interest and
penalties. The Company is currently
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not aware of any issues under review that could result in significant payments, accruals or material deviation from its position. The Company’s
management does not expect that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will materially change over the next twelve months.

The Company is considered to be an exempted Cayman Islands company with no connection to any other taxable jurisdiction and is presently not
subject to income taxes or income tax filing requirements in the Cayman Islands or the United States. As such, the Company’s tax provision was zero
for the periods presented.

Net (Loss) Income per Ordinary Share

The Company complies with accounting and disclosure requirements of FASB ASC Topic 260, “Earnings Per Share”. Net (loss) income per ordinary
share is computed by dividing net (loss) income by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the period. The Company applies
the two-class method in calculating (loss) income per ordinary share. Accretion associated with the redeemable shares of Class A ordinary share is
excluded from (loss) income per ordinary share as the redemption value approximates fair value.

The calculation of diluted (loss) income per ordinary share does not consider the effect of the warrants issued in connection with the (i) Initial Public
Offering, and (ii) the private placement since the exercise of the warrants is contingent upon the occurrence of future events. The warrants are
exercisable to purchase 16,441,034 shares of Class A ordinary share in the aggregate. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have
any dilutive securities or other contracts that could, potentially, be exercised or converted into ordinary shares and then share in the earnings of the
Company. As a result, diluted net (loss) income per ordinary share is the same as basic net (loss) income per ordinary share for the periods presented.

The following tables reflect the calculation of basic and diluted net (loss) income per ordinary share (in dollars, except per share amounts):
 

   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023   2022  
   Class A   Class B   Class A    Class B  
Basic and diluted net (loss) income per ordinary share         
Numerator:         
Allocation of net (loss) income, as adjusted   $(3,841,312)   $ (3,038,682)   $ 5,765,370   $ 1,441,343 
Denominator:         
Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding    9,779,707    7,736,268    30,945,072    7,736,268 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Basic net (loss) income per ordinary share   $ (0.39)   $ (0.39)   $ 0.19   $ 0.19 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Company’s assets and liabilities, which qualify as financial instruments under ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurement,”
approximates the carrying amounts represented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, primarily due to their short-term nature, except for the
warrant liabilities (see Note 10).
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Recent Accounting Standards

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, “Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40)” (“ASU 2020-06”), to simplify accounting for certain financial instruments. ASU 2020-06
eliminates the current models that require separation of beneficial conversion and cash conversion features from convertible instruments and simplifies
the derivative scope exception guidance pertaining to equity classification of contracts in an entity’s own equity. The new standard also introduces
additional disclosures for convertible debt and freestanding instruments that are indexed to and settled in an entity’s own equity. ASU 2020-06 amends
the diluted earnings per share guidance, including the requirement to use the if-converted method for all convertible instruments. As a smaller reporting
company, ASU 2020-06 is effective January 1, 2024 for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and should be applied on a full or modified
retrospective basis, with early adoption permitted beginning on January 1, 2021. The Company is currently assessing the impact, if any, that ASU
2020-06 would have on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The Company has not adopted this guidance as of December 31, 2023.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “ Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments” (“ASU 2016-13”). This update requires financial assets measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be
collected. The measurement of expected credit losses is based on relevant information about past events, including historical experience, current
conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount. Since June 2016, the FASB issued clarifying
updates to the new standard including changing the effective date for smaller reporting companies. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2022, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 on January
1, 2023. The adoption of ASU 2016-13 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards, if currently adopted, would have a material
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 4. PUBLIC OFFERING

Pursuant to the Initial Public Offering, the Company sold 30,000,000 Units, at a price of $10.00 per Unit. Each Unit consists of one Class A ordinary
share and one-third of one redeemable warrant (“Public Warrant”). Each whole Public Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Class A ordinary share
at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustment (see Note 10). On March 5, 2021, the underwriters partially exercised their over-allotment option,
resulting in an additional 945,072 Units issued for an aggregate amount of $9,450,720. In connection with the underwriters’ partial exercise of their
over-allotment option, the Company also consummated the sale of an additional 126,010 Private Placement Warrants at $1.50 per Private Placement
Warrant, generating total proceeds of $189,015. A total of $9,450,720 was deposited into the Trust Account, bringing the aggregate proceeds deposited
in the Trust Account to $309,450,720.

NOTE 5. PRIVATE PLACEMENT

Simultaneously with the closing of the Initial Public Offering, the Sponsor purchased 6,000,000 Private Placement Warrants at a price of $1.50 per
Private Placement Warrant, for an aggregate purchase price of $9,000,000. The Sponsor agreed to purchase up to an additional 600,000 Private
Placement Warrants, for an aggregate purchase price of an additional $900,000, if the over-allotment option is exercised in part by the
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underwriters. On March 5, the Sponsor purchased 126,010 Private Placement Warrants for an additional aggregate purchase price of $189,015 in
connection with the partial exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option. Each Private Placement Warrant is exercisable to purchase one Class A
ordinary share at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustment (see Note 10). A portion of the proceeds from the Private Placement Warrants was
added to the proceeds from the Initial Public Offering held in the Trust Account. If the Company does not complete a Business Combination within the
Combination Period, the proceeds from the sale of the Private Placement Warrants will be used to fund the redemption of the Public Shares (subject to
the requirements of applicable law), and the Private Placement Warrants will expire worthless. 

NOTE 6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Founder Shares

In December 2020, the Sponsor paid $25,000 to cover certain expenses on behalf of the Company in consideration for 7,187,500 Class B ordinary
shares (the “Founder Shares”). On March 1, 2021, the Company effected a share capitalization, pursuant to which an additional 1,437,500 Class B
ordinary shares were issued, resulting in an aggregate of 8,625,000 Founder Shares outstanding. Historical information has been retroactively restated.
The Founder Shares included an aggregate of up to 1,125,000 shares that were subject to forfeiture by the Sponsor following to the extent the
underwriters’ election to exercise their over-allotment option was not exercised so that the number of Founder Shares collectively represented 20% of
the Company’s issued and outstanding shares upon the completion of the Initial Public Offering (assuming the Sponsor did not purchase any Public
Shares in the Initial Public Offering). As a result of the underwriters’ not exercising their overallotment option in full, 888,732 Founder Shares were
forfeited on March 4, 2021.

The Sponsor has agreed, not to transfer, assign or sell any Founder Shares until the earlier to occur of (i) one year after the completion of the Company’s
Business Combination and (ii) subsequent to a Business Combination, (x) if the closing price of the Company’s Class A ordinary shares equals or
exceeds $12.00 per share (as adjusted for share subdivisions, share capitalizations, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days
within any 30-trading day period commencing at least 150 days after the Company’s Business Combination or (y) the date on which the Company
completes a liquidation, merger, share exchange, or other similar transaction that results in all of the Company’s public shareholders having the right to
exchange their Class A ordinary shares for cash, securities or other property.

Administrative Services Agreement

The Company entered into an agreement, commencing on March 4, 2021, through the earlier of the Company’s consummation of a Business
Combination and its liquidation, to pay an affiliate of the Sponsor a total of $10,000 per month for office space, secretarial and administrative services.
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the total expense for administrative services was $120,000. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
Company had $340,000 and $220,000 included in accounts payable and accrued expense on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets,
respectively.

 

Promissory Note — Related Party

On December 29, 2020, the Sponsor issued an unsecured promissory note to the Company (the “Promissory Note”), pursuant to which the Company
could borrow up to an aggregate principal amount of $300,000. The Promissory Note was non-interest bearing and payable on the earlier of (i) July 31,
2021 or (ii) the completion of the Initial Public Offering. The outstanding amount of $171,357 was repaid after the closing of the Initial Public Offering
on March 9, 2021. Borrowings under the Promissory Note are no longer available.
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Related Party Advance

On March 3, 2023, the Sponsor advanced the Company $50,000. On April 18, 2023, July 26, 2023, August 28, 2023, September 28, 2023, and October
24, 2023, the Sponsor advanced the Company an additional $250,000, $100,000, $100,000, $75,000 and $75,000, respectively. The related party
advances are non-interest bearing and payable upon demand. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had $650,000 and $0 included in related
party advances in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, respectively.

Related Party Loans

In order to finance transaction costs in connection with a Business Combination, the Sponsor or an affiliate of the Sponsor, or certain of the Company’s
officers and directors may, but are not obligated to, loan the Company funds as may be required (the “Working Capital Loans”). If the Company
completes a Business Combination, the Company may repay the Working Capital Loans. Otherwise, the Working Capital Loans may be repaid only out
of funds held outside the Trust Account. The Working Capital Loans would either be repaid upon consummation of a Business Combination or, at the
lender’s discretion, up to $1,500,000 of such Working Capital Loans may be convertible into warrants of the post-Business Combination entity at a price
of $1.50 per warrant. Such warrants would be identical to the Private Placement Warrants. Except for the foregoing, the terms of such Working Capital
Loans, if any, have not been determined and no written agreements exist with respect to such loans. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no
working capital loans outstanding.

Non-Redemption Agreement

On February 28, 2023, the Sponsor entered into Non-Redemption Agreements with various shareholders of the Company pursuant to which these
shareholders have committed not to redeem their Class A Ordinary Shares of the company in connection with the Extension Meeting held on March 3,
2023, but still retained their right to redeem their respective shares in connection with the closing of a Business Combination. The commitment to not
redeem was accepted by holders of 400,000 shares of Class A Ordinary Shares. In consideration of these agreements, the Sponsor has agreed to transfer
1,612,500 of its Class B Ordinary shares to each of the Non-Redeeming Shareholders at the closing of a Business Combination. Each shareholder
committed to maintain, and not to redeem at the Extension Meeting, the lesser of (i) 400,000 Class A Ordinary Shares and (ii) 9.9% of the Company’s
Class A Ordinary Shares. The Company estimated the aggregate fair value of the 1,612,500 founders shares attributable to the Non-Redeeming
Shareholders to be $7,291,533 or $4.99 per share. Each Non-Redeeming Shareholder acquired from the Sponsor an indirect economic interest in the
founder shares. The excess of the fair value of the founder shares was determined to be an offering cost in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin
Topic 5A. Accordingly, in substance, it was recognized by the Company as a capital contribution by the Sponsor to induce these holders of the Class A
Ordinary Shares not to redeem, with a corresponding expense related to non-redemption agreements of $7,291,533 for the year ended December 31,
2023. 

 
On December 1, 2023, the Sponsor entered into Non-Redemption Agreements with various shareholders of the Company pursuant to which these
shareholders have committed not to redeem their Class A Ordinary Shares of the company in connection with the Extension Meeting held on
December 1, 2023, but still retained their right to redeem their respective shares in connection with the closing of a Business Combination. The
commitment to not redeem was accepted by holders of 1,971,536 shares of Class A Ordinary Shares. In consideration of these agreements, the Sponsor
has agreed to transfer 246,443 of its Class B Ordinary shares to the Non-Redeeming Shareholders at the closing of a Business Combination. Each
shareholder committed to maintain, and not to redeem at the Extension Meeting, the lesser of (i) 400,000 Class A Ordinary Shares and (ii) 9.9% of the
Company’s Class A Ordinary Shares. The Company estimated the aggregate fair value of the 246,443 founders
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shares attributable to the Non-Redeeming Shareholders to be $1,323,008 or $5.37 per share. Each Non-Redeeming Shareholder acquired from the
Sponsor an indirect economic interest in the founder shares. The excess of the fair value of the founder shares was determined to be an offering cost in
accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 5A. Accordingly, in substance, it was recognized by the Company as a capital contribution by the
Sponsor to induce these holders of the Class A Ordinary Shares not to redeem, with a corresponding expense related to non-redemption agreements of
$1,323,008 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The fair value of the founders shares was based on the following significant inputs:
 

   
February 28,

 2023   
December 1,

 2023  
Risk-free interest rate    4.72%   5.38% 
Remaining life of the Company    0.76   0.42 
Value if De-SPAC scenario   $ 10.21  $ 10.67 
Value in no De-SPAC scenario   $ 0.00  $ 0.00 
Probability of transaction    50.00%   50.00% 
Present value factor    0.97   1.01 

NOTE 7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Risks and Uncertainties

Management continues to evaluate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and has concluded that while it is reasonably possible that the virus could
have a negative effect on the Company’s financial position, results of its operations and/or the completion of the Business Combination, the specific
impact is not readily determinable as of the date of these consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Various social and political circumstances in the United States and around the world (including wars and other forms of conflict, including rising trade
tensions between the United States and China, and other uncertainties regarding actual and potential shifts in the United States and foreign, trade,
economic and other policies with other countries, terrorist acts, security operations and catastrophic events such as fires, floods, earthquakes, tornadoes,
hurricanes and global health epidemics) may also contribute to increased market volatility and economic uncertainties or deterioration in the United
States and worldwide. Specifically, the rising conflict between Russia and Ukraine, and resulting market volatility could adversely affect the Company’s
ability to complete a business combination. In response to the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, the United States and other countries have imposed
sanctions or other restrictive actions against Russia. Any of the above factors, including sanctions, export controls, tariffs, trade wars and other
governmental actions, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to complete a business combination and the value of the
Company’s securities.

Registration Rights

Pursuance to a registration rights agreement entered into on March 4, 2021, the holders of the Founder Shares, Private Placement Warrants and any
warrants that may be issued upon conversion of Working Capital Loans (and any Class A ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of the Private
Placement Warrants or warrants issued upon conversion of the Working Capital Loans) will be entitled to registration rights pursuant to a registration
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rights agreement to be signed prior to or on the effective date of the Initial Public Offering. The holders of these securities are entitled to make up to
three demands, excluding short form demands, that the Company register such securities.

In addition, the holders have certain “piggyback” registration rights with respect to registration statements filed subsequent to the completion of a
Business Combination. However, the registration and shareholder rights agreement provide that the Company will not permit any registration statement
filed under the Securities Act to become effective until termination of the applicable lockup period, which occurs (i) in the case of the Founder Shares,
and (ii) in the case of the Private Placement Warrants and the respective Class A ordinary shares underlying such warrants, 30 days after the completion
of the Business Combination. The registration rights agreement does not contain liquidated damages or other cash settlement provisions resulting from
delays in registering the Company’s securities. The Company will bear the expenses incurred in connection with the filing of any such registration
statements.

Underwriting Agreement

The Company granted the underwriters a 45-day option from the date of the Initial Public Offering to purchase up to 4,500,000 additional Units to cover
over-allotments, if any, at the Initial Public Offering price less the underwriting discounts and commissions. On March 5, 2021, the underwriters elected
to partially exercise their over-allotment option to purchase an additional 945,072 Units and their option to purchase an additional 3,554,928 Units
expired.

The underwriters are entitled to a deferred fee of $0.35 per Unit, or $10,830,775 in the aggregate. The deferred fee will become payable to the
underwriters from the amounts held in the Trust Account solely in the event that the Company completes a Business Combination, subject to the terms
of the underwriting agreement.

On November 1, 2023, Citi Global Markets, Inc. agreed to waive its entitlement to its portion of the deferred underwriting commission of $10,397,544
to which it became entitled upon completion of the Company’s Initial Public Offering. As a result, the Company derecognized the deferred underwriting
fee payable of $10,397,544 and recorded $10,049,200 of the forgiveness of the deferred underwriting fee allocated to Public Shares to the carrying value
of the shares of Class A ordinary shares and the remaining balance of $348,344 was as a gain from extinguishment of liability allocated to warrant
liabilities and is included in forgiveness of deferred underwriting fee on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2023
and 2022, the deferred underwriting fee payable is $433,231 and $10,830,775, respectively.

Consulting Agreement

On January 27, 2021, the Company entered into a Consulting Agreement for financial advisory services. The Company agrees to pay the consultant
$2,000,000 and reimburse the consultant for all reasonable and documented expenses, which shall be earned upon announcement of an initial Business
Combination and payable at the closing of the initial Business Combination. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had $2,000,000 included
in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

 

Business Combination Agreement

On July 25, 2022, the Company entered into the Business Combination Agreement, by and among the Company, Merger Sub and GloriFi which was
subsequently terminated on January 26, 2023.
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Business Combination Expense Reimbursement Agreement

On February 21, 2022, the Company and GloriFi entered into an agreement pursuant to which GloriFi agreed to reimburse the Company certain business
combination related expenses.

Termination of GloriFi Business Combination Agreement

On January 26, 2023, the Company sent GloriFi written notice that the Company had terminated the Business Combination Agreement, pursuant to
Section 9.01(i) and Section 9.01(f) the Business Combination Agreement. The Company’s decision to terminate the Business Combination Agreement
took into account the fact that GloriFi publicly announced that GloriFi was winding down its operations and closing its digital banking platform and
other products.

As a result of the termination of the Business Combination Agreement, each of the Ancillary Agreements (as defined in the Business Combination
Agreement) was terminated.

Capital Markets Advisor Agreement

On February 27, 2023, the Company engaged an advisor (the “Advisor”) as its capital markets advisor in connection with seeking an extension for
completing a business combination and capital markets advisor in connection with a private placement of equity, equity-linked, convertible and/or debt
securities or other capital or debt raising transaction in connection with a possible business combination transaction with a third party (“Target”).
Pursuant to this agreement, contingent on the close of a business combination, the Company agreed to pay the Advisor a transaction fee in an amount
equal to $2,000,000 plus an amount equal to 4.0% of the sum of the gross proceeds raised from investors identified by the Advisor and received by the
Company or Target simultaneously with or before the closing of the Offering and the proceeds released from the Trust Account in connection with the
business combination with respect to any shareholder of the Company that entered into a non-redemption or other similar agreement or did not redeem
Client’s Class A ordinary shares, in each instance to the extent such shareholder was identified to Company by the Advisor.

Business Combination Agreement

On September 7, 2023, the Company entered into the Business Combination Agreement, by and among the Company, Merger Sub and BEN which is
discussed in greater detail in Note 1.

Legal Fees

On August 12, 2023, the Company and BEN entered into an agreement with the Company’s legal advisors (“Legal Advisor”), where it is agreed that
$4,000,000 will be paid to the Legal Advisors at closing of the Business Combination with the remaining amounts of such legal fees and expenses which
shall not exceed $1,750,000. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, $4,380,958 and $2,691,769, respectively, is included in accounts payable and accrued
expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet.

On March 14, 2024, the agreement was amended, where the total consideration to be paid to the Legal Advisor shall be $3,500,000. The Company and
BEN jointly agree to pay $500,000 at the closing of the Business Combination. The remaining legal fees and expenses shall be paid, as follows:
 

 •  $1,000,000 at the closing of any capital raised by BEN at anytime in any form debt or equity in the year ended December 31, 2024 with
proceeds in excess of $5,000,000, which amounts would be an advance on the following obligations

 

 •  $1,750,000 by ended of the year ended December 31, 2024, to be paid in monthly installments of $145,833 starting on June 1, 2024
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 •  $1,250,000 by ended of the year ended December 31, 2025, to be paid in monthly installments of $125,000 starting on March 14, 2025

NOTE 8. SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

Preference Shares—The Company is authorized to issue 5,000,000 preference shares with a par value of $0.0001 per share, with such designations,
voting and other rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by the Company’s board of directors. At December 31, 2023 and 2022,
there were no preference shares issued or outstanding.

Class A Ordinary Shares—The Company is authorized to issue 500,000,000 shares of Class A ordinary shares with a par value of $0.0001 per share.
Holders of Class A ordinary shares are entitled to one vote for each share. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 2,057,453 and 30,945,072 shares
of Class A ordinary shares subject to possible redemption, respectively, which are presented as temporary equity.

Class B Ordinary Shares—The Company is authorized to issue 50,000,000 Class B ordinary shares with a par value of $0.0001 per share. Holders of
Class B ordinary shares are entitled to one vote for each share. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 7,736,268 shares of Class B ordinary shares
issued and outstanding.

Holders of Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares will vote together as a single class on all other matters submitted to a vote of
shareholders, except as required by law; provided that only holders of Class B ordinary shares have the right to vote on the appointment of directors
prior to the Company’s initial Business Combination. The Class B ordinary shares will automatically convert into Class A ordinary shares at the time of
a Business Combination on a one-for-one basis, subject to adjustment. In the case that additional Class A ordinary shares, or equity-linked securities, are
issued or deemed issued in excess of the amounts sold in the Initial Public Offering and related to the closing of a Business Combination, the ratio at
which Class B ordinary shares shall convert into Class A ordinary shares will be adjusted (unless the holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding
Class B ordinary shares agree to waive such anti-dilution adjustment with respect to any such issuance or deemed issuance) so that the number of
Class A ordinary shares issuable upon conversion of all Class B ordinary shares will equal, in the aggregate, 20% of the sum of all ordinary shares
issued and outstanding upon completion of the Initial Public Offering plus all Class A ordinary shares and equity-linked securities issued or deemed
issued in connection with the Business Combination (excluding any shares or equity-linked securities issued, or to be issued, to any seller in the
Business Combination and any private placement-equivalent warrants issued to the Sponsor or its affiliates upon conversion of loans made to the
Company).

NOTE 9. WARRANT LIABILITIES

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 10,315,024 Public Warrants outstanding. Public Warrants may only be exercised for a whole number of
shares. No fractional warrants will be issued upon separation of the Units and only whole warrants will trade. The Public Warrants will become
exercisable on the later of (a) one year from the closing of the Initial Public Offering and (b) 30 days after the completion of a Business Combination.
The Public Warrants will expire five years after the completion of a Business Combination or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

The Company will not be obligated to deliver any Class A ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of a Public Warrant and will have no obligation to
settle such Public Warrant exercise unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the issuance of the Class A ordinary shares
underlying the Public Warrants is then effective and a prospectus relating thereto is current, subject to the Company satisfying its obligations with
respect to registration, or a valid exemption from registration is available. No Public Warrant will be exercisable
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for cash or on a cashless basis, and the Company will not be obligated to issue any shares to holders seeking to exercise their warrants, unless the
issuance of the shares upon such exercise is registered or qualified under the securities laws of the state of the exercising holder, or an exemption is
available.

The Company has agreed that as soon as practicable, but in no event later than twenty business days after the closing of the Company’s Business
Combination, the Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to file with the SEC a registration statement for the registration, under the
Securities Act, of the Class A ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants, and the Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to
cause the same to become effective within 60 business days after the closing of a Business Combination, and to maintain the effectiveness of such
registration statement and a current prospectus relating to those Class A ordinary shares until the warrants expire or are redeemed, as specified in the
warrant agreement; provided that the Class A ordinary shares are at the time of any exercise of a warrant not listed on a national securities exchange
such that they satisfy the definition of a “covered security” under Section 18(b)(1) of the Securities Act, the Company may, at its option, require holders
of public warrants who exercise their warrants to do so on a “cashless basis” in accordance with Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act and, in the event
the Company so elects, the Company will not be required to file or maintain in effect a registration statement, but will use its commercially reasonably
efforts to register or qualify the shares under applicable blue sky laws to the extent an exemption is not available.

Once the warrants become exercisable, the Company may redeem the Public Warrants for redemption (Redemption of warrants when the price per
Class A ordinary share equals or exceeds $18.00):
 

 •  in whole and not in part;
 

 •  at a price of $0.01 per warrant;
 

 •  upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and
 

 
•  if, and only if, the closing price of the Class A ordinary shares equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for adjustments to the

number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant) for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending
three trading days before the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

The Company will not redeem the warrants unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the issuance of the Class A ordinary shares
issuable upon exercise of the warrants is then effective and a current prospectus relating to those Class A ordinary shares is available throughout the
30-day redemption period. If and when the warrants become redeemable the Company may exercise its redemption right even if the Company is unable
to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws.

Redemption of warrants when the price per Class A ordinary share equals or exceeds $10.00. Once the warrants become exercisable, the Company
may redeem the outstanding warrants:
 

 •  in whole and not in part;
 

 
•  at $0.10 per warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption provided that holders will be able to exercise their

warrants on a cashless basis prior to redemption and receive that number of shares determined based on the redemption date and the “fair
market value” of the Class A ordinary shares;

 

 
•  if, and only if, the closing price of the Class A ordinary shares equals or exceeds $10.00 per public share (as adjusted for adjustments to the

number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant) for any 20 trading days within the 30-trading-day period ending
three trading days before the Company send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders; and

 

 •  if the closing price of the Class A ordinary shares for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading-day period ending on the third trading day
prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of
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 redemption to the warrant holders is less than $18.00 per share, the Private Placement Warrants must also be concurrently called for

redemption on the same terms as the outstanding public warrants.

In addition, if (x) the Company issue additional Class A ordinary shares or equity-linked securities for capital raising purposes in connection with the
closing of a Business Combination at an issue price or effective issue price of less than $9.20 per ordinary share (with such issue price or effective issue
price to be determined in good faith by the board of directors and, in the case of any such issuance to the Sponsor or its affiliates, without taking into
account any Founder Shares held by the Sponsor or such affiliates, as applicable, prior to such issuance) (the “Newly Issued Price”), (y) the aggregate
gross proceeds from such issuances represent more than 60% of the total equity proceeds, and interest thereon, available for the funding of the initial
business combination on the date of the consummation of a Business Combination (net of redemptions), and (z) the volume weighted average trading
price of the Class A ordinary shares during the 20 trading day period starting on the trading day prior to the day on which the Company consummates its
initial business combination (such price, the “Market Value”) is below $9.20 per share, the exercise price of the warrants will be adjusted (to the nearest
cent) to be equal to 115% of the higher of the Market Value and the Newly Issued Price, the $18.00 per share redemption trigger price will be adjusted
(to the nearest cent) to be equal to 180% of the higher of the Market Value and the Newly Issued Price, and the $10.00 per share redemption trigger price
will be adjusted (to the nearest cent) to be equal to the higher of the Market Value and the Newly Issued Price.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 6,126,010 Private Placement Warrants outstanding. The Private Placement Warrants will be identical to
the Public Warrants underlying the Units being sold in the Initial Public Offering, except that (x) the Private Placement Warrants and the Class A
ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of the Private Placement Warrants will not be transferable, assignable or salable until 30 days after the
completion of a Business Combination, subject to certain limited exceptions. Additionally, the Private Placement Warrants will be exercisable on a
cashless basis and be non-redeemable as described above so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the Private
Placement Warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the Private Placement Warrants will be
redeemable by the Company and exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants.

NOTE 10. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities reflects management’s estimate of amounts that the Company would have received in
connection with the sale of the assets or paid in connection with the transfer of the liabilities in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. In connection with measuring the fair value of its assets and liabilities, the Company seeks to maximize the use of observable inputs
(market data obtained from independent sources) and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs (internal assumptions about how market participants
would price assets and liabilities). The following fair value hierarchy is used to classify assets and liabilities based on the observable inputs and
unobservable inputs used in order to value the assets and liabilities:
 

Level 1:

  

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. An active market for an asset or liability is a market in
which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an
ongoing basis.

Level 2:
  

Observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs. Examples of Level 2 inputs include quoted prices in active markets for similar
assets or liabilities and quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active.

Level 3:
  

Unobservable inputs based on assessment of the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability.
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At December 31, 2023, assets held in the Trust Account were comprised of $22,040,092 of cash.

At December 31, 2022, assets held in the Trust Account were comprised of $313,913,217 of money market funds which are invested primarily in U.S.
Treasury Securities.  

The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31,
2023 and 2022, and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation inputs the Company utilized to determine such fair value:
 

   December 31, 2023    December 31, 2022  
   Level   Amount    Level   Amount  
Assets:         
Cash and investments held in Trust Account    1   $22,040,092    1   $ 313,913,217 
Liabilities:         
Warrant Liabilities – Public Warrants    2   $ 206,300    2   $ 103,150 
Warrant Liabilities – Private Placement Warrants    2   $ 122,520    2   $ 61,260 

The Warrants were accounted for as liabilities in accordance with ASC 815-40 and are presented within warrant liabilities on the Company’s
accompanying December 31, 2023 and 2022 consolidated balance sheets. The warrant liabilities are measured at fair value at inception and on a
recurring basis, with changes in fair value presented within change in fair value of warrant liabilities in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company established the initial fair value for the Warrants on March 4, 2021, the date of the Company’s Initial Public Offering, using a Monte
Carlo Simulation for the Private Placement Warrants and the Public Warrants. The subsequent measurements of the Public Warrants after the detachment
of the Public Warrants from the Units was established by the public warrant price. The subsequent measurements of the Private Placement Warrants
were established by using the closing price of the Public Warrants, an observable market quote for a similar asset in an active market. At December 31,
2023 and 2022, the Public Warrants have detached from the Units, and the closing price is utilized as the fair value.

Transfers to/from Levels 1, 2 and 3 are recognized at the end of the reporting period in which a change in valuation technique or methodology occurs.
On September 30, 2022, due to the lack of an active market, the estimated fair value of the Public Warrants transferred from a Level 1 measurement to a
Level 2 fair value measurement was $1,031,502.

NOTE 11. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company evaluated subsequent events and transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date up to the date that the consolidated financial
statements were issued. Based upon this review, other than as described below, the Company did not identify any subsequent events that would have
required adjustment or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.

On January 11, 2024, the Company received a notice (the “Annual Meeting Notice”) from the Listing Qualifications Department of The Nasdaq Stock
Market LLC stating that the Company failed to hold an annual meeting of stockholders within 12 months after its fiscal year ended December 31, 2022,
as required by Nasdaq Listing Rule 5620(a). In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(2)(G), the Company has 45 calendar days (or until
February 26, 2024) to submit a plan to regain compliance and, if Nasdaq accepts the plan, Nasdaq may grant the Company up to 180 calendar days from
its fiscal year end, or until June 28, 2024, to regain compliance. 
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The Company intends to submit a compliance plan within the specified period. While the compliance plan is pending, the Company’s securities will
continue to trade on Nasdaq.

On March 5, 2024, the Company received a notice (the “Deadline Notice”) from the staff of the Listing Qualifications Department of Nasdaq indicating
that, unless the Company timely requested a hearing before the Nasdaq Hearings Panel (the “Panel”) by March 12, 2024, trading of the Company’s
securities on The Nasdaq Capital Market would be suspended at the opening of business on March 14, 2024, due to the Company’s non-compliance with
Nasdaq IM-5101-2, which requires that a special purpose acquisition company complete one or more business combinations within 36 months of the
effectiveness of its IPO registration statement. The Company timely requested a hearing before the Panel to request sufficient time to complete the
Company’s previously disclosed Business Combination. In addition, the Deadline Notice indicated that the Company should be prepared to address the
concerns raised in the Annual Meeting Notice in its hearing before the Panel related to the Deadline Notice. The hearing request resulted in a stay of any
suspension or delisting action pending the outcome of the hearing. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to satisfy Nasdaq’s
continued listing requirements, regain compliance with Nasdaq IM-5101-2 or Nasdaq Listing Rule 5620(a), and maintain compliance with other Nasdaq
listing requirements. While request for a hearing before the Panel is pending, the Company’s securities will continue to trade on Nasdaq.

The Company expects that its non-compliance with Nasdaq IM-5101-2 has been resolved upon closing of the Business Combination.

Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, on March 13, 2024, DHC changed its jurisdiction of incorporation by domesticating as a corporation
incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law and the Companies Act (as revised) of
the Cayman Islands.

On the Closing Date, DHC consummated the previously announced business combination pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, following
approval thereof at the Special Meeting.

On March 14, 2024, the Company and BEN amended the agreement with the Legal Advisors as described in Note 7.
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Exhibit 14.1

BRAND ENGAGEMENT NETWORK INC.

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS
 
A. GENERAL

This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) applies to all directors, officer and employees of Brand Engagement Network Inc. (the
“Company”). Such covered individuals are referred to herein collectively as the “Covered Parties.”

This Code is subject to repeal and amendment at any time by the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”).

 
B. COMMITMENT AND PURPOSE

The Covered Parties are committed to high standards of integrity, providing a safe and healthy environment and respecting the dignity of all of our
stakeholders, including the communities in which we operate. The Company is committed to observing sound business practices and to act as concerned
and responsible neighbors, reflecting all aspects of good citizenship. For the Company’s stockholders, it is committed to pursuing sound growth and
earnings objectives and to exercising prudence in the use of our assets and resources.

The Company has and will continue to uphold a high level of business ethics and personal integrity in all types of transactions and interactions. This
Code is intended to (1) emphasize the Company’s commitment to ethics and compliance with the law, (2) set forth basic standards of ethical and legal
behavior, (3) provide reporting mechanisms for known or suspected ethical or legal violations and (4) help prevent and detect wrongdoing.

Given the variety and complexity of ethical questions that may arise in the Company’s course of business, this Code serves only as a guide. Confronted
with ethically ambiguous situations, Covered Parties should be mindful of the Company’s commitment to high ethical standards and seek advice from
the Company’s general counsel (the “General Counsel”), or other appropriate personnel, such as members of the legal and compliance department, to
ensure that all actions taken on behalf of the Company honor this commitment.

 
C. ETHICAL STANDARDS

Promote a Positive and Safe Work Environment

All employees want and deserve a workplace where they feel safe, respected, satisfied and appreciated. The Company respects cultural diversity and
will not tolerate harassment or discrimination of any kind — especially involving race, color, sex, religion, gender, age, national origin, disability,
gender identity or expression, sexual orientation, veteran or marital status, or any other characteristic protected by law or otherwise. Providing an
environment that supports honesty, integrity, respect, trust, responsibility and citizenship permits us the opportunity to achieve excellence in our
workplace. While everyone who works for the Company must contribute to the creation and maintenance of such an environment, our executives and
management personnel assume special responsibility for fostering a work environment that will bring out the best in all of us. Supervisors and managers
must be careful in words and conduct to avoid placing, or seeming to place, pressure on subordinates that could cause them to deviate from acceptable
ethical behavior.



Keep and Retain Accurate and Complete Records

The Company must maintain accurate and complete Company records. Transactions between the Company and outside individuals and organizations
must be promptly and accurately entered into our books in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and principles, government
requirements, and the Company’s system of internal controls. In addition, any Company filings with regulatory authorities must be accurate,
understandable and prepared in a timely manner. No one should rationalize or even consider misrepresenting facts or falsifying records. It will not be
tolerated and will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination and, if necessary, will result in referring the matter to the applicable state,
local and federal authorities.

The Company’s records must be retained according to all applicable laws and Company policies relating to the retention of records. Any records that are
potentially relevant to a breach of law, litigation, investigation or proceeding, whether pending, threatened or foreseeable, must not be destroyed. Any
questions regarding records retention should be directed to the General Counsel.

Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations

The Covered Parties must conduct the Company’s business in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations at all levels of government in
the United States, including the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, and in any non-U.S. jurisdiction in which the Company does business, both
in letter and in spirit. Compliance with the law does not comprise our entire ethical responsibility. Rather, it is a minimum condition for performance of
our duties. Although not all Covered Parties are expected to know the details of these laws, it is important to know enough about the applicable local,
state and national laws to determine when to seek advice from the General Counsel, the CLO or other appropriate personnel, such as members of the
legal department.

Timely and Truthful Public Disclosure

Each director, officer and employee who is involved in the Company’s disclosure process must be familiar with and comply with the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures and its internal control over financial reporting; and take all necessary steps to ensure that all filings with the SEC
and all other public communications about the financial and business condition of the Company provide full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable
disclosure.

In reports and documents filed with or submitted to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and other regulators by the Company, and in other
public communications made by the Company, the Covered Parties involved in the preparation of such reports and documents (including those who are
involved in the preparation of financial or other reports and the information included in such reports and documents) shall make disclosures that are full,
fair, accurate, timely and understandable, and that are compliant with all applicable federal securities laws and the rules and regulations of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission. Where applicable, these Covered Parties shall provide accurate financial and accounting data for inclusion in
such disclosures. Covered Parties shall not knowingly falsify information, misrepresent material facts or omit material facts necessary to avoid
misleading the Company’s independent auditors or investors. Covered Parties shall never take any action to coerce, manipulate, mislead or fraudulently
influence the Company’s independent auditors in the performance of their audit or review of the Company’s financial statements. Any violation of the
foregoing will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination, and, if necessary, will result in referring the matter to the applicable state,
local and federal authorities.
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Avoid Conflicts of Interest

A conflict of interest can arise when a person’s personal, outside business or family interests interfere or appear to interfere with the person’s ability to
make business decisions in the best interest of the Company. An actual conflict of interest exists when a person’s personal interest and professional
responsibility at the Company conflict, including your ability to remain objective in your role at the Company. A perceived conflict of interest exists
when it appears a person’s personal interests may compromise carrying out your professional responsibility at the Company in an objective manner. The
Covered Parties must seek to avoid any activity that is a conflict of interest or has the appearance of a conflict of interest with the Company.

Officers and employees are under a continuing obligation to disclose to their immediate supervisor or the General Counsel any situation that presents the
possibility of a conflict or disparity of interest between the officer, director or employee and the Company. Directors should disclose any potential
conflict to the Chairman of the Board and obtain a waiver from the Board of Directors before serving on the board of directors of a potential competitor
or a customer, vendor or contractor of the Company. Disclosure of any potential conflict is the key to remaining in full compliance with this policy.

If a potential conflict of interest would constitute a “related party transaction” that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to applicable federal
securities laws, the terms of the proposed transaction must be reported in writing to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors for approval in
accordance with our Related Party Transaction Policy, which we have provided to you.

The Covered Parties shall not: (i) take for themselves personally opportunities that are discovered through the use of Company property, information or
position; (ii) use Company property, information or position for personal gain; or (iii) directly compete with the Company, subject to our certificate of
incorporation.

Corporate Opportunities

Except as may be permitted by the Company’s certificate of incorporation, Covered Parties are prohibited from (1) taking for themselves opportunities
that are discovered through the use of Company property, information or position without the consent of the Board of Directors, (2) using Company
property, information or position for improper personal gain, and (3) competing with the Company directly or indirectly. Covered Parties owe a duty to
the Company to advance its legitimate interests whenever possible.

Compete Ethically and Fairly for Business Opportunities

The Company must comply with the laws and regulations that pertain to the provision of our liquidity services. The Company will compete fairly and
ethically for all business opportunities. In circumstances where there is reason to believe that the release or receipt of non-public information is
unauthorized, do not attempt to obtain and do not accept such information from any source. The Company is committed to preventing even the
appearance of improper information gathering.

Stealing proprietary information, possessing trade secret information that was obtained without the owner’s consent, or inducing improper disclosure of
such information by past or present employees of companies is prohibited. No Covered Party should take unfair advantage of anyone through
manipulation, concealment, abuse of privileged information, misrepresentation of material facts, or similar unfair practice.
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No Illegal and Questionable Gifts or Favors

The purpose of business entertainment and gifts in a commercial setting is to create good will and sound working relationships, not to gain unfair
advantage with clients and partners. The Covered Parties will neither give nor accept business courtesies that constitute, or could be reasonably
perceived as constituting, unfair business inducements or that would violate law, regulation or policies of the Company, or could cause embarrassment to
or reflect negatively on the Company’s reputation. No gift or entertainment should ever be offered or accepted by a Covered Party or any family member
of a Covered Party unless it (1) is consistent with customary business practices, (2) is not excessive in value, (3) cannot be construed as a bribe or payoff
and (4) does not violate any laws or regulations. The offer or acceptance of cash gifts or cash equivalents to or from an investor, prospective investor, or
any entity that does or seeks to do business with or on behalf of the Company by any Covered Party is prohibited. Covered Parties should discuss with
the General Counsel or other appropriate personnel any gifts or proposed gifts that they think may be inappropriate.

In addition, the various branches and levels of government have different laws restricting gifts, including meals, entertainment, transportation and
lodging, that may be provided to government officials and government employees. Business courtesies are generally broadly defined to include anything
of value, with only very minor exceptions such as refreshments as described below. Therefore, except as otherwise expressly permitted by law or
regulation, the Covered Parties are prohibited from offering or providing any business courtesy including meals, entertainment, travel or lodging
expenses to any government employee or representative. Modest refreshments, such as soft drinks, tea, coffee and fruit, offered occasionally in
conjunction with business activities may be acceptable. If the Company deals with representatives of a state or local agency, it is responsible for
complying with that agency’s standards of conduct. Where there is any question as to a particular agency’s standards of conduct, you must contact the
General Counsel in advance for guidance.

Maintain the Integrity of Consultants, Agents and Representatives

Business integrity is a key standard for the selection and retention of those who represent the Company. The Covered Parties must certify their
willingness to comply with the Company’s policies and procedures and must never be retained to circumvent our values and principles. The Covered
Parties must follow applicable anticorruption law, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which prohibits offering or giving anything of value
to government officials or any other third party with whom the Company conducts business in order to obtain or retain business, or to otherwise seek a
commercial advantage. Paying bribes or kickbacks, engaging in industrial espionage, obtaining the proprietary data of a third party without authority or
gaining inside information or influence are just a few examples of what could give us an unfair competitive advantage and could result in violations of
law. The Company strictly prohibits bribery of any kind, regardless of whether it is dealing with public or private entities and officials.

It is not permissible to offer anything of value for corrupt purposes, such as obtaining favorable treatment with a current or prospective customer.
Employees are prohibited from offering, giving, soliciting or accepting any bribe or kickback, whether dealing with government officials, political
parties or representatives of commercial organizations. “Bribes” includes anything of value, including money, gifts, entertainment or other favors
offered, given, solicited or received for an improper purpose. A “kickback” is providing or receiving something of value either to obtain or reward
favorable treatment on a government contract or subcontract. There are serious consequences associated with failing to disclose a potential bribe or
kickbacks. Concerns or suspected violations should be reported to the General Counsel.
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Political Contributions and Activities

The Company encourages its employees to become involved in civic affairs and to participate in the political process. The Covered Parties must
understand, however, that their involvement and participation must be on an individual basis, on their own time and at their own expense. Federal, local
and state laws govern political contributions and activities and may restrict certain donations from the Company, whether in the form of funds, goods or
services, or employees’ work time.

Insider Trading

Covered Parties must strictly comply with our Insider Trading Policy.

Confidentiality

Covered Parties must maintain the confidentiality of confidential information entrusted to them, except that confidential information may be disclosed
(a) when such disclosure is authorized by the General Counsel or their designees, or (b) upon prior consultation with the General Counsel or their
designees, when such disclosure is required by laws or regulations. Confidential information includes all non-public information received or created by
the Company in connection with its business activities. It also includes information that third parties have entrusted to the Company.

The obligation to safeguard confidential information continues even after employment ends

Obtain and Use Company Assets Wisely

All Covered Parties should endeavor to protect the Company’s assets and ensure their efficient use. Theft, carelessness, and waste have an impact on the
Company’s profitability. Any suspected incident of fraud or theft should be immediately reported for investigation. The Company’s equipment should
not be used for non-Company business, though incidental personal use is permitted.

 
D. VIOLATIONS OF ETHICAL STANDARDS

Reporting Known or Suspected Violations

The Company’s directors, Chief Executive Officer, Presidents, Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and other professionals of the Company serving
in a finance, accounting, corporate treasury or tax roles shall promptly report (confidentially or anonymously, if desired) any known or suspected
violations of laws, rules, regulations or provisions of this Code, or any other matters that would compromise the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements, to the Chairperson of the Audit Committee. All other Covered Parties should consult with the General Counsel or other appropriate
personnel about known or suspected illegal or unethical behavior. These Covered Parties may also report questionable behavior in the same manner as
they may report complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters by notifying (anonymously, if desired) the
Chairperson of the Audit Committee. No retaliatory action of any kind will be permitted against anyone making such a report in good faith or assisting
in an investigation, and the Audit Committee will strictly enforce this prohibition.
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The Audit Committee may be contacted by mail at the address listed below:

Brand Engagement Network Inc.
Attn: Audit Committee

145 E. Snow King Avenue
PO Box 1045

Jackson, WY 83001

Accountability for Violations

If the Audit Committee or its designee determines that this Code has been violated, either directly or indirectly, by failure to report a violation or by
withholding information related to a violation, the offending Covered Party may be disciplined for noncompliance with penalties up to and including
removal from office or dismissal. Such penalties may include (i) written notices to the individual involved that a violation has been determined, (ii) a
written letter of reprimand by the Audit Committee, (iii) disgorgement, demotion or re-assignment of the individual involved, (iv) suspension with or
without pay or benefits, and (v) termination of employment. Violations of this Code may also constitute violations of law and may result in criminal
penalties and civil liabilities for the offending Covered Party and the Company. All Covered Parties are expected to cooperate in internal investigations
of misconduct.

Last Updated: March 14, 2024
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CODE OF ETHICS AND BUSINESS CONDUCT
FOR OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND

EMPLOYEES

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

By signing below, I acknowledge and certify that I have received, read, and understand Brand Engagement Network Inc.’s Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct for Officers, Directors and Employees (the “Code”).

I acknowledge that my employment relationship with the Company is terminable at will, by the Company or me, at any time, for any reason, with or
without cause.

I agree (i) to comply with the Code and conduct the business of the Company in keeping with the highest ethical standards and (ii) to comply with
international, federal, state and local laws applicable to the Company’s business. I understand that failure to comply with the Code will lead to
disciplinary action by the Company, which may include termination of my employment and/or a reduction of compensation or demotion.

(Please Print)
 

Name
 

Business Unit/Location
 

Position Title
 

Signature
 

Date
 

Please sign and return entire document to the General Counsel and keep a copy for your own files.
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Michael Zacharski, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Brand Engagement Network Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and



5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: April 1, 2024
 
/s/ Michael Zacharski
Michael Zacharski
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Bill Williams, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Brand Engagement Network Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and



5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: April 1, 2024
 
/s/ Bill Williams
Bill Williams
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Michael Zacharski, Chief Executive Officer of Brand Engagement Network Inc.
(the “Company”) hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:
 

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the
“Annual Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and

 

2. The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has set his hand hereto as of the 1st day of April, 2024.
 
/s/ Michael Zacharski
Michael Zacharski
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Bill Williams, Chief Financial Officer of Brand Engagement Network Inc. (the
“Company”) hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:
 

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.2 (the
“Annual Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and

 

2. The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has set his hand hereto as of the 1st day of April, 2024.
 
/s/ Bill Williams
Bill Williams
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 97.1

Brand Engagement Network Inc.
Compensation Recovery Policy

(As adopted March 14, 2024)

This Compensation Recovery Policy (this “Policy”) of Brand Engagement Network Inc. (the “Company”) is hereby adopted as of March 14, 2024 (the
“Effective Date”) by the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) in compliance with
Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule 5608 of the Nasdaq Listing Rules. Certain terms shall have the meanings set
forth in “Section 3. Definitions” below.

Section 1. Recovery Requirement

Subject to Section 4 of this Policy, in the event the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, then the Committee hereby directs the
Company, to the fullest extent permitted by governing law, to recover from each Executive Officer the amount received by an Executive Officer, if any,
of Erroneously Awarded Compensation, with such recovery occurring reasonably promptly after the Restatement Date relating to such Accounting
Restatement. An Executive Officer shall be deemed to have “received” Incentive-Based Compensation in the Company’s fiscal period during which the
Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of the Incentive-Based
Compensation occurs after the end of that fiscal period.

The Committee may effect recovery in any manner consistent with applicable law including, but not limited to, (a) seeking reimbursement of all or part
of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation previously received by an Executive Officer and to the extent that the Executive Officer does not reimburse
such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, suing and enforcing recovery against the Executive Officer for repayment of the Erroneously Awarded
Compensation, together with any expenses incurred by the Company in enforcing such recovery, (b) cancelling prior grants of Incentive-Based
Compensation, whether vested or unvested, restricted or deferred, or paid or unpaid, and through the forfeiture of previously vested equity awards,
(c) cancelling or setting-off against planned future grants of Incentive-Based Compensation, (d) deducting all or any portion of such Erroneously
Awarded Compensation from any other remuneration payable by the Company to such Executive Officer, and (e) any other method authorized by
applicable law or contract.

The Company’s right to recovery pursuant to this Policy is not dependent on if or when the Accounting Restatement is filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Section 2. Incentive-Based Compensation Subject to this Policy.

This Policy applies to all Incentive-Based Compensation received by each Executive Officer on or after the Effective Date:

(i) if such Incentive-Based Compensation was received on and after the date such person became an Executive Officer of the Company;

(ii)  if such Executive Officer served as an Executive Officer at any time during the performance period for that Incentive-Based Compensation;
and

(iii)  if such Incentive-Based Compensation was received during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the Restatement Date
(including any transition period that results from a change in
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the Company’s fiscal year that is within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years; provided that a transition period of nine to 12
months is deemed to be a completed fiscal year). 

This Policy shall apply and govern Incentive-Based Compensation received by any Executive Officer, notwithstanding any contrary or supplemental
term or condition in any document, plan or agreement including without limitation any employment contract, indemnification agreement, equity
agreement, or equity plan document. 

Section 3. Definitions:

For purposes of this Policy, the following terms have the meanings set forth below:
 

 

•  “Accounting Restatement” means an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial
reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error (i) in previously issued
financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements (commonly referred to as a “Big R” restatement) or
(ii) that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period
(commonly referred to as a “little r” restatement).

 

 

•  “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation received that exceeds the amount of
Incentive-Based Compensation that otherwise would have been received by the Executive Officer had it been determined based on the
restated amounts in the Accounting Restatement (computed without regard to any taxes paid). For Incentive-Based Compensation based on
stock price or total shareholder return (“TSR”), where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical
recalculation directly from the information in the Accounting Restatement the Company shall: (i) base the calculation of the amount on a
reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price or TSR upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation
received was based; and (ii) retain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the
Nasdaq Stock Market or, if a class of securities of the Company is no longer listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market, such other national
securities exchange or national securities association on which a class of the Company’s securities is then listed for trading.

 

 •  “Executive Officer” has the meaning set forth in Rule 5608(d) of the Nasdaq Listing Rules.
 

 •  “Financial Reporting Measures” has the meaning set forth in Rule 5608(d) of the Nasdaq Listing Rules.
 

 

•  “Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment
of a Financial Reporting Measure (including, without limitation, stock price or TSR), including, any short-term or long-term incentive
awards, cash bonuses, restricted stock awards or restricted stock unit awards that vest based on achievement of a Financial Reporting
Measure. Equity awards that vest exclusively upon completion of a specified employment period, without any performance condition, and
bonus awards that are discretionary or based on subjective goals or goals unrelated to Financial Reporting Measures, do not constitute
Incentive-Based Compensation.

 

 •  “Restatement Date” means the earlier to occur of (i) the date the Board or the Committee (or an officer or officers of the Company
authorized to take such action if Board action is not required)
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 concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement and (ii) the date a
court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement.

Section 4. Exceptions to Recovery

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company is not required to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the extent that the Committee has made
a determination that recovery would be impracticable and that:
 

(i) the direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered (provided, that, before
concluding that it would be impracticable to recover based on the expense of enforcement, the Company must make a reasonable attempt to
recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation and must document such attempts and provide such documentation to the Nasdaq Stock
Market);

 

(ii) recovery would violate one or more laws of the home country that were adopted prior to November 28, 2022 (provided, that, before concluding
that it would be impracticable to recover based on violation of home country law, the Company must obtain an opinion of home country counsel,
acceptable to the Nasdaq Stock Market, that recovery would result in a such a violation and provide a copy of such opinion to the Nasdaq Stock
Market);

 

(iii) recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company
and its subsidiaries, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder; or

 

(iv) any other exception permitted under Rule 5608 of the Nasdaq Listing Rules.

Section 5. No Right to Indemnification or Insurance

The Company shall not indemnify any Executive Officer against the loss of Erroneously Awarded Compensation or losses arising from any claims
relating to the Company’s enforcement of this Policy. In addition, the Company shall not pay, or reimburse any Executive Officer for, any premiums for
a third-party insurance policy purchased by the Executive Officer or any other party that would fund any of the Executive Officer’s potential recovery
obligations under this Policy.

Section 6. Award Agreements and Plan Documents

The Committee further directs the Company to include clawback language in each of the Company’s incentive compensation plans such that each
individual who receives Incentive-Based Compensation under those plans understands and agrees that all or any portion of such Incentive-Based
Compensation may be subject to recovery by the Company, and such individual may be required to repay all or any portion of such Incentive-Based
Compensation, if (i) recovery of such Incentive-Based Compensation is required by this Policy, (ii) such Incentive-Based Compensation is determined to
be based on materially inaccurate financial and/or performance information (which includes, but is not limited to, statements of earnings,
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revenues or gains); or (iii) repayment of such Incentive-Based Compensation is required by applicable federal or state securities and/or banking laws.

Section 7. Interpretation and Amendment of this Policy

The Committee, in its discretion, shall have the sole authority to interpret and make any determinations regarding this Policy. Any interpretation,
determination, or other action made or taken by the Committee shall be final, binding, and conclusive on all interested parties. The determination of the
Committee need not be uniform with respect to one or more officers. The Committee may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall
amend the Policy to comply applicable law or with any rules or standards adopted by the Nasdaq Stock Market or any national securities exchange on
which the Company’s securities are then listed. The Committee may terminate this Policy at any time.

Section 8. Other Recoupment Rights.

The Company intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent of the law. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not
in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any
employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement and any other remedies available to the Company under applicable law. Without
by implication limiting the foregoing, following a restatement of the Company’s financial statements, the Company also shall be entitled to recover any
compensation received by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer that is required to be recovered by Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
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